THE IMPACT OF ASSESSMENT ON THE CONSTRUCTIVE ALIGNMENT OF A MODERN VETERINARY CURRICULUM

KATE COBB

Thesis submitted to the University of Nottingham for the Degree of Doctor of Philosophy

July 2015

Abstract

Constructive alignment (CA) describes an approach to education where teaching, learning and assessment are aligned to allow the learner to achieve the intended learning outcomes (ILOs) of the course. Assessment has a strong influence on learning and therefore the potential to have either a positive or negative impact on CA. The aim of the research in this thesis is to explore the effects of assessment on CA.

The context for the research is the final year of study within the School of Veterinary Medicine and Science (SVMS), at the University of Nottingham. Five mixed methods studies were conducted utilising questionnaires, semi-structured interviews and focus groups. In study one the ILOs of the course were defined and subsequently used in study two as a framework for an alumni survey to determine how well prepared graduates feel for clinical practice. Studies three and four investigated the impact of assessments on learning behaviour, namely multiple-choice questions (MCQ), directly observed procedural skills (DOPS) and the script concordance test (SCT). Finally in study five the influence of the transition to practice on learning behaviour during final year was explored.

Graduates felt well prepared by the SVMS curriculum for a career in practice with respect to all ILOs. However, assessments were not rated so highly when considered alone. DOPS and to some extent the SCT are considered to be authentic assessment formats and encourage a deep approach to learning. The MCQ in this context results in surface learning strategies being adopted. The imminent transition to practice has a

positive effect on learning behaviour, however this conflicts with the preparation required for final year examinations.

Elements of the assessment strategy that have a positive and negative impact on CA are identified and discussed. Changes to the curriculum are proposed to enhance CA and ease the transition to practice. For Mum and Dad

Acknowledgements

I would like to thank the University of Nottingham for funding this PhD and my supervisors Professor Richard Hammond and Professor Sarah Freeman for their advice and support. I am especially grateful to Dr Liz Mossop not only for agreeing to supervise my research but also for her friendship and patience, thank you Liz.

I would also like to thank Professor Debbie Jaarsma for her advice in the early stages of the research and Professor George Brown whose help and guidance has been greatly appreciated throughout this project.

Thank you to all the practitioners, SVMS staff, students and alumni who volunteered to participate in each of the research studies.

Finally I would like to say a massive thanks to my family, Mal, Steph and Jack who have all been supportive and at times extremely tolerant of me during this PhD.

"For every evaluative action there is an equal (or greater) (and sometimes opposite) educational reaction"

Lambert Schuwirth, the "law" of educational cause and effect

Table of Contents

Abstract	2
Acknowledgements	5
List of Figures	13
List of Tables	15
Abbreviations:	17
Chapter 1: Introduction	18
1.1: The history of OBE within veterinary curricula	21
1.2: The SVMS curriculum	24
1.3: Implications for Research	30
Chapter 2: A review of the relevant literature	31
2.1: Introduction	
2.2: Outcome-Based Education (OBE)	
2.2.1: An introduction to OBE:	31
2.2.2: Defining the principles of OBE	32
2.2.3: OBE within the healthcare professions	34
2.2.4: Criticisms of OBE	35
2.2.5: Defence of OBE in the context of a veterinary curriculum	
2.2.6: Constructing effective outcomes	41
2.3: Constructive alignment	
2.3.1: The principles of constructive alignment	44
2.3.2: Examples of CA in curriculum design and development	45

2.3.3: To what extent does constructive alignment exist within higher edu	cation?48
2.4: Outcomes assessment	50
2.5: Indirect outcomes assessment	53
2.6: Direct assessment of student performance	56
2.6.1: Assessment of clinical competence.	56
2.6.2: The role of formative and summative assessment	67
2.6.3: Assessing clinical competence in veterinary students	70
2.7: Learning behaviour	84
2.8: Workplace-based learning	93
2.8.1: Experiential learning	94
2.8.2 Socio-cultural perspectives	95
2.8.3 Adult learning theory	96
2.8.4 Benefits of WPBL	97
2.8.5 Challenges of WPBL	
2.9: Transition to practice	100
2.9.1: What challenges do new graduates face?	
2.9.2: What makes a successful transition to practice?	
2.10: Summary of Chapter Two	
Chapter 3: Research design	
3.1: Mixed methods research	106
3.2: Methods of data collection and analysis used within this thesis	112
3.2.1: Focus Groups	112
3.2.2: Interviews	113
3.2.3: Surveys	115
3.2.4: Thematic analysis	118
3.2.5: Sampling	119

3.3: Ethical approval	122
3.4: Summary of Chapter 3	122
Chapter 4: Indirect Outcomes Assessment	124
4.1: Introduction	124
4.2: Study 1: Defining the ILOs of the SVMS graduate	126
4.2.1: A systematic review of the literature	127
4.2.2: The focus group	131
4.2.3: The staff survey	132
4.2.4: Results of study 1: defining the ILOs of the SVMS graduate	140
4.3: Indirect outcomes assessment	142
4.3.1: The content of the Graduate Survey	142
4.3.2: Graduate Survey distribution	145
4.3.3: Data analysis	146
4.3.4: Results from the graduate survey	147
4.3.5: Overview and implications of chapter 4	164
Chapter 5: The Educational Impact of Assessment on F	inal Year
Students	168
5.1: Study 3: The educational impact of assessment: a comparison of wo	rkplace based
learning and multiple choice question formats	170
5.1.1 Introduction	170
5.1.2: Methods	171
5.1.3: Results	173
5.1.4: Overview and implications of study 3	
5.2: Study 4: The students' perceptions of the Script Concordance Test a	nd its impact on
learning behaviour	193
5.2.1: Introduction	

5.2.2: Methods	
5.2.3: Results	
5.2.4: Overview and implications of study 4	214
5.3: Discussion of studies in chapter 5	218
Chapter 6: What constitutes a successful transition to pr	actice?
	222
6.1: Introduction	222
6.2: Methods	224
6.2.1: The student survey	224
6.2.2: The employer survey	226
6.2.3: Data Analysis	226
6.3: Results	227
6.3.1: Participants	227
6.3.2: Comparison of students' and employers' perceptions of transition t	o practice and
employability	228
6.3.3: Preparation for the first job in practice	235
6.3.4: The employers' perception of a UK veterinary degree	235
6.3.5: Support provided to new veterinary graduates	236
6.3.6: Academic criteria and recruitment	237
6.3.7: Non-academic criteria and recruitment	239
6.3.8: Attributes assessed at interview	241
6.3.9: Influence of the type of practice on new graduate recruitment	243
6.4: Overview and implications of chapter 6	246
Chapter 7: Discussion	253
7.1: What is the impact of assessment on CA within the SVMS curriculum?	253
7.1.1: What are the intended learning outcomes of the veterinary medicir	ne course? 253

7.1.2: Do teaching, learning and assessment prepare students for the demands of
clinical practice?254
7.1.3: What is the impact of assessment methods, used in the final year of study in
veterinary medicine, on learning behaviour?255
7.1.4: What is the perception of final year students and employers of new graduates of
the requirements for a successful transition to practice?
7.1.5: A proposed model to illustrate the impact of assessment on CA
7.2: Implications of the research for assessment strategies
7.2.1: Programmatic assessment
7.2.2: New perspectives on WPBA265
7.2.3: Assessment literacy
7.2.4: Evaluation of the assessment strategy269
7.3: The transition from veterinary student to veterinary surgeon
7.4: A veterinary curriculum for the future
7.4.1: Risks associated with the proposed curriculum
7.5: Implications of the findings for veterinary education and future work
7.5.1: Outcomes assessment
7.5.2: The impact of assessment on CA
7.5.3: Assessment literacy286
7.5.4: The transition to veterinary practice
7.6: Conclusion
References
Appendices
Appendix 1: Concept note and ethical review
Appendix 2: Initial attributes identified from the systematic review of the literature. 317
Appendix 3: Letter of consent for participation in the staff focus group

Appendix 4: Outputs from the SVMS staff focus group 324
Appendix 5: Letter sent out to all graduates on behalf of Professor Gary England
requesting their participation in the graduate survey
Appendix 6: The Graduate Survey 329
Appendix 7: The shortened SPQ345
Appendix 8: Questions used for as a framework for discussion of DOPS and MCQs in
student interviews
Appendix 9: Email sent to final year students requesting participants for the SCT study
Appendix 10: Email to participants of the SCT study
Appendix 11: Instructions provided to participants in the SCT study prior to completion
of the assessments
Appendix 12: Letter to students requesting their consent to participate in the SCT focus
group discussions
Appendix 13: Questions for the SCT focus group discussion
Appendix 14: Email requesting responses to the SCT survey
Appendix 15: The SCT student questionnaire
Appendix 16: The transition to practice: employer survey
Appendix 17: Email to employers

List of Figures

Figure 1.1: A model of constructive alignment (CA)19
Figure 1.2: The SVMS spiral curriculum25
Figure 1.3: The SVMS curriculum overview27
Figure 2.1: A three-circle model representing educational outcomes43
Figure 2.2: The declared, the taught and the learnt curriculum
Figure 2.3: Direct and indirect assessment in curriculum review
Figure 2.4: Miller's Pyramid of competence58
Figure 2.5: Bloom's Taxonomy59
Figure 2.6: An example SCT question78
Figure 2.7: Kolb's Experiential Learning Model
Figure 4.1. A model of constructive alignment highlighting study 1 124
Figure 4.2. A model of constructive alignment highlighting study 2 126
Figure 4.3: An example section from the online questionnaire for staff. 134
Figure 4.4: The desired skills and attributes of the SVMS graduate 142
Figure 4.5: Example questions from the graduate survey
Figure 4.6: Distribution of graduates working in practice
Figure 4.7: The SVMS graduate experience
Figure 5.1: A model of constructive alignment highlighting studies 3 and
4
Figure 5.2: The layout of the SCT question in the online assessment 195
Figure 5.3: The feedback screen for the formative SCT assessment 196
Figure 5.4: Themes identified from the focus group data 200
Figure 5.5. Student perception of the SCT and clinical reasoning skills. 211
Figure 5.6: The effects of assessment on students' learning behaviour 213
Figure 6.1 A model of constructive alignment highlighting study 5 222

List of Tables

Table 1.1: SVMS undergraduate assessments	29
Table 2.1: Definitions of validity	62
Table 2.2: Summary of the approaches to learning	89
Table 3.1: The qualitative and quantitative components used within the	
mixed methods research	111
Table 4.1: Databases searched in the literature review	128
Table 4.2: Papers identified in the literature search	130
Table 4.3: Importance ratings for each of the graduate attributes	135
Table 4.4: A summary of the changes made to the graduate attributes	136
Table 4.5: A summary of graduate responses	149
Table 4.6: Differences in graduates working in different types of practice	151
Table 4.7: Quotes to support the highest rated ILOs	151
Table 4.8: Quotes highlighting areas for improvement	152
Table 4.9: Quotes to explain the lowest rated outcomes	152
Table 4.10: The relevance of assessment formats to clinical practice	157
Table 4.11: The relationship between undergraduate attainment and	
preparation for practice	163

Table 5.1: Internal reliability for the study approach scores	174
Table 5.2: Study approach scores for DOPS compared to MCQ	175
Table 5.3: The correlation between approach to learning and performance	176
Table 5.4: A summary of the themes from the qualitative data analysis	177
Table 5.5: The dates and number of attendees for each focus group	197
Table 5.6: Assessment formats used for comparison with the SCT	198
Table 5.7: How useful are different sources of information for the SCT	210
Table 6.1: Employer demographics	228
Table 6.2: Criteria considered important to the transition to practice	231
Table 6.3: Summary of the support offered to new graduates	237
Table 7.1: Proposed changes to the SVMS curriculum	273
Table 7.2: Risks associated with the proposed new curriculum	281

Abbreviations:

CA	constructive alignment
CR	clinical reasoning
DOPS	directly observed procedural skill
ILO	intended learning outcome
MCQ	multiple-choice question
OA	outcomes assessment
OBE	outcomes based education
SLO	student learning outcome
SVMS	School of veterinary medicine and science
WPBA	workplace based assessment
WPBL	workplace based learning

Chapter 1: Introduction

This aim of the research within this thesis is to investigate the extent to which assessment impacts constructive alignment (CA) within a veterinary curriculum. Four research questions are generated following a review of the relevant literature at the end of chapter 2. The context of the study is the School of Veterinary Medicine and Science (SVMS) at the University of Nottingham which opened in 2006, with a novel, outcomes-based curriculum. This introductory chapter provides an outline of the structure of this thesis, describes the evolution of outcomes-based education (OBE) within veterinary education in the UK, and finally provides an overview of the SVMS curriculum.

Chapter 2 provides a review of the relevant literature to each of the studies within the thesis. This includes a review of OBE and the concept of CA; assessment of learning outcomes; approaches to learning and the transition from student to practitioner. Chapter 3 describes the research design and discusses the methods of data collection and analysis used in the thesis.

Chapters 4, 5 and 6 provide accounts of the 5 studies within this thesis. Chapter 4 describes study 1, defining the attributes of the Nottingham graduate and study 2, a survey of recent graduates as an indirect outcomes assessment. Chapter 5 describes studies 3 and 4 which both explore the educational impact of assessment formats used within the SVMS. Chapter 6 describes study 5 that investigates the impact of the transition to practice on student learning behaviour.

Chapter 7 provides a discussion of the results and draws conclusions about the extent to which CA exists within the SVMS curriculum including the effect of current assessment methods on achievement of the intended learning outcomes of the course. Figure 1.1 illustrates how each of the 5 studies contributes to the overall investigation of assessment and its effect on curricular alignment. A model of CA is used which shows the relationship between the curriculum and learning behaviour and the potential alignment of intended learning outcomes (ILOs) with the learning outcomes actually achieved by the students (SLOs). This diagram will be referred to throughout the thesis to place each study in the context of the overall investigation.



Figure 1.1: A model of constructive alignment (CA).

The alignment of the intended learning outcomes (ILOs) of the course and the actual learning outcomes achieved (SLOs) is dependent on student learning behaviour, which in turn is influenced by the curriculum. The areas of study within this thesis are shown on the model.

The research within this thesis was conducted over a 3 year period; the dates at which the individual studies were carried out are shown below:

April 2011

Study 3: collection of SPQ data

May – June 2011 Study 3: student interviews

September 2012 Study 1: staff focus group

Study 1: staff survey

November 2012

December 2012

Study 2: graduate survey pilot

January 2013 Study 2: graduate survey

May 2012 – April 2013 Study 4: delivery of SCT and collection of focus group and survey data

Study 5: student survey

Study 5: employer survey

August 2013

April 2013

1.1: The history of OBE within veterinary curricula

Before embarking upon an account of the structure of the SVMS curriculum, it may be useful to set it in the historical and wider context of veterinary education in the UK. Veterinary education was formalised in the UK with the introduction of the Royal Charter in 1844. This declares the Royal College of Veterinary Surgeons (RCVS) responsible for veterinary education and therefore a qualifying diploma was developed and administered by the College, in effect the vet schools provided the education, the RCVS provided the assessment.

At this time veterinary surgeons were required mainly to treat working horses and therefore equine studies provided a large proportion of the curriculum. In the first half of the 20th century, the future of veterinary education was however uncertain, replacement of horses by cars for much of the countries transport needs resulted in uncertainty as to what a veterinary graduate should be trained to do (Gardiner and Rhind, 2013). In effect this was probably the first major review of the ILOs of the veterinary curriculum.

In 1944 the Loveday report recommended several changes to veterinary education and this resulted in an emphasis on scientific knowledge underpinning clinical practice alongside inclusion of field stations and clinical facilities within vet schools (Gardiner and Rhind, 2013). Evidence of this content driven curriculum remains today in the requirements for accreditation in the UK and Europe, despite a shift by schools to a more outcomes-based approach (EAEVE, 2012, RCVS, 2011).

It was not until the end of the 20th century that the RCVS began to consider learning outcomes to inform veterinary education. Draft guidelines for the essential competencies of a veterinary surgeon were produced in 1998. However the introduction of the day one competences followed a consultation paper on veterinary education and training in 2001, recommending the competencies were confirmed as agreed policy by RCVS council as a matter of priority. The paper describes the day one competences as the minimum requirements for unsupervised practice but emphasises that this should be the starting point for a veterinary career not the end point (RCVS, 2001).

Much of this work was triggered by changes in the public's perception of the professions and regulatory professional bodies. Clients were becoming more knowledgeable and more demanding. In addition, the Veterinary Defence Society declared that a high proportion of new graduates were involved in the claims they received. To fulfil their statutory duty of regulating the professional conduct of veterinary surgeons and setting the standards for veterinary education, the RCVS employed an education strategy steering group to review the educational needs of the profession at both undergraduate and postgraduate stages. One of the remits of the group was to define the basic level of competence required on day one following graduation. These are the first learning outcomes described for all veterinary graduates in the UK. Subsequently revisions of this document have been produced, the most recent review by consultation occurred in 2013 and the revised document was published in 2014 (RCVS, 2014).

The professional development phase (PDP) has been subsequently introduced and became mandatory in 2007 (RCVS, 2007). The aim of the PDP is to allow new graduates to work towards first year competences in a more structured and supported manner, hopefully easing the transition to practice, protecting patient welfare and improving client satisfaction. The development and assessment of these year one competences is however variable amongst graduates and in the author's opinion, following discussion with stakeholders, the implementation of the PDP is likely to come under review in the near future.

The introduction of the day one competences required schools to include general professional skills to their curricula alongside the traditional science subjects. The emphasis on what the graduate can do, rather than what they know, has resulted in interventions such as the use of simulation, clinical skills labs, problem based learning and communication skills training using simulated clients to veterinary curricula (Baillie et al., 2005, Mossop and Gray, 2008, Baillie et al., 2010).

Learning outcomes are changing with the continually expanding knowledge and expertise within veterinary science. Whether all learning outcomes are achievable for all graduates across all species areas continues to be a matter for debate amongst veterinary professionals. The concept of 'tracking' a specific species area at undergraduate level has been considered and is discussed in greater detail in chapter 7 of this thesis. However, at present, the requirement for omnicomptenence at graduation remains. This is considered unrealistic by many stakeholders and the cause of much of the problems encountered by new graduates

and employers in the transition from vet school to practice (RCVS, 2001). This is likely to continue to be a matter for debate amongst the profession as veterinary curricula begin to creak under content overload.

Methods of teaching have been adapted to allow students to achieve the competences required at graduation, however, many schools rely on traditional forms of assessment. Whilst assessment practice has advanced with the introduction of formats such as the OSCE (objective structured clinical examination) (Bark and Cohen, 2002), assessment of students' performance in the workplace requires further attention. Examples of curricula exist where attempts have been made to assess performance at the program level (Bok et al., 2013) however, effective implementation is challenging and there is a lack of evidence for the impact of this kind of outcomes assessment on graduate performance.

The SVMS at the University of Nottingham was opened in 2006. The new curriculum was outcomes based and therefore had an emphasis on clinical and professional skills with case based learning used to contextualise the basic science delivered in the early years. The SVMS curriculum is described in the next section.

1.2: The SVMS curriculum

Students at the SVMS follow a 5-year course and are awarded the Bachelor of Veterinary Medical Sciences (BVMedSci) degree at the end of their 3rd year and the Bachelor of Veterinary Medicine Bachelor of Veterinary Surgery (BVM BVS) at the end of their final year.

The outcomes based curriculum is taught in systems based modules following a spiral model (figure 1.2). Students study each system with a focus on basic sciences in years 1 and 2 and then re-visit each system in years 3 and 4 where the emphasis is on the clinical science. Alongside these systems based modules, which are delivered in blocks of 2 – 11 weeks, run 3 long modules: Personal and Professional Skills, Animal Health and Welfare and Veterinary Public Health. These modules run throughout the year and are integrated with the concurrent systems based modules.



Figure 1.2: The SVMS spiral curriculum.

Learning outcomes are delivered in context with clinical examples and case studies from year 1. There is an emphasis on practical work including laboratory techniques, clinical and professional skills. In years 1, 2 and 3 students are assessed using online multiple-choice questions (MCQ), short answer written questions and an objective structured clinical examination (OSCE) to reflect the practical content of the course. In years 1 and 2 this is termed an OSPE (objective structured practical examination) as the skills assessed are "practical" but not always "clinical" in nature.

During 3rd year, students undertake an individual research project, which runs for 12 weeks and is assessed by a written dissertation and a *viva voce* exam. This is followed by the principles of veterinary science module (PVS) that aims to consolidate the paraclinical subjects and the practical techniques module (PRT) that develops students' clinical skills in preparation for workplace based learning.

Students revisit the systems based modules during 4th year. The end of year examination consists of an online MCQ assessment and a written case based paper, which aims to examine functional knowledge and clinical reasoning. Students must have passed all 4th year examinations to progress onto the 5th year of the course. Figure 1.3 provides an overview of the 5 year course at the SVMS.



Figure 1.3: The SVMS curriculum overview

Key to the modules in figure 1.3: MSK, musculoskeletal; LCB, lymphoreticular cell biology; CRS, cardiorespiratory; NEU, neuroscience; GIL, gastrointestinal; URI, urinary; REP, reproduction; ENI, endocrine and integument; PVS, principles of veterinary science; PRT, practical techniques; AHW, animal health and welfare; PPS, personal and professional skills; VPH, veterinary public health; WPBL, workplace based learning.

In addition to the summative assessments already described, students must submit a reflective portfolio and a skills diary each year. The portfolio should provide evidence of their development as a veterinary professional and the skills diary demonstrates development of practical competence. The long modules have additional coursework requirements.

The 5th year of the course is a 'lecture-free final year' where students complete clinical placements at the university clinical associate practices. During this time they must pass 10 DOPS assessments (directly observed procedural skill) to be eligible to sit the finals examination at the end of

the year. A sample of one DOPS from each of 10 skill areas is assessed for each student in a range of different species. In addition to the DOPS, students must also pass a professionalism assessment for each two-week rotation block to be eligible to sit the finals examination.

The finals examination consists of multiple-choice questions (MCQ) and script concordance test (SCT) questions examined online, and assessment of a reflective portfolio. The written portfolio is assigned a mark based on criteria related to veterinary professionalism and student performance during a portfolio defence viva voce. A summary of all assessments within the SVMS curriculum is provided in table 1.1.

Assessment format	Description	Year of study
Multiple choice questions	Delivered online, includes extended matching, assertion reason and diagrammatic questions, intended to assess knowledge and the application of knowledge	1 - 5
Spot test	Short answer questions completed in response to trigger material at different stations, intended to assess knowledge and the application of knowledge	1 - 4
Oral presentation	Individual student presentations, intended to assess communication skills	2

Objective Structured Practical Examination (OSPE)	Series of 5 minute stations, intended to assess practical skills	1 - 2
Objective Structured Clinical Examination (OSCE)	Series of 5 minute stations, intended to assess clinical skills in a simulated environment	3
Dissertation	Submission of an individual student research project, intended to assess skills required for research and written communication	3
Clinical reasoning questions	Cased based, short answer questions, intended to assess clinical knowledge and reasoning ability	4
Directly Observed Procedural Skills (DOPS)	Workplace-based assessment intended to assess clinical skills	5
Script concordance test (SCT)	Questions delivered online around a clinical vignette, where student responses are compared to those of a panel of experts, intended to assess clinical reasoning ability	5
Portfolio	Electronic portfolio, student centred and intended to assess areas of professionalism, personal development and reflective practice	1 - 5
Viva voce	Used to defend individual student assessments namely the research project and final year portfolio. Intended to assess communication skills, knowledge of area of investigation and professionalism	3, 5

Table 1.1: SVMS undergraduate assessments

Successful completion of the finals examination results in the award of BVM BVS and automatic membership to the Royal College of Veterinary Surgeons.

1.3: Implications for Research

The evolution of outcomes based education within veterinary education in the UK has led to the development of a set of criteria which describe the minimum requirements for unsupervised veterinary practice, the day one competences. To ensure RCVS accreditation veterinary schools must provide evidence of undergraduate performance with respect to these competences. However, there are additional factors which influence the content, delivery and assessment of veterinary curricula. These include individual university regulations and requirements, the demands of the students, the profession and the public and finally other accrediting bodies for example the European Association of Establishments for Veterinary Education (EAEVE) and the American Veterinary Medical Association (AVMA). Satisfying the requirements of all stakeholders is problematic, which makes the design and delivery of outcomes based courses challenging. The result is often a lack of alignment between learning outcomes, teaching, learning and assessment. The extent of this alignment forms the basis for the research within this thesis, namely the impact of assessment on constructive alignment within the SVMS curriculum. A single, direct measure of constructive alignment does not exist. Therefore within this thesis students' learning behaviour associated with different assessments is investigated. Learning behaviour is, in part, determined by the curriculum and ultimately determines the outcomes achieved by students. It is therefore used here as an indirect measure of constructive alignment.

Chapter 2 provides a review of the relevant literature and subsequently four specific research questions are generated.

Chapter 2: A review of the relevant literature

2.1: Introduction

As outlined in chapter 1, the research area for this thesis is constructive alignment within a veterinary curriculum, with a focus on assessment and the impact this has on student learning outcomes. The research draws upon several areas of educational theory and the following literature review reflects this. Within this chapter the principles of outcomes-based education (OBE) will be discussed and applied to the context of veterinary curricula. Constructive alignment will be introduced as a framework for curriculum design and review. The evaluation of outcomes-based curricula will be discussed including formats used to directly assess students' performance. Student approaches to learning will be considered along with the factors that influence learning approach. Finally experiential learning will be discussed and its importance in making a successful transition from student to practitioner.

2.2: Outcome-Based Education (OBE)

2.2.1: An introduction to OBE:

The concept of outcomes-based education (OBE) was developed by William Spady in the late nineteen eighties. His vision for pre-university education in the United States was a system that focussed on what pupils could 'do' on leaving school as opposed to what they 'knew' (Spady, 1988). This model was adopted by medical educators a decade later in response to general dissatisfaction with existing medical curricula and identification of a need for reform. In the UK, the General Medical Council (GMC) published *Tomorrow's Doctors* (GMCEC, 1993); this document outlined the attributes required of practitioners at the point of graduation. Medical schools were forced to review their curricula with less emphasis on course content and more importance placed on the performance of graduates.

One of the first and most notable examples of OBE within the healthcare professions was at Dundee Medical School (Harden et al., 1997). Regulatory bodies and individual schools have subsequently worked towards defining outcomes and implementing an outcome-based approach to teaching, learning and assessment. OBE has since been implemented by many other professional healthcare courses including veterinary medicine (Bok et al., 2011, Chapman, 1999, Chambers, 1998) and continues to provide a framework for curriculum development (Smith, 1999, Mulder et al., 2010, Davis, 2003, Davis et al., 2007) and educational research (Dawson et al., 2013, Harden, 2007, Jaarsma et al., 2009, Jaarsma et al., 2008).

2.2.2: Defining the principles of OBE

According to Spady (Spady, 1994):

"Outcome-Based Education means clearly focusing and organizing everything in an educational system around what is essential for all students to be able to do successfully at the end of their learning experiences"

Harden (1999) states that OBE is easy to conceptualise but difficult to define. He describes OBE as:

"an approach to education in which decisions about the curriculum are driven by the outcomes the students should display by the end of the course."

Harden goes on to summarise OBE as "results orientated thinking" as opposed to "input-based education". OBE is often described as a top down approach beginning with the end product and working backwards: first what the graduates must be able to do is decided, and then the curriculum is developed to enable graduates to achieve the desired outcomes. From the defined exit outcomes, learning outcomes are developed for each phase and subsequently for individual learning experiences within the curriculum (Harden, 1999).

The development of OBE as an educational approach stems from the work of Carroll (1963) and Bloom (1968). Both authors identify the need for diverse instructional approaches to meet the learning needs of individual pupils. Bloom's mastery learning suggests that achievement is not based solely on aptitude, but given appropriate instruction and time to learn, the majority of pupils can achieve predefined learning outcomes. Davis (2003) maintains this principle, explaining how the relationship between time and learning is flexible in OBE compared to traditional education systems where the content to be delivered is defined for each academic year.

Traditional curricula define the content to be taught, describe the ways in which the content should be delivered and the methods of assessing the content. OBE differs from this traditional model; the outcomes not the

content to be inputted are initially defined. Subsequently the delivery and assessment methods are developed to enable individual learners to achieve the learning outcomes (Harden, 1999).

2.2.3: OBE within the healthcare professions

Within medical education, the concept of OBE has evolved; the result is competency based medical education (CBME). CBME first appeared in the literature in the 1970s (Brown et al., 1973, Spady, 1977) and has subsequently been described by several authors (Frank et al., 2010, Leung, 2002, Albanese et al., 2008, Epstein and Hundert, 2002, Carraccio et al., 2002). The defining principles of OBE are fundamental to the concept of CBME, evident in the four overarching themes described by Frank et al (2010): a focus on outcomes; an emphasis on abilities; a deemphasis of time-based training and the promotion of learner-centredness. A competency-based approach has been described in a variety of healthcare educational settings (Chapman, 1999, Bok et al., 2011, Frank and Danoff, 2007, Chambers, 1998).

In CBME the outcomes are defined as competencies. One of the challenges of planning and implementing competency-based curricula has been the lack of consistent definitions.

One definition of a competency is:

"the ability, based on integration of specific knowledge, skills and attitude, to perform a professional task at a level sufficient for unsupervised practice." (Mulder et al., 2010)

Individual competencies are components of overall competence, defined by Frank et al (2010) as:

"The array of abilities across multiple domains or aspects of physician performance in a certain context."

The concept of competence is both dynamic and context specific. An individual's competence may be specific to a stage in their career or to a particular discipline and will change over time dependant on experience and setting (Koens et al., 2005). Therefore assessment of competence amongst veterinary students is challenging, especially considering the variety of species encountered in different contexts.

Evans and King (1994) describe OBE as having "an intuitive appeal that hooks people." However, although the principles of OBE and CBME are attractive in curriculum design, both have received criticism in practice.

2.2.4: Criticisms of OBE

Despite the move to OBE as a means to educational reform in the late eighties in the United States, many were unconvinced of the benefits of these new systems and OBE received much criticism. This could be attributed in part to a lack of conclusive evidence demonstrating the effects of OBE (Evans and King, 1994, Slavin, 1994). The following disadvantages of OBE have been documented.

2.2.4.1: Limiting students" achievement

Setting predefined criteria for all students within an educational programme has been described as imposing constraints on the limits of education (Davis, 2003, Harden, 1999, Hussey and Smith, 2002). O'Neil

(1994) questions whether one set of learning outcomes are appropriate for all students. He asks the reader to consider students who will progress to Harvard University and those who will work as a 'clerk at K-Mart'. The career outcomes for those two groups of students are clearly different, is it appropriate that their expected educational outcomes are identical? Finally should all educational experiences have the purpose of enabling the learner to perform pre-determined outcomes? McKernan (1993) argues that academia should be valued in itself, OBE does not allow for this and limits learning to the development of set criteria.

Rees (2004) uses arguments put forward by Hussey and Smith (2002) to suggest that outcomes-based medical curricula not only risk limiting educational achievement but also lead to student disempowerment. Rees argues that even student centred approaches, such as PBL, "merely pay lip service to process" as facilitators guide students to achieve predetermined learning outcomes. Both Rees (2004) and Hussey and Smith (2002) conclude that learning outcomes may be useful when interpreted in an appropriate context; they also warn universities against blindly adopting an outcomes-based approach to satisfy educational and professional regulatory bodies.

2.2.4.2: Loss of academic rigor

Learning outcomes, as proposed in Spady's transformational model of OBE (1994) are broad descriptions of student performance in authentic situations. He describes ten 'fundamental life performance roles' linking the school environment to real life settings. Critics of OBE have argued that the emphasis on broad, personal and social outcomes detract from
the academic rigor of a program (O'Neil, 1994), resulting in graduates lacking knowledge in traditional academic subjects. Within the healthcare professions, the influence of CBME has led to the implementation of a variety of student centred methods such as problem-based learning (PBL). These initiatives have also come under scrutiny, with concerns over the knowledge base of graduates from such programmes (Albanese and Mitchell, 1993).

Differences in performance between novice and expert clinicians have been explained in terms of content specificity (Eva et al, 1998). An appropriate knowledge base is required to manage cases in different disciplines and experts have had more experience and time to accumulate this knowledge. PBL programmes are student driven and lack the traditional approach of content based curricula. PBL graduates have been shown to perform less well in some assessments of clinical knowledge (Vernon and Blake, 1993). However, Norman (2002) argues that PBL curricula are superior when considering programme level learning outcomes and in creating a humane learning environment. Therefore potential gaps in students' knowledge may be evident in OBE, however, this is compensated for by the effects of the process on learning and more transferable learning outcomes.

2.2.4.3: Practicalities of OBE

It would be difficult to argue against the notion that individual learners progress at different rates and have preferences for different methods of teaching and learning. However, incorporating the needs of all individual learners within an educational setting poses several challenges. Staff teaching load, curriculum timetables, availability of resources, assessment schedules and student fees are examples of some of the entities arranged around the 'academic year'. The requirement for students to progress through a curriculum at their own individual pace therefore poses logistical challenges within most educational settings (Hodges, 2010).

2.2.4.4: Assessment of students within OBE

Assessment of students within OBE systems relies on performance assessments that differ from traditional methods of assessment. Performance assessments require the learner to demonstrate an outcome and apply their knowledge and skills to a particular context. Traditional assessment formats are therefore insufficient within OBE and novel formats are needed to assess student performance even though they often rely on scant evidence to support their use (Marzano, 1994). Within veterinary and medical education there has been a drift towards competency assessment and specific formats will be discussed later in this chapter. However, with increasing use of competency based assessments there is a need for further research to support the validity of these formats within the context they are used (Holmboe et al., 2010, Norcini and McKinley, 2007).

2.2.5: Defence of OBE in the context of a veterinary curriculum

Harden (1999) argues that whatever criticisms OBE has received in other fields, within medical education, the performance of the doctor as a product of the course cannot be ignored. This is no different in veterinary medicine: graduation from any accredited vet school within the UK leads to automatic membership of the Royal College of Veterinary Surgeons and a license to practice veterinary medicine. Graduation should therefore be an indicator of competence; graduates must have the ability to perform in practice to the standard required of a newly qualified veterinary surgeon in accordance with the RCVS Day One Competences (RCVS, 2014).

Whilst OBE has been criticised for limiting pupils' achievement, within veterinary education this can be viewed as an advantage (Davis, 2003). Universities have a duty to the public, accrediting bodies and to their veterinary students to graduate vets who are 'fit to practice'. Defining the components of veterinary clinical competence and ensuring all students achieve these standards at graduation is paramount for universities to fulfil this duty. Furthermore the RCVS Day One Competences were developed as a starting point for a veterinary career, a milestone in the continuum of veterinary education and lifelong learning (RCVS, 2001).

Within the revised RCVS day one competency document (RCVS, 2014) there is a notable emphasis on professional competences, including communication, reflective practice, leadership and teamwork in addition to the professional attributes described in the Code of Professional Conduct (RCVS, 2012). Previously veterinary education had focussed on the underpinning scientific knowledge required for clinical practice; the use of outcomes that define the performance of the veterinary graduate in the workplace incorporate the attitudes and behaviours essential for success in addition to the knowledge and skills required (Davis, 2003). A focus on these so-called 'soft skills' has resulted in a loss of academic rigour according to some critics (O'Neil, 1994, Harden, 1999). Whilst academic rigour must be maintained within any veterinary degree, the concept of

content overload within veterinary curricula is a growing concern and is recently discussed by May (2008). The shift towards OBE could influence a much-needed review of the content within veterinary curricula, with an emphasis on functioning knowledge (Biggs and Tang, 2010) that graduates will take with them on graduation for use in the workplace. Striking the balance between maintaining the content and academic rigor of a science degree and developing the requirements for clinical practice is challenging. In the author's opinion, this will continue to form the basis for much of the discussion surrounding veterinary curricula of the future.

Universities are increasingly accountable for the education they provide resulting in scrutiny from a number of stakeholders. Within the UK the RCVS is the major accrediting body, all schools are also EAEVE (European Association of Establishments for Veterinary Education) accredited and to date three schools have acquired AVMA (American Veterinary Medical Association) accreditation. In addition UK graduates must also have acquired the attributes required for the award of a professional qualification at Masters level of the national qualifications framework (set by the Quality Assurance Agency in the UK). OBE requires a set of defined standards against which educational programmes can be judged during evaluation and accreditation processes (Harden, 1999). Adopting an outcomes-based approach will therefore facilitate universities during accreditation processes.

Arguably the most important stakeholders to consider are the students. With recent increases in fees, students are demanding more education for their money (Jones, 2010). OBE provides a framework comprising of clear

and transparent outcomes, alongside appropriate learning activities and assessments to justify the educational philosophy and curriculum strategy. Potential advantages of OBE to the student learning experience include an emphasis on student-centred learning, integration of individual modules to achieve overarching goals, increased relevance to their future career and a set of pre-defined assessment criteria which they can work towards (Davis, 2003, Harden, 1999, Smith, 1999). However, students do not always receive outcomes-based interventions positively. Coe et al. (2012) describe the poor feedback received regarding a professional development module during student focus groups. Some students failed to see the relevance of the course content to their future careers in comparison to more traditional modules within the curriculum.

OBE has potential to enhance the student experience, emphasize accountability, provide a guide for curriculum content and assessment and produce graduates with a skillset relevant for day one practice. However, blindly adopting an outcomes-based approach does not guarantee success (Rees, 2004, Hussey and Smith, 2002). Defining the outcomes and providing the right learning environment and assessment tasks are essential (Biggs, 2003, Ramsden, 1984).

2.2.6: Constructing effective outcomes

2.2.6.1: Who is responsible for defining learning outcomes?

The outcomes-based approach has received criticism over learning outcomes which are written by course directors with little input from teachers or students (Hussey and Smith, 2002, Rees, 2004). It is important that outcomes are made clear to students, educators, the public and employers; furthermore a wide range of stakeholders should be involved in developing the learning outcomes (Harden, 1999, Trent, 2002, Davis, 2003). To date, several studies have aimed to define the desired attributes of veterinary graduates (Doucet and Vrins, 2009, Heath and Mills, 2000, Mellanby et al., 2011, Rhind et al., 2011, Walsh et al., 2001); these attributes can be used to develop the learning outcomes of the course. Whilst these studies have successfully defined graduate attributes and ILOs in the context of their own institutions, these results are not necessarily transferable to other universities or countries.

2.2.6.2: How should learning outcomes be written?

Learning outcomes as described by Spady (1994) are the results of learning and are written using a verb to describe what action the student must be able to do. They are written in a way that informs all stakeholders exactly what the student should be able to do at the end of the course, using language that the student can understand. Students should be able to decide whether or not they have achieved the learning outcomes by a process of self-evaluation (Kerdijk et al., 2013).

2.2.6.3: What information should learning outcomes include?

Thompson and Bartels (1999) state that "outcomes should be multidimensional and holistic including the integration of knowledge, skills, attitudes and dispositions." Effective outcomes are not a list of topics to be covered during the course, the knowledge described should be functioning knowledge (Biggs and Tang, 2010) that students need to utilise in a clinical context. Comprehensive learning outcomes, not restricted to technical or subject specific skills, are highly valued by students and educators (Brown and Edmunds, 2011).

2.2.6.4: The three-circle model

The three-circle model was proposed by Harden (1999) to describe the learning outcomes of a medical curriculum (Figure 2.1). This model represents what the doctor does (the inner circle), the way in which those duties are performed (the middle ring) and finally the aspects of professionalism which are embedded within the context in which the tasks are performed (the outer ring).



Figure 2.1: A three-circle model representing educational outcomes (Harden 1999). Adapted to demonstrate application to a veterinary context: performing routine surgical techniques

This could also be applied to learning outcomes for a veterinary graduate. For example very simply, the task could be perform routine surgical techniques; outcomes which describe the approach to the task would include working within veterinary legislation and ensuring welfare of animals at all times; finally the outcomes relating to professionalism include displaying empathy in client communication and effective interprofessional interaction to maximize patient outcomes.

So far, this chapter has discussed the principles of OBE and the advantages to this approach within veterinary education in the UK. Although OBE has its critics, it is a widely accepted model, implemented in many healthcare contexts (Harden et al., 1997, Bok et al., 2011, Frank and Danoff, 2007, Mulder et al., 2010). Different interpretations of OBE exist and the following section explores one such application: the concept of constructive alignment that will provide a framework for the research within this thesis.

2.3: Constructive alignment

2.3.1: The principles of constructive alignment

Constructive alignment (CA) is a form of OBE, first described by Biggs (1996) as a teaching and learning strategy where learning objectives are explicitly defined and represent the intended learning outcomes (ILO) of the course. The theory of constructive alignment describes how learning outcomes should be achieved through teaching, learning and assessment activities that provide opportunities for learners to achieve and demonstrate the ILOs. Consideration of this concept in greater depth uncovers two fundamental aspects (Biggs, 2003). Firstly constructivism,

which can be defined as the construction of new meaning by the learner (Piaget, 1962). The constructivist student learns through discovery rather than merely the transfer of information from teacher to student (Biggs, 2003). Constructivist education is therefore more than the acquisition of new knowledge; it promotes the development of critical thinking (Joseph and Juwah, 2012).

The second aspect to consider is alignment (Biggs, 2003), which is the role of the teacher in ensuring all learning activities are appropriate and therefore allow students to meet outcomes. The ILOs require higher-level cognitive skills; the teacher must provide learning activities that foster development of such skills. In addition the learning environment must support this development and students are required to demonstrate the ILOs through appropriate assessments. Alignment of teaching, learning and assessment with the ILOs results in the learner being 'trapped' unable to escape without learning what was intended (Biggs, 2003). Within CA learning outcomes are explicitly defined and made available to the student. There is a greater emphasis on the student to enable effective learning to take place rather than the activities of the teacher (Biggs and Tang, 2010).

2.3.2: Examples of CA in curriculum design and development

CA can provide a useful theoretical framework for curriculum development. Joseph and Juwah (2012) used CA theory to develop a nursing skills curriculum, the benefits included increased opportunity to practice skills and increased confidence in the students who experienced the CA curriculum compared to a control group. Chadwick (2013)

proposes CA as a framework for enhancing orthodontic training; he emphasizes the importance of the relationship between universities and regulatory bodies to ensure success. Walsh (2007) explores the work of Biggs in relation to work-based learning. She suggests that the workplace provides a context that will allow active learning and generate a high level of motivation; consistent with the student-centred learning within CA. Walsh goes on to discuss the role of assessment in CA and its influence on student learning behaviour. She acknowledges the need for performance assessment within work-based learning, however, she fails to address some of the challenges these assessments provide.

CA theory is referred to within the context of veterinary education as a framework for curriculum development and evaluation and several papers provide examples. Haarala-Muhonen et al (2011) use CA theory in the comparison of students' perceptions of their teaching-learning environments in veterinary medicine, law and pharmacy. The results of the study were fed back to faculty and used to implement curriculum changes within the faculty of law. However, these results do not appear to have a direct impact on teaching, learning and assessment within veterinary medicine and pharmacy.

In a review of competence assessment in veterinary graduates CA theory is used to emphasize the importance of assessment within curriculum design (Rhind, 2006). Rhind states that integration of knowledge and skills are essential for a valid assessment of veterinary clinical competence and strategies that focus on sub-components of competence in isolation are not consistent with CA.

In a paper describing the process and implementation of curriculum mapping, Bell et al (2009a) concluded that CA between course learning objectives and assessment tasks needed improvement. They recommend consideration of CA during the curriculum mapping process through mapping of assessment tasks to learning outcomes. However, the authors acknowledge that the project involved a considerable amount of staff time and therefore this recommendation may not be achievable with existing resources.

Finally, in the design and evaluation of an individual teaching activity, Canfield and Krockenberger (2002) use the SOLO taxonomy (Biggs and Collis, 1982) to maximise constructive alignment. Results of the evaluation showed this approach to be successful in achieving desired learning outcomes through a student centred approach (Canfield and Krockenberger, 2002). These conclusions are based on students' and tutors' perceptions of the teaching activity. The study did not include direct assessment of the learning outcomes, which is an essential component to the principle of constructive alignment.

Only a small number of studies exist relating to CA within veterinary education. From this limited research it is apparent that CA is considered an important concept to ensure a successful outcomes-based curriculum. However, the principals of CA are challenging and time consuming to implement. Furthermore evidence of the impact of using CA as a framework for curriculum design is lacking.

2.3.3: To what extent does constructive alignment exist within higher education?

Biggs (2003) illustrates how the conditions of CA are not met in some often higher education courses. Course literature describes an environment where students will develop a deep understanding of their chosen subject and be required to think creatively to solve problems. However, in reality many of these courses deliver the curriculum through large lectures and assess recall of the factual content of the curriculum through formats such as multiple-choice questions. Neither the delivery nor the assessments are aligned to the aims of the course. May (2008) suggests that within many modern veterinary curricula, there is a lack of CA with a focus on delivering and assessing declarative knowledge (Biggs, 2003) at the expense of functioning knowledge.

Harden (2001) suggested there are three different perspectives on a curriculum: the declared (in course documents), the taught (as perceived by tutors) and the learnt curriculum (as perceived by students) illustrated in figure 2.2. (Harden, 2001). In an ideal situation these versions would be the same, in reality they are likely to be different.



Figure 2.2: The declared curriculum, the taught curriculum and the learnt curriculum (Harden 2001)

When considering the concept of constructive alignment a fourth perspective exists: the assessed curriculum. This should arguably be added to Harden's curriculum model. It is widely accepted that assessment drives student learning (Newble and Jaeger, 1983, Marton et al., 1992, Cilliers et al., 2010, McLachlan, 2006), therefore the assessed curriculum must be included within curriculum design and review. Assessment has a considerable influence on the learned curriculum and relating the declared curriculum to the ways in which students are taught and assessed is essential to maximise alignment (Fuentealba, 2011).

The above considerations were concerned with the principles of OBE and CA. The following section will discuss evaluation of outcomes-based programmes, namely outcomes assessment.

2.4: Outcomes assessment

The veterinary profession has undergone significant changes in recent years and advances in education are necessary to meet the changing demands of society on veterinary graduates (Pritchard, 1988, Radostits, 2003, Fernandes, 2005). The requirement for curriculum review will continue into the future (May, 2008) therefore a robust process of evaluation and improvement is needed. Outcomes assessment (OA) describes the process of review and evaluation of an outcomes-based curriculum, with the aim of improving teaching and learning (Trent, 2002). Dhein (2002) describes OA as a form of quality assurance; she acknowledges that currently the process is variable amongst veterinary schools, but proposes that accrediting bodies work alongside universities to produce a more standardized process in the future.

OA is already a required element of accreditation in the United States (Trent, 2002, AVMA, 2014). The American Veterinary Medical Association (AVMA) Council on Education (COE) is responsible for the accreditation of veterinary programs within the United States and Canada; AVMA accreditation is required for licensure to practice for the majority of state licensing boards within the US. There are 11 standards required by the COE for accreditation; standard 11 is outcomes assessment. The standard states that outcomes of a program must be 'measured, analysed and considered to improve the program.' In addition student achievement

must be considered both pre and post-graduation within the outcomes assessment (AVMA, 2014). OA is not specifically referred to by the RCVS in their requirements for approval of veterinary degrees, however it is a requirement to ensure methods are in place to 'monitor and amend the curriculum if necessary' (RCVS, 2011). Furthermore it is essential that this process of self-regulation maintains public confidence in the profession (Kochevar, 2004), which may call for a more collaborative approach to outcomes assessment in the future.

Edmondson (2004) relates OA to student learning. Just as assessment and student feedback enables modification and improvement in future learning, assessment of an entire program is important to identify areas for curricular review and development (Edmondson, 2004). Similarly Thompson and Bartels (1999) stress the importance of providing meaningful feedback to university staff and the public on student and alumni performance. Trent (2002) states that the feedback from OA should be generated from a variety of sources including students, alumni, faculty, employers of the graduates and sometimes clients. OA usually involves an evaluation of the end product, although consideration of input factors are defined as the quality of the students, staff and resources; process factors comprise teaching learning and assessment (Trent, 2002).

The process of conducting OA as described by Trent (2002) begins with deciding on outcomes to be assessed, which should be 'specific and measurable results'. This definition differs from the outcomes described by Harden (1999) and Spady (1988) that describe attitudes and behaviours

that can be difficult to demonstrate and measure. Subsequent stages in OA are planning the process and participants; selecting and implementing data collection methods; ensuring the findings impact future learning and finally reviewing the outcomes assessment process (Trent, 2002).

Methods of assessing outcomes include both direct and indirect assessments (Trent, 2002, Kochevar, 2004). Direct methods include measures of student performance, whereas indirect assessments involve collating the opinions of various stakeholders including staff, students, alumni, employers and clients. The role of direct and indirect outcomes assessment in the curriculum review process is illustrated in figure 2.3.



Figure 2.3: The role of direct and indirect assessment of intended learning outcomes in the curriculum review process.

2.5: Indirect outcomes assessment

The aims of indirect OA is to ascertain whether graduates achieve the intended learning outcomes of the course and meet the expectations of the profession (Walsh et al., 2002). One commonly used example of indirect OA are graduate surveys that provide an insight into the opinions of graduates on their learning experience and preparation for the workplace (Trent, 2002, Bristol, 2002, Hardin and Ainsworth, 2007). Several papers report the variety of methods used within OA across different universities, including surveys of employers, students, faculty, alumni, referring veterinary surgeons and data collected by external organisations (Walsh et al., 2002, Black et al., 2002, Butler, 2003, Doucet and Vrins, 2010, Kleine et al., 2002, Greenfield et al., 1997). However, common to all these approaches to OA should be a well-designed data collection exercise, the results of which should be shared with stakeholders and used to inform the future curriculum (Kochevar, 2004).

This approach to OA has been used in settings other than veterinary medicine (Peters et al., 2000, Rowe et al., 2004). The New Pathway Program at Harvard Medical School was designed to re-enforce and contextualize outcomes related to humanistic medicine, social and lifelong learning. Peters et al (2000) compared two groups of students, one group following the traditional curriculum and the other group following the New Pathway Program. They concluded that ten years post-graduation differences remained between participants from the two groups. This example demonstrates the use of OA in the longitudinal assessment of graduates to evaluate major changes to the curriculum.

The initial stage of deciding on the outcomes of learning may include the results of existing studies providing information as to the desired attributes of graduating veterinary surgeons (Kochevar, 2004). Walsh et al (2001) defined the expected attributes of veterinary surgeons graduating from the University of California, Davis. In a second study these attributes are used to measure employer perception of the graduates' abilities (Walsh et al., 2002). During this OA knowledge of veterinary private practice was identified as a deficit amongst graduates and subsequently a working party was set up to develop a curriculum for professional development and career success (Lloyd and Walsh, 2002). This series of studies demonstrates the importance of OA in the cycle of curriculum review.

A report from the Virginia-Maryland Regional College of Veterinary Medicine (Black et al., 2002) describes the process of OA applied across all 11 AVMA accreditation standards. The aim of the survey, administered to a wide range of stakeholders, was to provide information on each of the accreditation standards, alongside the traditional report which details the inputs and processes involved in each area. The breadth of this study and range of participants resulted in more information than just performance of graduates and the authors acknowledge that this was a resource intensive process. However they conclude that the benefits of a more in depth, objective review were invaluable to the cycle of course evaluation and subsequent improvement.

There are challenges to the conclusions drawn from data collected in this way. Response rates from graduates and employers who are not working

within the university are variable. Danielson (2012) surveyed employers of graduates from Iowa State University; 38% of employers completed the questionnaire. Doucet (2010) surveyed alumni and their employers and reports response rates between 24% and 78% for different year groups. Kleine et al (2002) report response rates of 60% for alumni, but only 12% for the employers in a survey in 2000. Small sample sizes may not represent the opinions of all alumni and employers and response bias should be considered.

It is widely recognised that data obtained from surveys is prone to error (Alwin, 1991, Rea and Parker, 2012) due to participants, the purpose of the survey, questionnaire design and method of administration. Doucet (2010) reported a difference between employer and graduate perception of the graduates' abilities. She suggests new graduates underestimate their abilities during self-evaluation. As many studies rely on alumni to self-assess (Kleine et al., 2002, Hardin and Ainsworth, 2007, Bristol, 2002, Doucet and Vrins, 2010, Black et al., 2002, Butler, 2003) interpretation of results should be done with caution. Butler (2003) measured employer satisfaction with new graduates. Outcomes were assessed on direct performance of employees and inter-rater variability due to untrained assessors is acknowledged.

Finally in the absence of a standardised approach to OA, comparisons between institutions are difficult (Bristol, 2002). Furthermore any conclusions drawn are limited to the context of the university and the area of practice investigated (Greenfield et al., 1997). A lack of generalizable

conclusions and inability to compare results across institutions limits the use of OA studies in curriculum development.

Despite these limitations, there are clear advantages to indirect measures of learning outcomes. When used in combination with other sources of information including direct assessment of performance and analysis of input and process factors, indirect OA is a valuable component of curriculum review (Trent, 2002).

2.6: Direct assessment of student performance

Student assessment at the SVMS begins soon after they arrive in the first year of the course; it comprises a range of different assessment formats and is both summative and formative. This section will review general considerations regarding the assessment of competence in veterinary students; assessment in both formative and summative contexts will be discussed and finally there will be a focus on the assessment formats studied within this thesis, namely multiple choice questions (MCQ) workplace-based assessment (WPBA) and the script concordance test (SCT).

2.6.1: Assessment of clinical competence.

Clinical competence has been defined as the integration of knowledge, skills and attitude to perform in a professional context (Mulder et al., 2010, RCVS, 2014, Dent and Harden, 2013). Measuring competence is challenging and no single assessment format is able to fulfil this requirement (Hardie, 2008, Holmboe et al., 2010). It might be reasonable to assume that the essential components of competence, knowledge, skills and attitudes, could be assessed as individual constructs and the results combined to produce an overall measure of clinical competence. However, this approach can result in a fragmented assessment strategy in an attempt to incorporate all subcomponents of competence (Rhind, 2006, Van Der Vleuten, 1996) and it is argued that there is an over-emphasis on the objectification of assessment at the expense of more meaningful qualitative judgements (Wass et al., 2001, Holmboe et al., 2010). Whatever definition is accepted, domains of clinical competence are neither stable nor generic traits and therefore competence should not be broken down into constituent parts for assessment purposes (Schuwirth and Van der Vleuten, 2011a).

Following on from the idea of assessing individual components of clinical competence, current thinking includes the implementation of a range of assessment tools in different contexts to build a picture of an individual's ability (Holmboe et al., 2010). Selection of appropriate assessment strategies is as important as defining the content and delivery of a curriculum (Fuentealba, 2011). As discussed previously, assessment, teaching and learning must all be aligned to pre-defined learning outcomes to fulfil the requirements of constructive alignment (Biggs, 2003, Bell et al., 2009a).

Consideration of the standard to which the learning outcomes must be demonstrated is essential (Harden, 1999). For example does the student simply need an awareness of a procedure or must they be able to competently perform the procedure unsupervised at the time of graduation? Miller (1990) constructed a pyramid to illustrate stages in the development of clinical competence (Figure 2.4).





Factual knowledge sits at the base of the pyramid as a foundation on which competence is built. As a student progresses they must be able to apply their knowledge at the 'knows how' level. Clinical competence is not just a cognitive function; at the 'shows how' level a student must demonstrate a competency albeit in a simulated environment. The top level of Miller's pyramid 'does' refers to performance of the clinician. Demonstration of a competency at the 'shows how' level is not necessarily representative of everyday performance in practice; effective performance assessment is the ultimate goal within OBE. Clearly the assessment tool selected will depend on the stage of the course and standard required.

Within assessment design the level of expertise should also be considered (Wass et al., 2007). Bloom's taxonomy (Bloom and Krathwohl, 1956) provides a useful framework for the progression of knowledge from novice to expert; this framework was later revised by Anderson et al., (2001) (Figure 2.5). Expertise increases throughout a course, it is therefore likely that programme ILOs consist of higher order knowledge and assessment tasks should reflect this.



Figure 2.5: Bloom's Revised Taxonomy (Anderson et al., 2001)

Traditional assessments focus on declarative knowledge and completion of a set task that may or may not reflect the ILOs of the course (Biggs and Tang, 2010). Examples of assessment formats that meet the requirements for CA include performance assessments and portfolios. Performance of veterinary students can be assessed through workplace-based assessment (WPBA) that offers the advantage of providing feedback to the student on their clinical ability (Norcini and Burch, 2007). Portfolios have the potential to assess all three levels of learning outcomes described by Harden (1999) including attitudes and professionalism (Davis and Ponnamperuma, 2005). Students select a range of evidence to demonstrate they have achieved the ILOs of the course. When used effectively portfolios provide a student driven method of assessment that promotes elements of competence such as reflective practice, selfassessment and lifelong learning (Driessen et al., 2005). Both WPBA and portfolios have the potential to provide authentic assessments in healthcare settings (Norcini and Burch, 2007, Prescott-Clements et al., 2008, Driessen et al., 2005) however appropriate implementation is key to maximise their educational use (Davis and Ponnamperuma, 2005, Norcini and Burch, 2007, Wilkinson et al., 2008).

Although portfolio and WPBA formats potentially meet the requirements of an assessment strategy for OBE, selection of any assessment must be given careful consideration. To evaluate the utility of a given assessment format, Van der Vleuten (1996) proposed the following equation:

Utility = Reliability x Validity x Feasibility x Acceptability x Educational impact

This is not to say that some numerical value can be assigned to an assessment to measure its worth, but each component of the equation must be considered in context. Compromise of one or more components is inevitable, for example WPBA has been praised for providing feedback on the tasks graduates will perform in practice. However, questions have been raised with regards to the reliability of WPBA and the suitability of such formats for making summative judgments (Wilkinson et al., 2008). On the other hand, a well-constructed set of MCQs can provide a reliable test of knowledge but will not be able to assess some of the skills,

attitudes and behaviours needed in practice (Wass et al., 2001, Rhind, 2006). The following sections will consider each of the components of the utility equation in further detail.

2.6.1.1: Validity

Validity is concerned with the extent to which an assessment tests what it is designed to test. Much debate exists over both the definition and methods of evaluating validity (Colliver et al., 2012). When examining validity Hecker and Violato (2009) describe 4 levels of analysis: face validity, content validity, criterion-related validity and construct validity. The definitions provided in table 2.1 will be assumed throughout this thesis with reference to validity.

Туре		Definition
Face		The extent to which a test appears practical, pertinent and related to its purpose (Mosier, 1947)
Content		The adequacy with which the instrument samples the domain of measurement (Hecker and Violato, 2009)
Criterion		A comparison of test scores with one or more external variables (criteria), considered to provide a direct measure of the characteristic or behaviour in question (Messick, 1990)
	Predictive	The certainty to which a test can predict future performance (Dent and Harden, 2013)
	Concurrent	The degree to which scores on a test correlate with the scores on an established test administered at the same time (Dent and Harden, 2013)
Construct		The measurement of some attribute or quality which is not operationally defined (Cronbach and Meehl, 1955)

Table 2.1. Definitions of validity

The definitions in table 2.1 are useful to explain the concept of validity for an assessment. However, current thinking proposes that all validity is construct validity defined as the extent to which the interpretation of the test score can be relied upon (Downing, 2003b, Messick, 1990). Fundamental to this unitary view of validity is the point that it is not the test or test score which is validated, but the interpretation and inferences which can be made from this information (Cizek et al., 2008). Colliver et al. (2012) argue that this current approach is problematic, as theoretical nomological networks do not exist to validate the constructs. Consequently multiple sources of validity evidence are required (Downing, 2003b) and types of validity can provide guidance for collating appropriate evidence (Hecker and Violato, 2009). Kane (2013) proposes an interpretative use argument (IUA) to provide evidence of validity. He describes four types of evidence that should be collated within a validity argument relating to scoring, generalizability, extrapolation and the interpretation or decisions made based on the results. Regardless of any consistent definition, it is important to note that when considering validity any one assessment format cannot be valid in itself but has more or less evidence to support its use in a specific context (Schuwirth and Van Der Vleuten, 2011b).

2.6.1.2: Reliability

Similar to validity, multiple definitions of reliability exist. Hecker and Violato (2009) describe reliability as the consistency of measurement and a necessary condition for validity. Alternative definitions describe reliability as an estimate of the amount of measurement error in a test (Tavakol and Dennick, 2012) and the extent to which the scores on a test are reproducible (Schuwirth and Van Der Vleuten, 2011b). Traditional methods of measuring reliability include Cronbach's alpha and the Kuder-Richardson 20 formula. However these values do not provide information on the various sources of error. The use of advanced psychometric methods in addition to classical test theory is therefore encouraged to improve the quality of high-stakes examinations (Tavakol and Dennick, 2012).

Generalizability theory can be used in psychometric analysis to determine the contribution of different sources of error to the overall variation in assessment scores. For example, in an OSCE individual students' scores will vary according to their ability to perform the task in each station. However, unwanted sources of error also contribute to variation in scores, such as assessors, simulated patients and different stations. A Gcoefficient can be calculated to determine how reliable or generalizable the scores are. The higher the G-coefficient (closer to 1.0), the more generalizable the score and there is less influence from unwanted sources of error (Tavakol and Dennick, 2012, Schuwirth and Van Der Vleuten, 2011b). This information can then be used to minimise the unwanted sources of variation. Furthermore, decision studies can then be used to predict the effects of manipulating the assessment design on generalizability (Tavakol and Dennick, 2012).

2.6.1.3 Feasibility

Feasibility refers to how easily an assessment can be implemented within the curriculum. Some formats can be more costly in terms of time and resources to deliver. For example, a viva voce examination might be favoured by some academics over a written examination. However to achieve acceptable levels of reliability increased testing time is required, involving multiple examiners and clinical cases (Wass et al., 2003) which may not be possible. When considering OBE and the individual student, feasibility of assessment becomes increasingly important. It is unlikely that universities, working within the academic year, have the resources to accommodate assessment of an individual's performance as they progress at their own rate (Hodges, 2010).

2.6.1.4 Acceptability

Any assessment must be acceptable to all stakeholders to be successful (Dent and Harden, 2013, p.323). Acceptability is the extent to which all those involved endorse the assessment (Norcini and McKinley, 2007) and regardless of the educational theory underpinning an assessment strategy, buy in from staff, students, clinicians and clients is essential.

2.6.1.5 Educational Impact

Educational impact refers to the influence of assessment on the learning process and is often termed consequential validity (Swanwick, 2010, p.198). The relationship between assessment and learning has been repeatedly acknowledged at all stages of education (Biggs, 1987, Crooks and Mahalski, 1985, Gibbs and Simpson, 2004, Ramsden, 1992, Cilliers et al., 2010, McLachlan, 2006, Scouller, 1998) although the exact nature of the relationship is unclear. The educational impact of assessment has been previously explored (Newble and Jaeger, 1983, Evelyn Brown, 2003, Ringsted et al., 2004, Cilliers et al., 2010, Cilliers et al., 2011, Scouller, 1998, Leung et al., 2008, Donnon and Hecker, 2010) and has been shown to have both a positive effect on student learning (Newble and Jaeger, 1983, Gibbs and Simpson, 2004, McManus et al., 1998, Ringsted et al., 2004) as well as fostering less desirable learning strategies (Scouller, 1998, Leung et al., 2008, McManus et al., 1998). Van Der Vleuten and Schuwirth state that there is a lack of empirical evidence to explain how assessment influences learning behaviour, however it is clear that the impact of any given format is strongly context dependant (Van Der Vleuten and Schuwirth, 2005).

Whilst the content of an exam has a more obvious impact on students' learning, it is not clear how other factors influence this process. Some evidence suggests the assessment format plays a major role in educational impact (Scouller, 1998, Tang, 1994) although the content and level at which this is tested is likely to differ between formats in these studies and this must be considered when interpreting results. Cilliers et al., (2010, 2011) proposed a mechanism for the impact of assessment on the learning behaviour of medical students. They identified several factors including the stage of the course, the consequences of the assessment, the perceived cognitive demands of the task and the proximity of the assessment that all contributed to the educational impact. Similar influences have been identified in other contexts (Seale et al., 2000, Gibbs and Simpson, 2004, Donnon and Hecker, 2010, Gibbs and Dunbar-Goddet, 2009) and there is a clear balance between investment of time and effort and perceived gain by the student. The mechanism of the impact of assessment is complex and individual students appear to weigh up several factors before adopting a learning approach.

Whilst there is a call for further research into the influence of assessment on learning (Cilliers et al., 2010, Van Der Vleuten and Schuwirth, 2005) providing evidence of this mechanism is challenging. Impact can be defined as "a marked effect or influence"; finding ways to measure influence on students' learning is difficult. Demonstrating a direct effect of an assessment on the learning process, that is both complex and individualised, is inevitably problematic. The notion of educational impact of assessment will be re-visited within the discussion of learning styles in a section 2.7. One of the many factors contributing to impact is the

consequence of assessment (Cilliers et al., 2010). Consequences can include student feedback to improve performance or decisions around progression or graduation from a course. The intended purpose and associated consequences of assessment have an impact on students' learning behaviour and consequently there is an impact on curriculum alignment. The following section will therefore discuss the purpose and potential consequences of both formative and summative assessment.

2.6.2: The role of formative and summative assessment

Summative assessments are traditionally used at the end of a period of study to make pass/fail decisions. They are often referred to as high stakes examinations as the consequences of failure can be the inability to progress or graduate from a course. At the other end of the assessment spectrum formative assessments are designed to provide feedback to students (and staff) on their progress. Accordingly they are referred to as low stakes where poor performance generates feedback on how to improve but the student's future on the course is not affected.

It is important to clearly define the purpose of the assessment within any strategy (Fuentealba, 2011, Hardie, 2008) as this will influence the format used. Methods favoured by universities in a summative context are often objective, reliable and legally defensible. Conversely, methods used in a formative context are often subjective but provide the student with effective feedback (Hardie, 2008).

Formative assessment that provides effective feedback is essential for the development of competence (Carraccio et al., 2002) and also for progression to expertise through deliberate practice (Ericsson, 2007).

Feedback on performance promotes reflective practice and can provide students with the motivation to learn and improve (Fuentealba, 2011). However to fulfil this potential, feedback must be effective which requires an on going and timely approach, feedback should be specific and actionable and generated as a result of discussion between the student and teacher (Norcini et al., 2011, Nicol and Macfarlane-Dick, 2006).

Generation of effective feedback has received much attention within educational research. Results from the National Student Survey (Mori, 2013) suggest that veterinary and medical students perceive feedback on their academic performance as unsatisfactory. This has led to research into provision of effective feedback in the veterinary context. For example the use of audio feedback (Rhind et al. 2013), the use of simulation to provide feedback (Ballie et al. 2005), feedback on communication skills (Adams and Kurtz, 2012) and enhancing feedback within the clinical workplace (Warman et al. 2014).

Gibbs and Simpson (2004) state the importance of ongoing feedback provided regularly on small chunks of course content. Within an outcomes-based curriculum some responsibility lies with the students to seek regular feedback in order for them to take responsibility for their own progression (Davis, 2003, Harden, 1999). Feedback-seeking behaviour has been observed within the clinical work-place but can be deterred due to the hierarchical relationship between the student and the teacher (Pelgrim and Kramer, 2013). To enhance feedback seeking behaviour, feedback should focus on student performance rather than on personal characteristics (Gibbs and Simpson 2004). However, the relationship

between the trainer and trainee within the workplace is complex and has an inevitable impact on assessment and the feedback provided (Govaerts et al, 2007).

Both the content and delivery of feedback are important for effective learning (Gibbs and Simpson 2004, Pelgrim et al, 2012). Whilst perception of credible and constructive feedback varies with culture and context (Watling et al, 2013) some basic principles can be consistently applied. Time should be planned for discussion and feedback following observation; feedback should take the form of a dialogue; positive feedback should be used to increase trainee confidence; clear goals should be set and students should be given time and opportunity to process and subsequently act on their feedback (Pelgrim et al 2012, Nicol and Macfarlane-Dick, 2006, Pelgrim and Kramer, 2013, Gibbs and Simpson 2004, Govaerts et al, 2007).

Effective feedback is clearly integral to the success of formative assessment. Considering more broadly the utility of effective formative assessments acceptability is essential if both staff and students are to engage with the process and feasibility is important if formative assessment is to become an on going part of the learning process. To achieve maximum educational impact and student motivation validity is key, however, reliability is likely to be less important in a formative context (Norcini et al., 2011).

Traditionally summative assessments offer little individual feedback and can drive the student to adopt a surface or strategic approach to learning. This effect is described by Cilliers et al. (2010) in preparation for

summative exams, when medical students reported memorising lists rather than gaining insight into a topic, as they believed the facts to be imperative to exam success. Although high stakes assessments often result in a surface approach to learning and students place more value on the formative purpose of assessment (Duffield and Spencer, 2002) summative assessments are essential for purposes such as selection and graduation. Furthermore if consideration is given to the alignment of high stakes assessments with the ILOs and teaching philosophy any negative effects on student learning can be minimised (Swanwick, 2010, p.260).

The descriptions of formative and summative assessments provide a greatly polarised view of assessment purpose. Often a combined approach includes a high stakes assessment used for summative purposes, but also involves generation of feedback for improvement and re-assessment as necessary (Dent and Harden, 2013, p.303). The assessment methods within this study include those that are purely formative or summative in nature as well as those with a combined purpose.

The following section will look at the assessment formats used within this thesis in more detail. The purpose and utility of each format will be considered in the assessment of clinical competence.

2.6.3: Assessing clinical competence in veterinary students

Hardie (2008) surveyed 24 veterinary schools across North America and the UK to determine the current methods used for assessing clinical competence. The most frequently used method was a global rating of clinical rotation performance. MCQ examinations and direct observation of technical skills were also used by some colleges and will be discussed in this section along with the script concordance test (SCT), as these three formats are central to the research in this thesis.

During final year students also complete a professional portfolio, however this has not been included in the research within this thesis. A portfolio is a versatile assessment and is used in a variety of different contexts. To this end it is not an assessment format per se, but a collection of pieces of work, usually selected by the student, to demonstrate achievement and facilitate instruction (Paulson et al., 1991). The SVMS portfolio is an innovative format designed to assess professionalism, rather than clinical knowledge or skills (Mossop and Senior, 2008). The introduction of professionalism into veterinary curricula is currently at an embryonic although there is а growing body of research stage, around professionalism in both medical and veterinary contexts (Mossop and Cobb, 2013, Roder et al., 2012, Cruess and Cruess, 2006). Assessment of professionalism is challenging (Hodges et al., 2011) and consequently the structure of the SVMS portfolio has evolved since the school opened in 2006. In summary, the purpose of SVMS portfolio is solely to assess professionalism, there is a lack of assessment of professional portfolios in other veterinary schools for comparison and the students have experienced several changes to the current SVMS format. Therefore, it was decided not to include the educational impact of the portfolio in this thesis. However, role of the portfolio as an assessment of veterinary professionalism will be a focus for research in the future.

2.6.3.1: Multiple choice questions (MCQs)

First described by Frederick Kelly in 1914 (Swanwick, 2010, p.217) MCQ exams have become a regular component of assessment strategies in medical and veterinary education. MCQs exist in different forms, the most notable and commonly used is the A-type, in which several possible answers are provided to a question and the correct option is selected. Within the SVMS assessment strategy, MCQs are used to test factual recall, mainly in years 1 to 3 of the course, and also to test higher order learning objectives by utilising a clinical vignette to generate the question, as described by Case and Swanson (1998).

MCQs have several advantages over other written assessment formats such as short answer or essay questions. A broad sample of knowledge can be tested within the assessment time; they provide reliable scores; MCQs are relatively easy to produce and administer and marking is quick with minimal use of staff time, especially with optical or computer marking (Dent and Harden, 2013, p.329, Swanwick, 2010, p.44). Testing a large sample of the course LOs results in a more effective blueprint therefore increasing alignment and reducing the influence of the assessed curriculum (Verhoeven et al., 1999) and additionally reduces the effect of case specificity (Van Der Vleuten, 1996, Case and Swanson, 1998).

But there are limitations to the MCQ exam. Clearly in assessment of clinical competence, the MCQ can only assess at the level of 'knows' and 'knows how'. Although computer marking reduces assessor variation, careful construction of MCQs is essential to avoid item flaws that can reduce reliability (Case and Swanson, 1998) and without adequate
training there is a tendency for question writers to target LOs that require recall of declarative knowledge at the expense of assessing functioning knowledge, thus challenging the validity of the test (Swanwick, 2010, p.44, Biggs, 1996). Case and Swanson (1998) describe two groups of item writing flaws that increase cueing effects: testwise flaws and irrelevant difficulty. Testwise flaws allow students who adopt a strategic approach to answering questions to obtain a higher score, which is not a true reflection of their understanding of the topic. Irrelevant difficulty refers to those MCQs where the question is overly complex and therefore tests some ability other than the trait it was designed to test. Staff must be trained in item writing to avoid these issues that challenge the concept of constructive alignment (Case and Swanson, 1998).

Larsen et al. (2008) propose that short answer assessment formats that require effortful retrieval of information result in a greater retention of clinical knowledge compared to MCQs that rely solely on recognition. However, the MCQ format has been established as a progress test in some institutions to evaluate progression through problem-based learning (PBL) curricula (Blake et al., 1996, Boshuizen et al., 1997). Performance has been shown to improve as students advance through the course and results from later years can be used to predict performance on medical licensure exams (Blake et al., 1996). Progress tests have also been shown to have high correlations with assessment of clinical reasoning (Boshuizen et al., 1997). These findings suggest that the MCQ exam, when used in an appropriate context can contribute more to the assessment strategy than recognition of facts and increasing the likelihood of a strategic approach to learning.

The MCQ exam has also been criticised because candidates have a relatively high chance of guessing the correct answer when presented with 4 or 5 options, therefore a correction for guessing is often necessary (Schuwirth et al., 1996). Downing (2003a) however, explains that concerns over guessing are unfounded. He argues that medical students (we assume that veterinary students are likely to be similar) rarely randomly guess. He proposes that students are more likely to make an informed guess. Furthermore if they were to randomly guess it is extremely unlikely that this approach would lead to a high test score on an MCQ exam with 100 questions or more. Downing concludes that a correction for guessing is therefore not necessary in the context of medical examinations.

It would be a logical assumption that increasing the number of options for an MCQ item would minimise the effects of random guessing. EMQs (also known as R-type questions) were developed by Case and Swanson (1998) originally for the assessment of clinical problems, their use has now been extended to other areas for example basic science. With up to 26 options used in a question, EMQs have been used to prevent random guessing and they have been shown to have good reliability and construct validity (Bhakta et al., 2005). However, despite creating a list of homogenous items, the context of the scenario often results in some options becoming automatically redundant. Furthermore increased options requires increased time to read the question, thus fewer questions can be set in the available testing time and this therefore results in reduced reliability of the test (Swanson et al., 2005). The optimal number of options within an MCQ is controversial. Schuwirth and Van Der Vleuten (2004) state that

increasing the number of options is generally associated with increased reliability, but only if all options are plausible. For example, an MCQ with three plausible options is just as good as a question with five options, where two non-functional distractors are never selected (Schuwirth and Van Der Vleuten, 2004).

There is evidence from veterinary education to support the use of EMQs to assess clinical reasoning (Tomlin et al., 2008a, 2008b). The results from two studies at the Royal Veterinary College demonstrated that students and faculty both found this method of assessment acceptable although concerns were raised from both groups that the EMQ format encouraged pattern recognition that may not be appropriate for undergraduate students. Whilst the authors describe the EMQ as a valid and reliable assessment of clinical reasoning, these findings are based on the perceptions and performance of one cohort of veterinary students following a formative EMQ paper, which was reported to have low reliability. Further evidence is therefore required to support the use of EMQs as an assessment of clinical reasoning in a veterinary context.

Other versions of the MCQ that have been used for decades in higher education are the True/False questions, also known as X-type questions. There use is no longer recommended as there is sufficient evidence to suggest that these items are often ambiguous due to context. To prevent ambiguity options must be written as completely true or completely false statements which results in very fact based questions, which require recall with no application of knowledge from the student (Case and Swanson, 1998).

In summary, carefully constructed MCQs have their place within any assessment strategy as a feasible method of assessing a broad sample of LOs. But MCQs also have their limitations and therefore should be used alongside alternative assessments of clinical competence.

2.6.3.2: Script concordance test

The script concordance test (SCT) was first described by Charlin et al. (2000a) as an assessment tool designed to test clinical reasoning in authentic but ill-defined scenarios. Clinical reasoning can be defined as the cognitive skills involved in patient evaluation and management (Barrows and Tamblyn, 1980) and it is accepted as an essential component of clinical competence. It is therefore not surprising that the development and assessment of clinical reasoning has provided a focus for much discussion and research in healthcare education. This section will discuss the principles of design and implementation of the SCT; it is however beyond the scope of this thesis to review the literature relating to the proposed theories for the development of clinical reasoning and its assessment.

Script theory is closely related to the hypothetico-deductive model of clinical reasoning (Barrows and Tamblyn, 1980, Coderre et al., 2003). Illness scripts describe the way in which clinicians organise their knowledge of clinical encounters, based on previous experience and case exposure (Charlin et al., 2000b, Charlin et al., 2007). When a new patient is presented relevant scripts are activated, which has been compared to the process of hypothesis generation (Charlin et al., 2000b). Script processing follows script activation in which the clinician compares the

script with case information, analogous to hypothesis testing, allowing decisions to be made around diagnosis and case management.

The SCT assesses the ability of the candidate to interpret data relating to a clinical problem. A short case description is followed by a hypothesis regarding the diagnosis, further investigation or management of the patient. A piece of new information is then provided and the candidate is asked to make a judgement about the likelihood of the hypothesis based on this new information (Fournier et al., 2008, Dory et al., 2012). Figure 2.6 provides an example SCT question to illustrate the format.

Clinical Vignette

You are presented with an 8 month old, male neutered DSH cat with a history of diarrhoea for 4 months. The cat is well in himself, his appetite is good and he is gaining weight at an appropriate rate for his age. There is no history of vomiting, the diarrhoea contains mucous and the owner sometimes observes the cat straining. The owner is pregnant and clearly concerned about her ability to cope with the cat long term if the condition is not resolved. She tells you he often leaves wet patches of faeces where he has been and she is fed up with continually having to disinfect her house. The cat has access to the outside throughout the day and there are no other cats in the house.

New Information
And you discover the cat was non-responsive to 2 previously prescribed courses of metronidazole
ecomes:
V

Figure 2.6: An example SCT question.

The clinical vignette is read first, followed by the hypothesis and then the new information. A decision is made on the likelihood of the hypothesis based on the new information.

The candidates' responses are then compared to those of a panel of experts and marks are awarded for the degree of concordance. In contrast to many other MCQ formats there is no single best answer. In the traditional scoring method, responses are weighted against the modal answer and although alternative methods of scoring have been investigated they have not been found to have significant benefits over the traditional method (Ramaekers et al., 2010).

The SCT has been used more widely in postgraduate assessment (Carrière et al., 2009, Brailovsky et al., 2001, Sibert et al., 2002, Lubarsky et al., 2009) but also in undergraduate assessment (Brailovsky et al., 2001, Duggan and Charlin, 2012) including the assessment of basic sciences in

pre-clinical medical students (Humbert et al., 2011) and as a progress test in veterinary students (Ramaekers et al., 2010). There is evidence to support the use of the SCT as an assessment of data interpretation (Lubarsky et al., 2011). Studies exploring the relationship between scores from the SCT and fact-based MCQ assessments, identified weak correlations suggesting the SCT assesses a different construct other than the recall of factual knowledge (Fournier et al., 2006, Collard et al., 2009). Further evidence for the validity of the SCT is provided by studies that have shown that test scores increase with increasing clinical experience (Carrière et al., 2009, Brailovsky et al., 2001, Sibert et al., 2002). Reliability studies have shown the SCT method to have acceptable alpha values, between 0.7 and 0.9, when a panel size of at least 10-15 experts is used (Carrière et al., 2009, Sibert et al., 2002, Lubarsky et al., 2009, Fournier et al., 2006, Gagnon et al., 2005, Meterissian et al., 2007).

Although there is evidence to support the SCT as an assessment of clinical reasoning, it should be emphasised that there are limitations to the method. One obvious limitation is the lack of a patient and in the context of veterinary medicine the lack of both a patient and a client. Askew et al. (2012) highlight the importance of context on the reliability and validity and therefore an individual SCT examination should be evaluated in the context of the environment in which it is delivered. They also alert us to the danger of 'atomising the construct of clinical reasoning' within a SCT; clinical reasoning involves processing all aspects of case information and simply focussing on a small part of this may not represent true clinical reasoning as it occurs in practice.

Lineberry et al. (2013) recently challenged the validity of the SCT concluding that the traditional method of aggregate scoring and variation in responses from the expert panel are significant flaws in the current SCT model. Lubarsky et al. (2013) responded to this critique arguing that variability due to the expert panel is essential to the discriminatory power of the SCT.

As a relatively new assessment format, little is known of the educational impact of the SCT and its effects on student learning behaviour (Lubarsky et al., 2011). Hornos et al. (2013) describe the successful use of the SCT format to provide online continuing professional development to physicians to promote reflective practice. At an undergraduate level, Larsen et al. (2008) state that novel formats, namely the SCT, should be investigated as assessment for learning strategies.

Whilst the SCT may not provide all the answers in the search for a valid assessment of clinical reasoning it shares many of the advantages of other MCQ formats. For example, the short completion time reduces the effects of case specificity and marking is less onerous compared to short answer formats such as modified essay questions. However, feasibility can be an issue regarding recruitment of the expert panel and review of their responses (Gagnon et al., 2005) and like other MCQ formats, the SCT can only assess to the 'knows how' level of Miller's pyramid. Assessment at the level of 'shows how' and 'does' requires performance assessment and will be considered in the next section.

2.6.3.3: Workplace based assessment

The introduction of workplace-based assessment (WPBA) into many healthcare courses has resulted from the concern that students are rarely observed and given feedback on their performance in clinical practice. A large component of clinical training occurs in the workplace and robust WPBA is therefore an essential element of any assessment strategy (Holmboe et al., 2010). Whilst simulation provides a safe environment for assessment and feedback in the early stages of the course, authentic assessment within clinical practice must be included in competency assessment (Carraccio et al., 2002). The workplace provides an excellent learning environment and assessment in this context is often perceived by staff and students to have high face validity. Historically global judgements have been made on students' performance during clinical placements (Hardie, 2008) however with little structure or standardisation these have proved to be unreliable (Van Der Vleuten, 1996).

Although several methods of formative assessment have been developed with the potential to provide contextual feedback on individual performance (Rudolph et al., 2008, Wilkinson et al., 2008, Fernando et al., 2008), Norcini and Burch (2007) state that assessment in the setting of clinical training is not well developed and highlight some of the challenges faced in the process including reliability, relationships and feasibility. Implementation of a number of low stakes assessments, where less emphasis is placed on achieving a 'pass mark' and the purpose is formative, potentially enables students to identify areas of weakness, improve their performance and encourages a deeper approach (Nicol and Macfarlane-Dick, 2006).

Previous studies have looked at the validity and reliability of the various tools designed to assess students in clinical practice. Prescott-Clements et al. (2008) described the use of the Longitudinal Evaluation of Performance (LEP) to assess Dental students in Scotland, its use has been successful in contributing to summative decisions regarding student competence. A study across hospitals in the UK concluded that WPBA formats, including the mini-clinical evaluation exercise (mini-CEX), directly observed procedural skills (DOPS) and multi-source feedback (MSF), were both feasible to implement and reliable in differentiating between performance in post-graduate doctors (Wilkinson et al., 2008). Other studies have expressed concerns over the number of WPBA encounters required to achieve acceptable reliability for summative purposes, which questions the feasibility of WPBA in this context (Murphy et al., 2009, Alves de Lima et al., 2007).

Returning to the overall utility of WPBA, few studies have explored the educational impact of these assessment formats and the influence they have on experiential learning. A study in Copenhagen, evaluating the educational impact of an in-training assessment program for postgraduate students in anaesthesia, (Ringsted et al., 2004) concluded that the program made objectives clear and encouraged dialogue between supervisors and students. Signing of checklists, however, was seen as a hoop jumping exercise but where educational benefit was perceived amongst discussion and reflection the students gained confidence. Al Kadri et al. (2011) identified assessment as one of three factors that influence medical students' study strategies during clinical rotations. A subsequent study describes the effects of WPBA on study approach (Al-Kadri et al.,

2013). The authors conclude that WPBA encourages a deep approach to learning, however they identify contextual factors that result in a more strategic approach namely the influence of the supervisor, excessive negative feedback and a summative context.

Disadvantages of assessing performance during clinical placements have been identified. These include limited opportunities for students to complete necessary skills, often leading to a rush towards the end of the rotation period (Hardie, 2008). WPBA places additional demands on faculty time (Al Kadri et al., 2011) and further work is needed to identify ways to ensure their observations are accurate and their feedback to students is effective (Holmboe et al., 2010). A further concern raised by faculty utilising observation of skills during rotations was whether a single demonstration of a skill ensured clinical competency over time. This is an important consideration as students may perform differently under observation and if the skill is not regularly used may be forgotten (Hardie, 2008). Within veterinary practice the species in which the WPBA is undertaken should also be considered. Just as clinical competency maybe time and discipline dependant, species areas are likely to be an additional factor to consider in veterinary WPBA.

With no universal approach to performance assessment in the workplace evaluation of the utility of WPBA is limited. Holmboe et al. (2010) call for a move away from multiple 'home grown' assessment formats and the development of a core set of assessment tools. However, this 'home grown' approach may be inevitable to meet acceptability and feasibility requirements in individual institutes and clinical contexts.

Development of an effective assessment strategy is complex with numerous challenges in the assessment of clinical competence. However, if constructive alignment is to be achieved, assessment cannot be considered in isolation, it must be an integral part of the wider curriculum. ILOs can be measured indirectly, however, direct assessment of ILOs is essential for student feedback, course evaluation and university progression. It is widely accepted that direct assessment of student performance has a major influence on student learning behaviour and therefore has an impact on student learning outcomes. Observation of student learning behaviour is therefore one of the ways in which CA can be evaluated within the curriculum. The next section provides a review of learning behaviour and the factors that affect it.

2.7: Learning behaviour

A vast amount of research and proposed theory exists regarding learning behaviour. In addition to educational psychology, research on learning styles has emerged from a variety of settings including medical and healthcare education, management, industry and vocational training (Cassidy 2004). This has resulted in numerous definitions, theories and measures of learning behaviour; it is not possible to discuss all proposed models of learning style in this section. An overview of the important concepts to be considered regarding learning styles in veterinary education will be followed by a more in depth discussion on the approach to student learning described by Biggs (1987a) as this model is used to investigate learning styles in this thesis. Whilst it is generally accepted that the approach to a learning opportunity has an impact on the achievement of learning outcomes, the lack of consistent definitions makes any discussion regarding learning styles challenging (Cassidy 2004). Learning style and cognitive style are often used interchangeably and refer to an individual's typical way of problem solving, thinking and remembering (Riding and Cheema, 1991). Whereas learning preference is used to describe preferred methods of delivery and environment and learning strategy describes an individual's approach to a task. Both learning preference and strategy are heavily context dependent (Cassidy 2004).

Learning style is a complex entity and incorporates aspects of an individual's personality, methods of information processing, social interaction and environmental factors. A layer-like or 'onion' model has been used to describe learning style which consists of four components or 'layers' (Curry, 1983, Curry, 1987). The innermost layer describes cognitive personality style, followed by information processing, social interaction and the outermost layer represents instructional preference.

There is controversy over whether learning styles are a stable trait or whether they can be adapted and change with time. In Curry's onion model (Curry, 1987) the inner layers are described as more stable innate traits compared to the outer layers which are more susceptible to change and context dependant. According to Biggs (1987a), learning style is a consequence of several component factors, he refers to presage factors which can be personal or situational. Personal factors such as prior knowledge, experience and personality cannot be changed whereas the

course structure, teaching and assessment tasks are situational factors which change and students adapt their learning strategies accordingly. It would seem therefore that certain aspects of learning style are more stable than others. Furthermore, the concepts of meta-learning (being aware of one's own learning and having the ability to adapt to different contexts) and meta-cognition (reflection on one's own cognitive processes and the ability to evaluate and regulate them) also support the theory that learning styles can be adapted and are not an entirely stable trait (Biggs, 1987a).

Kolb's experiential learning model (Kolb, 1984) describes learning as a developmental process, also suggesting that learning style is a fluid entity. His model, shown in figure 2.7, is often referred to in healthcare education because it is easily related to learning in a clinical workplace. Development of the Learning Styles Inventory (LSI) (Kolb, 1976) enabled measurement of learning styles, specifically a preference for action or reflection and experience or thinking.



Figure 2.7: Kolb's Experiential Learning Model. Adapted from Kolb (1984) Experiential Learning: experience as the source of learning and development. CE, concrete experience; AE, active experimentation; RO, reflective observation; AC, abstract conceptualisation.

Kolb's experiential learning model and the LSI were later used by Honey and Mumford to develop their learning styles questionnaire which has been widely used in management training (Honey and Mumford, 1992).

Marton and Säljö (1976) described surface and deep levels of processing in their study of Swedish university students. Based on this work Entwistle et al. (1979) developed the approaches to study inventory (ASI) which has been used extensively in educational research. The ASI identifies learners as having one of four styles: deep, surface, strategic and apathetic. The work of Marton and Säljö and Entwistle et al. was developed further by Biggs (Biggs, 1987a). He describes the student approach to learning as either deep, surface or achieving; each approach being characterised by a motivation and a learning strategy, summarized in (Table 2.2). According to Biggs, students who adopt a deep approach are intrinsically motivated about their subject and apply learning strategies that enable them to relate prior knowledge and different topics to increase their understanding. These are usually high achieving students sought after by higher education institutes. Students with a competitive nature adopt an achieving approach, they utilise a highly organised strategy to achieve the highest marks. They may include elements of the deep and surface approaches to achieve, but lack the intrinsic motivation and sometimes understanding demonstrated by deep learners. Finally the surface approach describes those students whose motivation is purely to complete the course without failure with a lack of passion for the subject. The surface strategy involves memorising and rote learning of concepts that are most likely to be examined on.

Approach	Motivation	Strategy
Deep	Interest in the subject	Develop understanding
	resulting in intrinsic	of the subject, linking
	motivation to learn.	ideas and concepts.
Surface	Fear of failure,	Reproduction for high
	motivated to complete	stakes assessment,
	the minimum amount	involves rote learning.
	of work to pass.	
Achieving	To achieve the highest	Organisation of work
	grades possible,	for academic success.
	motivated by	May involve elements
	competition with their	of both deep and
	peers.	surface strategies.

Table 2.2: Summary of the differences in motivations and learning strategies between the deep, surface and achieving approach to learning as described by Biggs (1987).

Previous studies support the idea that approach to learning is not a fixed entity and that study habits can change according to context. For example, different learning environments (Biggs, 1987b, McManus et al., 1998, Kember et al., 1997) assessment formats (Newble and Jaeger, 1983, Scouller, 1998, Leung et al., 2008, Tang, 1994) and year of study (Biggs, 1987, Donnon and Hecker, 2010) can influence learning behaviour.

A change in study approach with progression through a course is likely to be driven by the learning environment, including both teaching and assessment. Biggs (1987b) showed a decline in a deep approach and an increase in the surface approach of science students moving from first year to final year. Similarly Donnon and Hecker (2010) describe a shift from a deep to a surface approach to learning in Health Science students during their final year of study. In professional healthcare courses graduates are expected to demonstrate clinical competence that requires a contextualised understanding of a topic; the consequences of a superficial approach to study could therefore be detrimental to both performance in the professional environment and also to patient care. Cilliers et al (2010) interviewed medical students who describe the tension they experience between studying to pass exams and studying to become a good clinician. As they progressed towards student internship their contribution to patient care became a more prominent factor in their learning whereas earlier in the course they were prepared to sacrifice this vocationally motivated learning in order to reduce stress levels and pass exams.

The impact of assessment on the learning process has already been touched upon within this literature review and it is apparent that multiple assessment-related factors impact learning behaviour (Cilliers et al., 2010, Al-Kadri et al., 2012). Assessment backwash as described by Tang (1994) results in learning being driven by the perceived demands of assessment tasks rather than the curriculum. Previous experience of assessments may influence study habits; a study conducted at the University of Sydney (Scouller, 1998) describes how students adopted a deep approach to assignment essays perceiving this format as requiring higher levels of cognitive processing. The students approach to learning shifted depending on exam format, they adopted a more surface approach for MCQ exams. In the same study, learning approach was compared with

performance, a positive correlation was demonstrated between deep approach and the essay assignment but there was a negative correlation between deep approach and MCQ grades. This suggests that students who are intrinsically motivated to learn and show a preference for deep learning strategies could be disadvantaged by the assessment format, in this case the MCQ exam. Other studies have explored the relationship between learning approach and academic performance, positive correlations have been found between deep and achieving approaches to learning and exam scores (McManus et al., 1999, McManus et al., 1998, Donnon and Hecker, 2010) and a surface approach to learning has been shown to correlate negatively with exam performance (Leung et al., 2008, McManus et al., 1999).

Following a review of the literature, Al-Kadri et al. (2012) emphasize the importance of assessment function to study strategy. They conclude that formative assessment is more likely associated with a deep approach compared to summative assessments that often elicit surface strategies. The use of low stakes assessment to inform progress has been described as *assessment for learning* (AFL). This concept is not a novel one and its use within the classroom has been encouraged for many years (Black and Wiliam, 1999); more recently AFL has been given increasing importance in higher education, however further evidence for effective implementation of AFL theory in assessment programs is needed (Schuwirth and Van Der Vleuten, 2011a).

Gibbs and Simpson (2004) propose a set of conditions which support the concept of AFL. Firstly the provision of sufficient assessment tasks is

required to drive student learning. Furthermore assessment tasks must allow students to engage with the most important aspects of the course and result in productive learning. Finally the assessment must result in the production of effective and appropriate student feedback which is then acted upon to enhance student performance.

In the context of the clinical workplace, Al-Kadri et al. (2013) provide evidence for the use of WPBA as AFL in their qualitative study of medical students in Saudi Arabia. The students reported that WPBA promoted deep learning approaches when positive feedback was provided at the time of the assessment. They also valued peer assessment and feedback within the workplace. In contrast, their supervisors placed value on WPBA when used summatively, which was seen to produce an achieving effect on learning, dependant on context and supervisor. These conflicting perceptions of the purpose of WPBA provide evidence of some of the challenges of successful implementation of AFL within assessment strategies. These findings are aligned to those of Bok et al. (2013) who conclude that a transformation of the clinical learning environment is required, if WPBA is to be considered a teaching and learning opportunity, with a focus on qualitative feedback to enhance AFL.

There is limited evidence to support specific assessment tools as AFL within veterinary education. However, Giuliodori et al. (2008) report the use of collaborative group testing to this effect. Student performance increased with collaborative group testing, but students also reported increased levels of confidence, increased opportunities for discussion and a more constructive classroom environment associated with this

assessment format. These findings support the use of collaborative testing as AFL and also concur with the findings of Bok et al. (2013) and Al-Kadri et al. (2013) that interaction with peers is important within assessment to promote effective learning.

Ramsden (1992) describes the impact of assessment on student learning, he states that as far as the students are concerned, assessment is the curriculum. It is apparent that alignment of teaching and the learning environment alone is not sufficient; to meet the requirements of CA assessment must also be aligned to the ILOs to enhance desirable learning strategies. However, the learning environment cannot be ignored as this has been shown to influence learning behaviour (Haarala-Muhonen et al., 2011). This thesis is concerned with final year veterinary students, for whom the learning environment is the clinical workplace; the next section will therefore discuss workplace-based learning.

2.8: Workplace-based learning

Experiential learning occurs as a consequence of any everyday experience or interaction, in this section we are concerned with authentic experiences in the clinical workplace. For veterinary students within the UK, the clinical workplace includes placements within university hospitals and associated practices (intramural) and those outside of the university (extramural). A number of educational theories underpin the principles of workplace-based learning (WPBL), including experiential learning, socio-cultural learning and adult learning theory. This section will discuss those relevant theories as well as some of the benefits and challenges of providing WPBL in a veterinary context.

2.8.1: Experiential learning

Experiential learning is based on the principles of constructivism in that individuals learn from their own experiences over time, transforming the way in which they perceive reality. One of the most influential theorists within this field is David Kolb. Based on the work of Dewey, Lewin and Piaget, Kolb (1984) developed his model of experiential learning shown in figure 2.7. He describes learning as a conflict or tension filled process where all successful learners complete a cycle of concrete experience followed by reflective observation, abstract conceptualisation and finally active experimentation. Kolb's model is widely used in medical education to stress the importance of student reflection in WPBL as opposed to a more traditional view where the emphasis is on the clinician as a teacher. As learning is thought of as a continual process, all students enter the workplace with some prior knowledge, therefore it is the job of the educator to modify or dispose of previous misconceptions as well as introduce new ideas (Kolb, 1984).

Kolb's theory differed from existing behavioural theories of learning and traditional approaches to education in that he described learning as a process and not based on observable outcomes. Experiential learning therefore challenges the role of learning outcomes that can result in memorization of knowledge at the expense of experience and reforming ideas.

Experiential learning has been developed and adapted to healthcare education and in a recent review Yardley et al. (2012) state three key concepts underpin experiential learning: firstly learning is situated and

cannot be separated from its context; secondly learning can be an individual or collective process and finally learning is triggered by authentic practice based experience. One of the criticisms of the work of Kolb and experiential learning is that learning is described as an internalised individual process. Yardley et al. (2012) claim that even though learning can be an individual process all experiential learning stems from social interactions.

2.8.2 Socio-cultural perspectives

Vygotsky, often considered the founder of socio-cultural learning theory, claimed that social and cultural interactions are fundamental to learning. Central to his work on social learning are the concepts of inner speech and the zone of proximal development. Inner speech describes how thoughts gain meaning only after they are transformed into language through social interaction. The zone of proximal development describes the potential additional learning that could occur with supervision (Vygotsky, 1986). These concepts demonstrate the importance of interaction and discussion with both peers and senior clinicians in applying knowledge and the development of clinical competence. According to socio-cultural learning theory, effective learning cannot occur without discussion, supervision and feedback.

Lave and Wenger (1991) used socio-cultural theories to develop the concept of communities of practice (COP). This concept describes the learner working within the practicing healthcare team where patient care and safety is of upmost importance. COPs are widely used to describe the setting for learning in the clinical workplace and enable the student to

identify role models and develop a professional identity. Wenger (1998) describes the student as a legitimate (they have a right to be there) peripheral (qualified healthcare professionals are central to patient care) participant (participation within the community is essential to learning). As they gain experience the learner moves from the periphery towards the centre of the COP.

Within veterinary education socio-cultural theories are also seen as important to WPBL. The veterinary practice has been described as a 'social, relational and discursive' environment (Scholz et al., 2013). An ethnographic study involving students from two veterinary schools within the UK concluded that learning within intramural rotations occurred through social interaction (Magnier et al., 2011). The principles of experiential learning and the socio-cultural perspectives described can be applied to any stage of education. Considering veterinary students in higher education it is also essential to appreciate the requirements of adult learning.

2.8.3 Adult learning theory

The work of Knowles on adult learning theory (1980) is closely linked to experiential learning. He proposes that adults learn best in certain environments, specifically when: learning is self-directed; they can draw on prior experience; the learning is relevant, problem centred and when internal motivation drives their learning. It has since been argued that adult learning is also enhanced when there is opportunity for collaboration (Yardley et al., 2012). Knowles received criticism for over simplifying the principles of adult learning; current thinking describes learning as a continuum with paedagogy and andragogy at either end. However, paedagogy is not exclusive to children and andragogy to adults, there may be circumstances where adults require more supportive learning or where children learn successfully through enquiry based learning approaches (Yardley et al., 2012). This overlap between paedagogy and andragogy may be particularly evident in young adults making the transition from school to university education.

2.8.4 Benefits of WPBL

Drawing on the theories of experiential learning, adult learning and sociocultural learning, WPBL is thought to foster deep learning approaches, encouraging reflection, discussion and relating new knowledge to prior experience (Dale et al., 2008). The consequence of real life problems in the clinical environment drives intrinsic motivation for students (Miller, 1997). Bell et al. (2009b) describe the advantages of WPBL as not only developing knowledge, skills and attitudes but it also results in confidence, motivation and a sense of belonging.

Dale et al. (2008) also claim that experiential learning forms an ideal transition from student to practitioner as students must take responsibility for their learning and development, forming the basis of lifelong learning. Finally, within veterinary curricula WPBL often provides the opportunity for elective placements that are selected by the learner. Consequently they are more likely to be intrinsically motivated about modules that are relevant to their own professional development, this is closer aligned with adult learning theory (Dale et al., 2008).

2.8.5 Challenges of WPBL

It is difficult to argue against learning through experience within the context of a professional vocational course, however, there are challenges to the successful implementation of WPBL.

Dale et al. (2008) argue that despite calls for reform to veterinary education previous attempts have failed due to a lack of alignment between new teaching practices and traditional methods of assessment. A lack of CA results in many of the benefits of experiential learning being lost due to the impact of high stakes assessment.

Some of the challenges to the ideal experiential learning environment result from the logistical problems in the clinic. For example time pressures, competing demands of patients, students, colleagues, research and a varied caseload makes teaching opportunistic and difficult to plan (Spencer, 2003). In their study of veterinary students Magnier et al. (2011) describe similar problems. In addition perceived barriers to effective WPBL included students feeling under confident and not well enough prepared for clinics, and clinicians having to prioritise clinical work and patient welfare over teaching. Scholz et al. (2013) elaborate on the diversity of veterinary practice environments with different species, financial considerations, regional and seasonal variation in caseloads all impacting student learning. In comparison to medical education the lack of public interest and government support, alongside the variable provision for new graduates in their transition to practice, all provide challenges for WPBL in veterinary education (Scholz et al., 2013). The importance of the teacher student relationship should also not be underestimated. Opportunity for discussion with time for reflection is essential and active participation is key to experiential learning. Faced with the pressures of veterinary practice striking the balance can be problematic; teachers need to adapt their approach during and on reflection of WPBL (Magnier et al., 2014). Preparation for the clinic can enhance the student experience demonstrated by the success of the extra mural studies (EMS) driving license used by veterinary students in the UK (Bell et al., 2010). The validation of the EMS driving license involved a small number (42) of third year students from two veterinary schools within the UK. Collating feedback from greater numbers of students from all years of the veterinary course could result in further enhancement of this tool. This would be of benefit to students and practitioners supervising WPBL.

In summary, this section has reviewed some of the theory underpinning WPBL. However the theorists describe what should happen in an ideal world, according to Holmboe et al. (2010) students must complete training in clinical microsystems many of which are dysfunctional. Furthermore the learner changes as they progress through different stages of their career requiring different levels of support (Yardley et al., 2012). It is likely that of the many and varied WPBL environments within veterinary education some could also be described as 'dysfunctional clinical microsystems' failing to identify the needs of individual students and meet the requirements for effective WPBL.

Within medical education, postgraduate education is a compulsory phase that prepares the newly qualified doctor for independent practice through WPBL. It is described as a crucial phase during which responsibility for patient care progressively increases with a simultaneous decrease in supervisor support (Kennedy et al., 2005). As there is no equivalent postgraduate phase in veterinary education, the transition to practice can often be abrupt with a sudden lack of support and increased case responsibility. The following section will explore some of the challenges faced by new graduate vets and the characteristics of a smooth transition to practice.

2.9: Transition to practice

The transition from student to practising veterinary surgeon has been described as a "Make or Break" period (Gilling and Parkinson, 2009) where new graduate vets experience a steep learning curve during their first year in practice (Anon, 2008). Garrett (2009) refers to recent graduates as 'expert students' and considers that a different skill set is required for success in practice. It would therefore appear that despite a shift towards OBE and the introduction of the RCVS day one competences (RCVS, 2014), current ILOs of veterinary education are not generally aligned with the requirements of professional practice. This section will explore some of the challenges facing new graduates during this critical period and the factors that contribute to a successful transition to practice.

2.9.1: What challenges do new graduates face?

A lack of support has been identified as one of the major challenges facing new graduates in their first year in practice (Gilling and Parkinson, 2009, Heath, 2008, Garrett, 2009, Routly et al., 2002). Some employers see a sufficient level of support as a drain both in financial and personal terms (Gilling and Parkinson, 2009) and there is a difference in the levels of support considered sufficient by recent graduates and their employers. Whilst most employers recognise the need for some support, there is an expectation that graduates are proficient in a core set of skills including surgery (Hill et al., 2012). A study of recent graduates found that the majority of participants frequently or always worked unsupervised and 78% stated that they had made a clinical mistake. For some these mistakes had a profound negative effect on them personally; a lack of postgraduate training and support for newly qualified vets is likely to contribute to the mistakes made (Mellanby and Herrtage, 2004).

Both recent graduates and their employers perceive current veterinary education to be insufficient preparation for some aspects of clinical practice. Specifically recent graduates were found to be well prepared in terms of knowledge and problem solving abilities, but less well prepared in terms of practical skills and communication with clients (Gilling and Parkinson, 2009, Anon, 2008).

Many graduates lack confidence in their abilities and therefore seek employment with high levels of support or internships. This is attributed in part to the broad content of the veterinary program with little of the content covered in enough detail to instil confidence (Lofstedt, 2003).

Furthermore, lack of case responsibility as a student contributes to some graduates being under confident in their ability to work independently (Garrett, 2009).

Similar factors are identified by Tomlin et al. (2010); they report a lack of self-confidence, particularly amongst female students when considering the transition to practice. Although students had realistic expectations of the profession, making mistakes, case responsibility and remembering the facts were identified as major concerns (Tomlin et al., 2010). Females were found to have higher expectations of themselves in terms of success and therefore may be more prone to some of the difficulties faced by new graduates (Kogan et al., 2004). This could result in an increased burden for employers considering the current demographic within the student and recent graduate populations (Robinson, 2013).

Finally, aside from the challenges of clinical practice many new graduates find themselves socially and geographically isolated, separated from the well-established network of peer support and friendships they have been used to during their university education (Garrett, 2009).

2.9.2: What makes a successful transition to practice?

Appropriate professional support is paramount to prevent feelings of isolation and depression amongst graduates. In addition, increased support with a formalised review programme may delay the decision to change jobs, leave clinical practice or the veterinary profession completely (Gilling and Parkinson, 2009, Anon, 2008, Routly et al., 2002). To ensure adequate preparation for practice, client communication skills and increased exposure to routine cases were identified by employers as areas for improvement within veterinary education (Routly et al., 2002). The importance of EMS has been emphasized in preparing students for the workplace with a call from the profession for stricter regulation of EMS and more integration of EMS providers with the universities (Anon, 2008).

To ensure a successful transition to practice, several studies have identified important attributes of newly qualified veterinary surgeons (Doucet and Vrins, 2009, Rhind et al., 2011, Bok et al., 2011, Greenfield et al., 2004, Heath and Mills, 2000, Walsh et al., 2001). A common finding is that knowledge is rated as less important than many other attributes such as communication, surgical and clinical skills. Rhind et al. (2011) found that final year students placed more importance on knowledge based attributes than recent graduates who valued generic attributes such as integrity and compassion higher than the students. Client communication skills have been identified as essential in several contexts (Rhind et al., 2011, Schull et al., 2012, Mellanby et al., 2011, Bonvicini, 2010) and should therefore be an essential component in veterinary curricula to ensure a smooth transition.

To date, suggestions for improving the transition to practice are based mainly on the perceptions of new graduates and their employers. Providing evidence for the impact of a curricular intervention or the relationship between undergraduate attainment and performance in veterinary practice is challenging. In two consecutive studies, Matthew et al (2011, 2012) used phenomenography to demonstrate a relationship between veterinary students' conception of clinics and their approach to learning in their final year with their performance during clinic-based

learning and their approach to practice as new graduates. They found that deep learners with cohesive conceptions have higher attainment and are more likely to show a reflective and relational approach to practice.

More evidence of the relationship between undergraduate attainment and performance post graduation can be found within medical education. Tamblyn et al. (2002) found positive relationships between licensure examination scores and practice performance, defined by measuring several patient outcomes. Following a systematic review of the literature, medical school examinations were found to have mild to moderate correlations with practice performance (Hamdy et al., 2006). However, gaining access to patient data in private veterinary practice combined with a lack of compulsory postgraduate training for veterinary surgeons poses a significant challenge for similar studies of predictive validity of undergraduate assessment in a veterinary context.

2.10: Summary of Chapter Two

This chapter has provided a review of the relevant literature relating to OBE, assessment of clinical competence, student learning behaviour and the transition from clinical workplace based learning to clinical practice. To achieve an effective outcome based approach to veterinary education, teaching, learning and assessment methods must be aligned with appropriate learning outcomes for a new graduate veterinary surgeon. As a new school, the SVMS has had the opportunity to develop a novel, student centred curriculum including an appropriately integrated assessment strategy. How prepared a new graduate feels for work as a veterinary surgeon will be influenced by a range of both internal and

external factors. However fostering an appropriate approach to study is essential for students to achieve the intended learning outcomes of the course. Further insight into the achievement of the ILOs will be developed during this research through a deeper understanding of students' learning behaviour in their final year. Using constructive alignment as a conceptual framework, this study aims to investigate the impact of the assessment strategy on students learning behaviour in their final year at the SVMS and in their transition to practice. To address this aim, the following research questions based on the review and the experience of working closely with the students at SVMS have been posed:

- 1. What are the intended learning outcomes of the current veterinary medicine course, based on stakeholder opinion?
- 2. Do teaching, learning and assessment prepare students for the demands of clinical practice?
- 3. What is the impact of assessment methods, used in the final year of study in veterinary medicine, on learning behaviour?
- 4. What is the perception of final year students and employers of new graduates of the requirements for a successful transition to practice?

Chapter 3: Research design

This chapter will provide a discussion of mixed methods research and the justification for its use in this thesis, followed by a brief overview of each of the research methods used. Details of the methods for each study will be provided in a methods section in the relevant chapters. Finally details of ethical approval are provided.

3.1: Mixed methods research

Traditionally researchers have adopted either a quantitative or a qualitative approach to research. These contrasting approaches were considered as opposing and separate entities that should not be combined within any research strategy (Johnson and Onwuegbuzie, 2004).

Within the quantitative paradigm a positivist philosophy exists where objectivity is central to the research. The researcher must remain impartial, avoiding bias to make independent objective measurements. Quantitative research strategies employ traditional scientific methods, are usually hypothesis driven and generate numerical data for statistical analysis (Creswell, 2013). However, this purist approach has come under criticism for disregarding the fact that elements of quantitative research are often subjective for example, selecting research subjects, methods, and interpreting results (Johnson and Onwuegbuzie, 2004).

In contrast the qualitative paradigm places emphasis on the researcher to interpret their experience and observations. Advocates of qualitative research uphold the view that conclusions drawn can never be entirely objective and context free (Johnson and Onwuegbuzie, 2004, Creswell,

2013). Described by Pope and Mays (2008) as the way in which people make sense of society and the world they live in, qualitative research aims to provide explanations for social phenomena through studying people in their natural setting. However, the qualitative approach has also received criticism, especially within healthcare settings where research has traditionally been based on scientific method (Pope and Mays, 2008). Critics have labelled interpretative research as 'unscientific' and argue that conclusions based on the observations and opinions of one individual researcher cannot be valid (Johnson and Onwuegbuzie, 2004, Pope and Mays, 2008).

Mixed methods research involves combining both quantitative and qualitative components within a single study (Pope and Mays, 2008). Although there are clear tensions between the values and methods involved in both qualitative and quantitative research, Lingard et al. (2008) support a mixed methods approach which can generate new insights into complex research problems. Pragmatism places value on the practical application of ideas in specific situations and provides the foundations for mixed methods research. Pragmatists reject dualism and believe that one or more viewpoints are often credible. The research qualitative and appropriate quantitative and qualitative methods are selected to answer the question (Johnson and Onwuegbuzie, 2004).

Within mixed methods research, quantitative and qualitative methods work synergistically. The quantitative component often measures the relationships between variables whereas the qualitative element allows

the topic to be explored in more depth. The findings from both converge to help answer complex research questions (Creswell, 2013). Greene et al. (1989) provide a rationale for mixed methods research, describing five major purposes:

- 1. Triangulation, which describes seeking convergence and corroboration of results from different methods.
- 2. Complimentary, where results provide elaboration and explanation of phenomena in greater detail.
- 3. Initiation, where identification of contradictions leads to revision of the research question.
- Development, where the findings from one method are used to inform the other.
- 5. Expansion, which involves expanding the breadth of knowledge using different methods for different aspects of the research topic.

Many different quantitative and qualitative methods are used within mixed methods research and there are no pre-defined criteria for the stage of the research at which the methods are combined. However, where mixing occurs must be considered within research design; other considerations include the paradigm emphasis and the time ordering of the phases (Lingard et al., 2008, Creswell, 2013, Johnson and Onwuegbuzie, 2004). Quantitative and qualitative phases can be conducted concurrently to provide a more comprehensive analysis of the research question (Creswell, 2013). A sequential design can be used, for example quantitative methods are used first followed by qualitative methods on a smaller sample to provide a detailed explanation of the findings.
Alternatively the qualitative study is conducted initially followed by a quantitative phase to attempt to generalise results to a larger population (Creswell, 2013, Lingard et al., 2008). Finally, it is not uncommon for mixed methods research to follow a cyclical process where data interpretation and validation lead to the need for further data collection, or redefining the research question to be investigated (Johnson and Onwuegbuzie, 2004).

Johnson and Onwuegbuzie (2004) state that quantitative, qualitative and mixed methods research are all superior under different circumstances and as mixed methods are commonly used in educational research they should be widely recognized and accepted. This thesis is within the domain of veterinary educational research. The subjects of this thesis are final year veterinary students and recent graduates; the context is WPBL at the SVMS and within clinical practice. So a mixed methods approach has been adopted where qualitative studies aim to provide greater insight into the learning behaviour of students during their final year and their perception of the transition to practice. A qualitative approach is essential to capture the feelings, motivations and attitudes of the students and graduates within this unique context. The qualitative approach also captures the experience and perceptions of individual students, recognising that the average student does not exist and one opinion is rarely representative of the entire cohort. Quantitative studies have been used to attempt to generalise results to the wider population and also to explore relationships between attainment, approaches to learning and preparation for practice. Table 3.1 provides an overview of the qualitative quantitative components of the studies within this thesis. and

Research question	Qualitative study	Quantitative study	Rationale/comments
	components	components	
What are the intended	Literature search and a staff	Survey of teaching and support	A sequential study where the qualitative
learning outcomes of the	focus group	staff	components were used to generate a
veterinary medicine course?			list of learning outcomes. The online
			survey was then delivered to a larger
			sample of staff to refine and validate
			the ILOs.
Do teaching, learning and	Thematic analysis of free text	Statistical analysis of	A concurrent study where the
assessment prepare students	responses collected via a	categorical data from the	qualitative data are used to explain
for the demands of clinical	survey of recent graduates	graduate survey and	, more in depth the quantitative findings
practice?	.,	undergraduate assessment	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·
		data	
What is the impact of	Thematic analysis of semi-	Statistical analysis of	A sequential study where the
assossment methods, used in	structured interviews with	responses from a student	auantitative component was delivered
the final year of study in	studente	survey and accomment data	to the optime year initially. The
	students	survey and assessment data	
veterinary medicine, on			qualitative study was subsequently
learning behaviour?			conducted on a smaller sample of
			students to explore some of the
			quantitative findings in greater detail.
Part 1: a comparison of			
DOPS and MCQs			

What is the impact of	Thematic analysis of student	A survey of students	A sequential study where the qualitative
assessment methods, used in	focus groups.		focus groups were carried out initially to
the final year of study in			identify student perception of the SCT.
veterinary medicine, on			A questionnaire was developed based
learning behaviour?			on the findings of the focus groups and
			sent to the entire year to triangulate
			and therefore support the findings.
Part 2: the SCT			
What is the perception of	Qualitative survey of final	Statistical analysis of	A sequential study where the qualitative
final year students and	year students and employer	categorical data from the	student survey was delivered initially
employers of new graduates	survey with some qualitative	employer survey and	and used to inform the development of
of the requirements for a	responses	comparison of student and	the employer questionnaire. The
successful transition to		employer qualitative responses	employer survey generated both
practice?		by magnitude coding	quantitative and qualitative data. A
			quantitative approach (magnitude
			coding) was used for comparative
			analysis of the student and employer
			qualitative responses.

Table 3.1: An overview of the qualitative and quantitative components used within the mixed methods approach to research

3.2: Methods of data collection and analysis used within this thesis

3.2.1: Focus Groups

Developed by Merton in the 1940s (Merton and Kendall, 1946) focus groups are comprised of facilitated small group discussions. A collective view of the research subject is produced through interaction between the participants (Cohen, 2007, p.376). Within the focus group social interaction is key to generate data as discussion promotes sharing of ideas and initiates conversations that may not emerge during formal interviews (Pope and Mays, 2008, Braun and Clarke, 2013).

Advantages include participants feeling more at ease within the group environment and therefore more able to express their views; the technique allows the opinions of several individuals to be collated at once and is therefore an efficient method for gathering knowledge within a novel research area and often results in smaller sample sizes required to reach saturation (Braun and Clarke, 2013, Cohen, 2007). Furthermore, Braun and Clarke (2013) suggest that a focus group can simulate a more naturalistic environment compared to a formal interview, which is a key element for qualitative research.

One of the challenges in setting up focus groups is the logistical problem of scheduling a time and place convenient for all participants; this can be overcome to some extent by the use of technology to create virtual focus group discussions (Braun and Clarke, 2013). The group dynamic and choice of facilitator must be given careful consideration; depending on the hierarchical relationship between participants a heterogeneous group can

leave individuals feeling intimidated or less able to express their opinions (Pope and Mays, 2008). Effective facilitation of the discussion is essential and can be difficult to manage to ensure focus is maintained and that discussion can be clearly recorded. Opinion differs regarding optimal group size, Braun and Clarke (2013) suggest 3-8 for optimal discussion.

Within this thesis, focus groups have been used with students to promote discussion in a more relaxed environment than an interview, and with staff that were selected to participate based on their experience and role within the school. Within both groups consideration was given to the relationship between participants and also between the researcher and the group. Due to the role of the researcher within the school a reflexive approach (Hockey, 1993) was taken during data collection and interpretation.

3.2.2: Interviews

Interviews are increasingly used in educational research as a method of collecting qualitative data. The aim of the qualitative interview is to explore meaning and provide a more in depth understanding of the issue in question (DiCicco-Bloom and Crabtree, 2006). However it is important that these studies are informed by methodological frameworks and analysis does not rely on descriptive accounts with minimal interpretation of the data (Reeves et al., 2006). Qualitative interviews can be time consuming to conduct, transcribe and analyse. Although fewer participants are required in comparison to quantitative methods of data collection, Braun and Clarke (2013) state that lack of breadth can be a limitation to this method due to small sample sizes.

Interviews can be classified as structured, semi-structured or unstructured (Pope and Mays, 2008, Braun and Clarke, 2013). Structured interviews usually generate quantitative data whereas DiCicco-Bloom and Crabtree (2006) describe unstructured interviews as guided conversations that originate in ethnographic anthropology. Unstructured interviews are often conducted concurrently with observational field notes made by the researcher. Semi-structured interviews are used in this study. This method generates qualitative data and the interview is based around a set of pre-determined, open-ended questions. However, the conversation can evolve and explore different ideas according to the interviewee responses (Pope and Mays, 2008).

Whilst the qualitative interview calls for a flexible approach that is adapted to each participant and their context (Braun and Clarke, 2013), this has been criticised for being unreliable and therefore questions the reproducibility of the results (Cohen, 2007). Silverman (1993) suggests that piloting interview questions, ensuring the same questions for each respondent and training the interviewers can improve reliability. However these recommendations are not aligned with the ethos of interpretive research.

One of the benefits of the qualitative interview is the freedom to explore attitudes and beliefs, which can provide meaning and reasons for actions. Participants are often more open to discussing issues in depth in a one-toone interview compared to a focus group discussion alongside their peers. However, developing rapport between the interviewer and interviewee is essential (DiCicco-Bloom and Crabtree, 2006) and as with focus groups

any hierarchical relationships must be considered during data collection and analysis.

Pope and Mays (2008) emphasize the importance of the role of the researcher and their relationship with the participants. The interviewer must avoid leading questions based on pre-conceived ideas and data interpretation must result in a true account according to the interviewee. Bias is an acknowledged cause of invalid results in qualitative research. Sources of bias can include inappropriate sampling, poor interview technique, misunderstanding of the questions by the interviewee and misinterpretation of the responses by the interviewer (Cohen, 2007).

Within this study the researcher works closely with students and the assessment process in the SVMS. It is therefore important that a reflexive approach is adopted and the relationship between interviewer and interviewee is considered during data collection and analysis.

3.2.3: Surveys

Questionnaires are used to survey a larger sample of the population compared to the focus groups and interviews previously discussed. The nature of the questions within questionnaires is variable. Closed questions with fixed responses generate quantitative data whilst open questions with free text responses generate qualitative data. Quantitative questionnaires are amenable to statistical analysis and therefore more suited to large sample sizes. Qualitative data generated from free text responses must be analysed using appropriate qualitative techniques. This can be time consuming and qualitative questionnaires are therefore more suited to

smaller sample sizes. A mix of both free text and fixed response questions is common in survey research (Braun and Clarke, 2013).

Surveys can be self or researcher administered and either paper based, email or online. These different methods of administration have their own advantages and limitations. For example self-administered questionnaires allow the participant to respond in their own time without the pressure of the researcher being present, however, there is no opportunity to ask for clarification over questions. Whilst online surveys allow rapid responses and target large numbers, they may exclude groups of the population without access to the internet (Cohen, 2007).

Questionnaire based surveys are commonly used within educational research. However, there are limitations to this method that must be considered in questionnaire design and data interpretation if meaningful conclusions are to be made. Opinions, perceptions and attitudes provided in response to a questionnaire do not necessarily indicate behaviour (Cohen, 2007). For example a student might strongly agree with the statement "It is important to work hard throughout the year" but this response does not measure how much work they actually do. A lack of flexibility, particularly in fixed response questions and poorly worded questions are common pitfalls in survey-based research. Piloting of questionnaires before data collection can address many of these issues (Braun and Clarke, 2013).

3.2.3.1: Rating scales

Introduced in 1932 by Rensis Likert (1932), Likert scales are a type of rating scale commonly used in questionnaires to measure the range or

intensity of a response. Usually between 4 and 7 response options are provided, generating categorical data that is often more meaningful when considering complex issues than that generated from dichotomous questions. Rating scales are therefore useful for measuring attitudes, perceptions and opinions (Cohen, 2007) and are used within the studies in this thesis.

Despite their widespread use, analysis and interpretation of these types of data is inconsistent and often controversial. One common but incorrect assumption is that of equal intervals between categories. Likert responses should be treated as ordinal data and therefore be analysed using nonparametric statistical tests (Cohen, 2007). Another limitation is the tendency for participants to select the neutral mid-point; respondents who do not wish to appear extremist often favour this strategy. One way to minimise this effect is to select a scale with an even number of response options that can force the respondent into a decision (Cohen, 2007).

3.2.3.2: Psychological measures in surveys

Many questionnaires have been developed to measure psychological parameters such as personality type and learning styles. The advantage of using these "off the shelf" tests is that they have been previously validated and shown to be a reliable measure of a given attribute. This is useful in studies where sample sizes are too small to allow factor analysis and other statistical measures to demonstrate validity. However, consideration must be given to the context of their use as validity may be challenged when using a questionnaire in a different environment or with different participants. Examples of existing questionnaires designed to measure learning style include the Approach to Study Inventory (Entwistle et al., 1979), the Course Evaluation Questionnaire (Ramsden, 1991), Kolbs Learning Styles Inventory (Kolb, 1976) later adapted by Honey and Mumford (1992) and the Study Process Questionnaire (SPQ) developed by Biggs (1987b) and used within this thesis.

The SPQ is used in study 3 (chapter 5), a comparison of students' learning approach to DOPS and MCQ assessments. The justification for its use will be discussed within this chapter on research design. The questionnaire was chosen for use in this thesis as it has been previously used and validated within medical education (McManus et al., 1998, McManus et al., 1999) and also with students completing a health sciences degree course (Donnon and Hecker, 2010). In the author's opinion the SPQ provides a useful measure of approach to learning (surface, deep or achieving) without being too complex. The achieving strand was considered to be important in the context of the veterinary degree course where assessment is thought to be demanding. It was anticipated that many students would resort to an achieving approach and so the revised version of the SPO was not used. Each approach is characterised by a motivation and a strategy. Motivation was considered to be an important attribute to explore given the nature of the vocational veterinary degree course where students are hopefully motivated not only by the academic qualification but also by the profession they will enter post-graduation.

3.2.4: Thematic analysis

Thematic analysis (TA) describes the process of identifying themes and patterns within qualitative data in response to a research question (Braun

and Clarke, 2013). Historically TA has been considered as a method integral to other theoretically driven qualitative approaches. However, Braun and Clarke (2006) described TA as a method in its own right, and it is now widely accepted in a range of contexts including psychology, healthcare science and veterinary educational research for example, Coe et al. (2012), Baillie et al. (2010).

TA is a flexible approach in that methods of data collection are not prescribed, it is used to analyse qualitative data from a range of different sources. A potential weakness of TA is the lack of interpretation resulting in a largely descriptive account of the results. However, with careful planning and when used within existing theoretical frameworks, TA can be more than just content analysis providing a rich and detailed view of complex situations.

Codes and themes are identified during analysis by one of two main approaches. Inductive analysis involves working from the data upwards where themes are often described as 'emerging' from the data. Alternatively a deductive approach can be used where a theoretical framework is used to determine *a priori* codes that are applied to the data. Inductive and deductive approaches are often combined in one analysis (Braun and Clarke, 2013) this combined approach is utilised within the studies in this thesis.

3.2.5: Sampling

An appropriate sampling strategy ensures that where possible the results of a study are generalizable to the wider population. When selecting a sample population several factors must be considered. Firstly the size and

representativeness of the sample are fundamental to generalizability. Secondly consideration must be given to access to the subjects within the population, so that the planned study is feasible. Finally the sampling strategy must be decided (Cohen, 2007, p.110).

Generally, in a random sample of any given population the larger the sample the more representative it will be of the population and the more heterogeneous a population is the larger the sample required (Cohen, 2007, p.101). Sample sizes tend to be larger in quantitative studies compared to qualitative studies (Braun and Clarke, 2013). Within qualitative research, the point of saturation following data analysis often determines the number of participants. In contrast quantitative research often involves a sample size calculation, performed prior to the study, based on the degree of accuracy required (Sandelowski, 1995).

Convenience or opportunistic sampling is based on the availability of participants (Brown and Edmunds, 2011, p.84) and has been used to select participants within this thesis. Students were requested to volunteer to take part in the research and that can result in bias. Volunteers may have their own motivation for participating, for example an interest in the research or dissatisfaction with the course. Their opinions may not therefore be representative of the student body as a whole.

Purposive sampling involves selecting participants deliberately based on their possession of certain characteristics, experience or knowledge (Cohen, 2007, p.114). This method has been adopted in this thesis to recruit staff participants. The results may not be generalizable to all SVMS

staff however, those selected had an in depth knowledge of the SVMS course based on a range of experience within the school.

Both opportunistic and purposive sampling strategies are non-probability sampling methods. Sample selection is not random and therefore the chances of an individual within the population being selected to participate are not equal. Results obtained and conclusions drawn from this research therefore are not automatically generalizable to the wider population.

Snowball sampling involves selection of a small sample of participants with the required characteristics for the study. These participants are then asked to identify further individuals who meet the requirements for the study. This process is repeated until an appropriate sample size is reached (Cohen, 2007, p.116, Brown and Edmunds, 2011, p.84). This sampling strategy was used to recruit practitioners to maximise the number of participants.

Other methods utilised to increase sample sizes include increasing accessibility of questionnaires by producing both electronic and paper based formats. Response rates to surveys have been shown to increase by as much as 50% by follow up telephone calls and sending reminder mailings (Richardson et al., 2007). Finally, although recompense for participation is controversial (Braun and Clarke, 2013) offering incentives is often used to increase response rates and numbers of volunteers. These methods have been used in the research in this thesis to maximise response rates.

3.3: Ethical approval

The research within this thesis involves data collection from students and staff of the SVMS and also veterinary practitioners not employed by the university. It is important to consider the potential impact of the research on the participants. The primary researcher is a member of SVMS staff and all participants, in particular students and staff, must feel able to speak freely without being concerned over the consequences of their participation. In addition participation can be time consuming and the impact of this must be kept to a minimum. Therefore the logistics and methods of data collection, confidentiality and anonymity of responses were considered prior to commencement of the research.

This research was approved by the SVMS ethical review panel (approval number 361 11 04 18, details of consent and ethical review are provided in appendix 1) and conducted in accordance with the University of Nottingham Code of Research Conduct and Research Ethics and the guidance outlined in the 'Revised Ethical Guidelines for Educational Research' by the British Educational Research Association (BERA, 2011).

Details of consent obtained for each individual study are provided within the relevant chapters.

3.4: Summary of Chapter 3

A pragmatic approach using mixed methods has been adopted to address the research questions within this thesis. This chapter has provided an overview of the mixed methods approach with reference to the studies in this thesis and a discussion of the individual research methods used. In

the following chapters the specific details of each study method will be provided.

Chapter 4: Indirect Outcomes Assessment

4.1: Introduction

Defining and assessing the intended learning outcomes of a course (ILOs) is an essential first step in the investigation of constructive alignment (CA) within a curriculum. This chapter describes this first step: the development and implementation of the SVMS outcomes assessment (OA). The first study answers research question 1:

1. What are the intended learning outcomes of the veterinary medicine course?



Figure 4.1 illustrates where study 1 fits within the overall research plan.

Figure 4.1. A model of constructive alignment highlighting study 1: defining the desired skills and attributes of the SVMS graduate.

An outcomes-based approach was adopted in the original design of the SVMS veterinary curriculum, and therefore a set of programme learning outcomes existed within the course documentation. However, they were written prior to the school opening in 2006 and were not considered to be appropriate for use in the outcomes assessment exercise. The existing outcomes within the programme specification were written by a small number of staff prior to the course being delivered. These programme outcomes consisted of school objectives regarding resources and delivery methods in addition to ILOs for the students. Therefore, neither were they a list of ILOs nor did they necessarily reflect the current SVMS curriculum. The RCVS day one competences were considered as the ILOs for the OA. However, they are not specific to the SVMS graduate and were under review at the time the research was carried out. It was therefore decided to review the ILOs for the purpose of the OA and produce a set of outcomes that were a more appropriate reflection of the current SVMS curriculum. This was done following a systematic review of the literature and collating the opinions of SVMS staff, this process is described in section 4.2 of this chapter.

Section 4.3 provides an account of the graduate survey used for the indirect assessment of the defined ILOs. This second study aims to answer research question 2:

2. Do teaching, learning and assessment prepare students for the demands of clinical practice?

The results describe how well prepared the graduates felt for clinical practice in relation to each of the ILOs. Their perception of the SVMS

assessment strategy is also explored as well as the relationship between undergraduate attainment and the extent to which they felt prepared for their current role in veterinary practice. Figure 4.2 illustrates where this second study fits within the overall research plan.



Figure 4.2. A model of constructive alignment highlighting study 2: the SVMS outcomes assessment.

4.2: Study 1: Defining the ILOs of the SVMS graduate

There were three stages in the process of defining the ILOs of the SVMS graduate. Firstly a systematic review of the literature was conducted; the second stage consisted of a focus group to collate SVMS staff opinion. Finally a survey was carried out to validate the final list of ILOs. The ILOs are expressed as desired characteristics, skills or attributes, this format

was considered appropriate for the purpose of the graduate survey and is consistent with similar studies (Walsh et al., 2001, Doucet and Vrins, 2009, Mellanby et al., 2011). For example the learning outcome: "perform a full clinical examination on all commonly encountered species" is written as "clinical examination skills" followed by a brief explanation of the level of detail expected.

4.2.1: A systematic review of the literature

A systematic review of the literature was conducted to produce a list of previously identified skills and attributes required by veterinary graduates commencing a career in practice. The method used was based on the BEME protocol as used by Rhind et al. (2008). The following search terms were used to search the databases: *graduate attributes; day one competences; outcomes assessment and transition to practice*. Boolean search terms were used to refine the results of the searches. Table 4.1 summarises the databases and other sources searched within the review.

Databases			Other sources
CAB Abstracts (Ovid)			Google Scholar search engine
MEDLINE present	(Ovid)	1948-	JVME
Web of Scie	nce (ISI)		Veterinary Record
			SVMS survey of employers and other stakeholder groups ¹
			SVMS course documentation
			RCVS Day one competences

Table 4.1: Databases and other sources searched in the literature review

The following inclusion criteria were applied to the search results:

- 1. Articles must be in the context of veterinary education or veterinary practice.
- A list of ILOs of a course or desired graduate attributes must be included.
- 3. The list of ILOs or attributes must be for the entire programme and not just specific to one module or course component.

13 articles were identified which matched the inclusion criteria and were used to develop the desired attributes of the SVMS graduate. These articles are listed in Table 4.2. The initial list of attributes identified was reviewed for overlap or repetition, resulting in a list of 130 attributes assigned to one of 22 groups according to the type of skill or attribute. A

¹ A survey was conducted by the SVMS, prior to its opening in 2006, to employers and other stakeholder groups to facilitate outcome-based curriculum design. Participants were asked to provide details of commonly encountered conditions and cases they considered new graduates should be able to deal with, as well as additional topics they felt should be included in the curriculum

table containing all the attributes identified and the groups to which they were assigned is included as appendix 2.

Title	Author(s)	Journal	Year
The Importance of Knowledge, Skills and Attitude Attributes for Veterinarians in Clinical and Non- clinical Fields of Practice: A Survey of Licensed Veterinarians in Quebec, Canada	Doucet & Vrins	JVME	2009
<i>The Transition from Veterinary Student to Practitioner: A "Make or Break" Period</i>	Gilling & Parkinson	JVME	2009
<i>Criteria used by Employers to Select New Graduate Employees</i>	Heath & Mills	Aus Vet J	2000
Gender Differences and the Definition of Success: Male and Female Veterinary Students' Career and Work Performance Expectations	Kogan et al.	JVME	2004
Perceptions of Clients and Veterinarians on what Attributes Constitute 'a Good Vet'	Mellanby et al.	Vet Record	2011
<i>The Transition into Veterinary Practice: Opinions of</i> <i>Recent Graduates and Final Year Students</i>	Rhind et al.	BMC Med Ed	2011
<i>Veterinary Students' Perceptions of Their Day-One Abilities before and after Final-Year Clinical Practice-Based Training</i>	Schull et al.	JVME	2011
<i>Defining the Attributes Expected of Graduating Veterinary Medical Students</i>	Walsh et al.	JAVMA	2001
Employer and New Graduate Satisfaction with New Graduate Performance in the Workplace within the	Butler	Can Vet J	2003

First Year Following Convocation from the Ontario Veterinary College

Predictors of Employer Satisfaction: Technical andDanielsonetJVME2012Non-technical Skillsal.

Use of Alumni and Employer Surveys for Internal Doucet & Vrins JVME 2010 Quality Assurance of the DVM Program at the University of Montreal

An Alumni Survey to Assess Self-Reported CareerHardin& JVME2007Preparation Attained at a US Veterinary SchoolAinsworth

Outcomes Assessment at Tufts University School ofKleine et al.JVME2002Veterinary Medicine

Table 4.2: Papers identified in the literature search that met the inclusion criteria of the systematic review

4.2.2: The focus group

A focus group was run with the aim of producing a set of desired attributes for the Nottingham veterinary graduate, as defined by SVMS staff. A purposive sample of six members of staff attended the focus group, including three clinicians, two non-clinical academics and the school manager. The staff members were selected to ensure the group had a broad knowledge and range of experience of the SVMS course. Between the focus group participants they had experience of the course from the first intake of students, student welfare and support, tutoring, the role of module convener, student EMS placements and all forms of teaching including facilitation of small group work and teaching students in clinics during university rotations.

Prior to commencing the focus group participants were given 2 copies of a letter informing of them of the study and requesting their consent to participate (see appendix 3 for a copy of the letter). One signed copy was retained by the researcher, participants kept the second copy for their records.

The participants were given an explanation of the aim of the focus group and were first asked to write down their own list of SVMS graduate attributes without discussion with the rest of the group. Following this a list of attributes agreed by the group was produced on a whiteboard. Compilation of this list involved an iterative process where discussion, facilitated by the researcher, resulted in the initial list being reviewed and amended by the group. This process continued until all members were agreed that the list was a complete list of essential SVMS graduate attributes. The whiteboard was photographed and individual attribute lists were collected and checked against the group list to ensure the list was inclusive of all opinions. A list of the attributes produced in the focus group can be found in appendix 4, along with photographs of the whiteboard.

4.2.3: The staff survey

The results of the focus group were cross-referenced with the results of the literature search. A final list of 25 graduate attributes was produced. A purposively sampled panel of 33 SVMS and clinical associate staff were surveyed to validate the final list of graduate attributes. An online

questionnaire was delivered using SurveyMonkeyTM (http://www.surveymonkey.com). Participants were asked to rate each of the attributes for importance on a scale of 1 to 5 and also to provide any comments they had on the individual outcomes. Figure 4.3 provides an example section from the questionnaire.

5. Diagnostic reasoning abilities

(Including compiling an appropriate differential diagnosis list; decision making and identification of common and important conditions)
1. Should not be expected of Nottingham graduates
2. Of modest value for Nottingham graduates
3. A valuable attribute for most Nottingham graduates to have attained
4. Very important for Nottingham graduates
○ 5. Essential for all Nottingham graduates
Additional comments:

Figure 4.3: An example section from the online questionnaire asking staff to rate each of the attributes for importance to the SVMS graduate.

Nineteen staff responded to the survey, a response rate of 57.6%. All attributes were considered important and therefore none were removed from the list. A summary of the ratings for each attribute is provided in table 4.3. The additional free text comments from respondents resulted in some minor changes to the wording of some of the attributes. Details of the comments and actions are provided in table 4.4.

Summary of attribute	Median	Mode	Min.	Max.	Mean	Std.
Summary of attribute						Dev
Clinical examination skills	5.00	5.00	4.00	5.00	4.89	.32
Veterinary Clinical Knowledge	5.00	5.00	4.00	5.00	4.84	.37
Clinical and surgical skills	5.00	5.00	4.00	5.00	4.79	.42
Implementation of euthanasia	5.00	5.00	3.00	5.00	4.79	.54
Recognising own limitations	5.00	5.00	4.00	5.00	4.79	.42
Communication skills	5.00	5.00	4.00	5.00	4.79	.42
Professional responsibilities	5.00	5.00	4.00	5.00	4.74	.45
Diagnostic reasoning abilities	5.00	5.00	4.00	5.00	4.68	.48
Case management and therapeutics	5.00	5.00	4.00	5.00	4.68	.48
Knowledge of basic science	5.00	5.00	3.00	5.00	4.63	.60
Application of ethics to animal	5.00	5.00	3.00	5.00	4.58	.61
welfare						
Promoting preventative healthcare	5.00	5.00	3.00	5.00	4.47	.77
Knowledge of veterinary legislation	5.00	5.00	3.00	5.00	4.42	.77
Seek and utilise new information	4.00	5.00	3.00	5.00	4.37	.68
Emergency and critical care cases	4.00	4.00	3.00	5.00	4.32	.67
'Robustness' – stress management	5.00	5.00	3.00	5.00	4.32	.82
Problem solving and critical thinking	4.00	4.00	3.00	5.00	4.26	.73
Interpersonal and teamwork skills	4.00	5.00	3.00	5.00	4.16	.83
Veterinary public health & zoonoses	4.00	4.00	2.00	5.00	4.05	.91
Maintaining a work life balance	4.00	4.00	3.00	5.00	4.00	.75
Flexibility	4.00	3.00	3.00	5.00	3.89	.81
Population health and epidemiology	3.00	3.00	2.00	5.00	3.74	.99
IT skills	4.00	4.00	3.00	5.00	3.68	.67
Veterinary practice management	3.00	3.00	2.00	5.00	3.63	.90
Research skills	3.00	3.00	2.00	5.00	3.42	1.01

Table 4.3: Importance ratings for each of the graduate attributes: descriptive statistics. 5 = maximum and 1 = minimum importance. Where multiple modal values exist the smallest value is given.

Attribute	Summary of comment(s)	Action
Knowledge of underpinning basic science (Including normal structure and function of healthy animals; molecular, biochemical and cellular mechanisms; mechanisms of defence; animal management, nutrition and husbandry systems)	The relevance of the basic science was questioned as was the amount of detail and level required.	Wording changed to "Knowledge of underpinning basic science at a level appropriate for your current role"
Veterinary Clinical Knowledge (Including disease aetiology and pathophysiology; mechanisms of disease transmission; knowledge of medical and surgical management)	The level of detail required is not clear.	Wording changed to "Veterinary clinical knowledge at a level appropriate for your current role"
<i>Clinical and surgical skills (Including diagnostic imaging skills; basic surgical skills; anaesthesia skills and fluid therapy)</i>	It is not clear as to how independent the graduate needs to be on day 1, is a certain level of supervision assumed?	It is likely that this will vary depending on the graduate and type of practice. Therefore the following phrase was added to the initial instructions: "Thinking about the demands of your current role, use the following options to tell us how prepared you feel for your job in each area"
Dealing with emergency and critical care cases (Including triage of emergency cases)	Need to add detail to explain	Amended wording: "(Including initial assessment

	what is meant by triage.	and triage of emergency cases)"
Promoting preventative healthcare	This should be written preventive not preventive	Looked at definitions and examples. Both are used interchangeably, preventative used more frequently therefore no changes made
Awareness of professional responsibilities to patients, clients, colleagues, society (Including understanding the needs and maintaining respect for all clients; engagement in CPD and life long learning; putting EBVM into practice and respectfully challenging bad practice; maintaining a safe working environment; showing a caring attitude towards colleagues and shaping the future of the profession)	Bad practice should only be challenged if EBVM actually exists and there should be respect for valid differences in opinion between clinicians.	Existing wording does state "respectfully challenging bad practice" Therefore due to the volume of information already included in brackets it was decided to leave the wording as is.
'Robustness' – the ability to cope with pressure and stress	This should include knowing when to ask for help.	This is addressed in attribute 13: Recognising limitations. The word 'cope' has been changed to 'manage' to emphasize an active response is required
<i>Systematic approach to problem solving and critical thinking</i>	Overlap with diagnostic reasoning and case	This was discussed during the focus group, it was considered important to include this in addition to clinical reasoning. In addition it was rated highly

	management.	(mean 4.3 median 4) therefore no changes made.
IT skills	This needs defining to make it	As this is likely to vary according to the type of
	clear exactly this entails	practice and individual roles the wording has been
	clear exactly this entails.	phactice and individual roles the wording has been
		changed to: 11 skills required for your current
		role
Research skills	One comment suggested further	Left unchanged.
	definition to explain evaluation	
	of current literature rather than	
	ability to carry out scientific	
	research. However, others	
	suggest the latter is important	
	as they are awarded a	
	BVMedSci degree.	
Empathy	Empathy is not included	This is already included within communication
		skills. Therefore no change
Numeracy	Should numeracy be included as	Drug dose calculations are specifically stated
	a separate attribute?	within attribute 6: Case management and
		therapeutics. Numeracy skills are also integral to

		financial management within attribute 11.
		Therefore numeracy is not included as a
		standalone skill but required as an applied skill
Mider role within enciety		
wheer role within society	Ability to play a role in wider	A professional responsibility to society is included
	society, for example charity	in attribute 17. Whilst this would be a
	work should be included	commendable attribute, a wider role was not
		considered to be an achievable or measurable ILO
		for all students.
Compassion for animals and the application of	Ethics should be linked with	This was not changed. It was considered to be
ethics to animal welfare	critical thinking not just welfare	covered adequately within the existing wording
		and including ethics within a systematic approach
		to problem solving and critical thinking would
		change the meaning of this attribute

Table 4.4: A summary of the comments received and changes made to the list of graduate attributes following the staff survey.

4.2.4: Results of study 1: defining the ILOs of the SVMS graduate.

The final set of desired skills and attributes of the SVMS graduate are shown in figure 4.4:

1. Knowledge of underpinning basic science

(Including normal structure and function of healthy animals; molecular, biochemical and cellular mechanisms; mechanisms of defence; animal management, nutrition and husbandry systems)

2. Veterinary clinical knowledge

(Including disease aetiology and pathophysiology; mechanisms of disease transmission; knowledge of medical and surgical management)

3. Clinical and surgical skills

(Including diagnostic imaging skills; basic surgical skills; anaesthesia skills and fluid therapy)

4. Clinical examination skills

(Within all species and including animal handling and an understanding of animal behaviour)

5. Diagnostic reasoning abilities

(Including compiling an appropriate differential diagnosis list; decision making and identification of common and important conditions)

6. Clinical case management and therapeutic strategies

(Including making therapeutic decisions; prescribing and dispensing appropriately and legally; performing drug dose calculations and reproductive management)

7. Dealing with emergency and critical care cases

(Including initial assessment and triage of emergency cases)

- 8. Promoting preventative healthcare
- 9. Population health and epidemiology

- **10. Dealing with veterinary public health and zoonotic issues** (Including notifiable diseases and an understanding of the importance of food safety)
- **11.** Recognition for need and implementation of euthanasia
- **12.** Veterinary practice and financial management (Including financial awareness in case management)
- 13. Recognising own limitations and seeking help and advice where needed (Including reflective practice and being open to constructive criticism)
- 14. Ability to seek, critically evaluate and utilise new information from a variety of sources
- **15.** Knowledge of current veterinary legislation
- 16. Compassion for animals and the application of ethics to animal welfare
- 17. Awareness of professional responsibilities to patients, clients, colleagues, society

(Including understanding the needs and maintaining respect for all clients; engagement in CPD and lifelong learning; putting EBVM into practice and respectfully challenging bad practice; maintaining a safe working environment; showing a caring attitude towards colleagues and shaping the future of the profession)

18. Communication skills

(Including empathy and communication with clients; written communication skills for example clinical records and referral letters; communication with veterinary colleagues and paraprofessionals)

19.	Interpersonal and teamwork skills
	(Including Leadership skills; showing initiative in the workplace;
	time management skills and confidence to take control of a
	situation)
20.	'Robustness' – the ability to manage pressure and stress
21.	Flexibility and ability to cope with change
22.	Self-reflection and maintaining a work life balance
23.	Systematic approach to problem solving and critical thinking
24.	IT skills required for your current role
25.	Research skills

Figure 4.4: The desired skills and attributes of the SVMS graduate.

These desired skills and attributes were used as the basis for the graduate survey, described in the following section.

4.3: Indirect outcomes assessment

4.3.1: The content of the Graduate Survey

The final graduate survey included 3 sections: the veterinary course at Nottingham, the way in which students were assessed and general information. The survey was approved by the senior management team and sent out with a covering letter to all graduates from the Dean of the School requesting their participation. A copy of the covering letter is included as appendix 5. In section 1, "The veterinary course at Nottingham", graduates were asked to rate on a Likert type scale how prepared they felt with respect to each of the ILOs (determined in study 1) in the context of their current employment. One further question asked them to rate how well prepared they felt overall for their current role. In section 2, "How you were assessed", they were asked to rate the different assessment formats utilized at SVMS as preparation for their current role. Section 3, "General information", included five general questions about their employment experience since graduation. Space was provided after each question for optional free text responses.

Example questions from sections 1 and 2 of the graduate survey are included in figure 4.5. A copy of the complete survey is included in appendix 6.

Section 1: The veterinary course at Nottingham

Thinking about the demands of your current role, use the following options to tell us how prepared you feel for your job in each of area:

Excellent preparation, I am able to carry out all requirements of my current job

Good preparation, I have needed minimal support or training since graduation

Adequate preparation, I felt somewhat prepared although have needed to utilise support and training since graduation

Poor preparation, insufficient coverage of this area in the course to be adequately prepared, significant support and training post-graduation have been necessary

Not at all prepared, the course did not prepare me at all to carry out the requirements of my current job in this area, further support and training have been essential

2. Veterinary Clinical Knowledge at a level appropriate for your current role.

(Including disease aetiology and pathophysiology; mechanisms of disease transmission; knowledge of medical and surgical management)

26. Overall competence to do the job for which you were hired
Section 2: How you were assessed

Please tell us your views on the methods of assessment at Nottingham. Consider the way in which you prepared, the experience of sitting the assessment and the feedback you received for each of the following assessments and rate how useful it was in preparation for your career by selecting one of the following options:

Excellent preparation, very relevant to my current role
Good preparation, relevant to my current role
Adequate preparation, somewhat relevant to my current role
Poor preparation, little relevance to my current role
Not at all prepared, not relevant to my current role

2. DOPS

(Directly observed procedural skills performed on clinical rotations)

4. OSCEs/OSPEs

(Objective structured clinical/practical examinations sat in 1^{st} , 2^{nd} and 3^{rd} year)

Figure 4.5: Example questions from sections 1 and 2 of the graduate survey

4.3.2: Graduate Survey distribution

The graduate survey was sent out to all (87) 2011 graduates in December 2012 as a pilot study. The pilot remained open for 4 weeks and results were reviewed before sending the final version to all (89) 2012 graduates in February 2013.

All graduates were given the opportunity to complete the survey on paper and return in a prepaid envelope, or complete the survey online using SurveyMonkey[™] (http://www.surveymonkey.com). Postal surveys were numbered and each number linked to an individual graduate. The graduates were asked to supply their name on the online version, otherwise the paper and online surveys were identical.

Both cohorts were given 4 weeks to complete the survey. A reminder email was sent out 2 weeks before closure of the survey and a link posted on the alumni Facebook page to increase the number of responses.

Data from both online and paper based responses were anonymised and entered into an excel database for analysis.

4.3.3: Data analysis

Quantitative data were analysed in SPSS Statistics, version 17. Likert-type descriptors were converted to numerical responses where 5 = excellent preparation, 4 = good preparation, 3 = adequate preparation, 2 = poor preparation and 1 = not at all prepared. Descriptive statistics were run on all Likert-type responses and values of Skewness and Kurtosis calculated to check for normality. Reliability coefficients (Cronbach's alpha) were calculated for sections 1 and 2 of the survey. Friedman's ANOVA was used to compare the responses to different ILOs and assessment formats. Mann Whitney U tests were used to compare the responses of 2011 and 2012 graduates and the responses of male and female graduates. A Kruskal-Wallis test was used to compare responses from graduates working in different practice types (small animal, equine, farm animal and mixed practice).

Spearman's rho correlation coefficients were calculated to identify any correlation between attainment in undergraduate assessment and responses to section 1 of the graduate survey. Attainment in the following undergraduate assessments was selected for correlations:

BVMedSci: overall mark for years 1-3 of the course

BVM BVS: overall mark for years 4 and 5 of the course

Portfolio: mark awarded for the portfolio assessment in year 5

SCT: combined mark for the SCT papers in year 5

MCQ: combined mark for the MCQ papers in year 5

For all statistical analysis, significance was measured as $p \le 0.05$

The free text responses from the survey were assigned an initial code and used to support the quantitative data, the qualitative data was then further analysed by thematic analysis (Braun and Clarke, 2006). The computer assisted qualitative data analysis software, QSR International NVivo version 10 (2012), was used to facilitate analysis of the free text responses.

4.3.4: Results from the graduate survey

Twenty eight responses from the 2011 graduates (response rate 32.2%) and 38 responses from the 2012 graduates (response rate 42.7%) were received, a total of 66 responses and an overall response rate of 37.5%.

Following the pilot study a question was added to the electronic version of the survey asking respondents for their name, so the results could be compared to undergraduate assessments. No further changes were made to the survey following the pilot study and responses from both 2011 and 2012 graduates were used in all analyses. 4 of the 2011 graduates who responded to the online survey could not be identified; similarly 2 of the 2012 graduates who responded only completed section 1 of the survey and so responses from these 6 graduates were not included in the correlation with the undergraduate assessment. Cronbach's alpha coefficient for section 1 was .87 and .66 for section 2.

The following sections present the results of each of the three sections of the survey followed by the correlation of undergraduate attainment and perceived preparation for practice.

4.3.4.1: Section 1: The veterinary course at Nottingham as preparation for practice

The graduates generally felt well prepared by the Nottingham course with respect to the ILOs. A summary of the graduates' responses to all 25 ILOs and the statement "Overall competence to do the job for which you were hired" are provided in table 4.5.

Summary of ILO	Mean	SD	Median	Min	Мах
16. The application of ethics to animal welfare	4.72	0.43	5.00	3.00	5.00
18. Communication skills	4.71	0.70	5.00	3.00	5.00
13. Recognising limitations and seeking help	4.61	0.61	5.00	3.00	5.00
4. Clinical examination skills	4.58	0.59	5.00	3.00	5.00
11. Implementation of euthanasia	4.50	0.61	5.00	3.00	5.00
17. Awareness of professional responsibilities	4.49	0.64	5.00	3.00	5.00
19. Interpersonal and teamwork skills	4.39	0.68	4.50	3.00	5.00
14. Ability to utilise new information	4.36	0.65	4.00	3.00	5.00
24. IT skills	4.29	0.87	4.00	1.00	5.00
21. Flexibility and ability to cope with change	4.27	0.67	4.00	3.00	5.00
23. Problem solving and critical thinking	4.26	0.60	4.00	3.00	5.00
5. Diagnostic reasoning abilities	4.21	0.64	4.00	3.00	5.00
26. Overall competence to do the job	4.21	0.62	4.00	3.00	5.00
2. Veterinary clinical knowledge	4.20	0.66	4.00	3.00	5.00
22. Self reflection and work life balance	4.18	0.82	4.00	2.00	5.00
1. Knowledge of underpinning basic science	4.17	0.62	4.00	3.00	5.00
8. Promoting preventative healthcare	4.12	0.71	4.00	2.00	5.00
20. Robustness	4.09	0.74	4.00	2.00	5.00
12. Veterinary practice and financial management	4.05	0.79	4.00	2.00	5.00
25. Research skills	4.03	0.70	4.00	2.00	5.00
3. Clinical and surgical skills	3.99	0.73	4.00	2.00	5.00
9. Population health and epidemiology	3.89	0.75	4.00	1.00	5.00
6. Clinical case management and therapeutics	3.86	0.77	4.00	3.00	5.00
10. Veterinary public health and zoonoses	3.70	0.83	4.00	2.00	5.00
15. Knowledge of current veterinary legislation	3.61	0.75	4.00	2.00	5.00
7. Dealing with emergency and critical care cases	3.59	0.77	4.00	2.00	5.00

Table 4.5: A summary of graduates' responses showing preparation for practice. 5 = Excellent preparation and 1 = Not at all prepared. Seven items are highlighted: the 3 ILOs for which they felt most and the 3 ILOs for which they felt least prepared along with the responses to the statement: "Overall competence to do the job for which you were hired".

The combined mean for all 25 ILOs was 4.19; the mean for overall competence to do the job for which they were hired was 4.36. There was a significant difference comparing the responses for the 3 ILOs they felt most prepared and the 3 ILOs they felt least prepared ($\chi^2(5)=183.16$, p=0.00). These results suggest that graduates feel well prepared for clinical practice overall, however there are areas where they feel significantly less well prepared.

There were no statistically significant differences in the responses from 2011 graduates compared to 2012 graduates or comparing responses from male and female graduates.

When comparing responses for graduates working in different types of practice, there were significant differences for ILO 5, diagnostic reasoning abilities which was rated lowest by equine and farm practitioners and highest by those in mixed practice. ILO 10, dealing with veterinary public health and zoonotic issues was rated lowest by those in farm animal practice and highest by the small animal practitioners. Finally ILO 22, self-reflection and maintaining a work life balance, rated lowest by those in equine practice and highest by those in mixed practice. These results are presented in table 4.6.

	Small	Equine	Mixed	Farm		
ILO	animal	practice	practice	animal	Chi-	P value
	Mean	Mean	Mean	Mean	Square	
	(n=30)	(n=6)	(n=18)	(n=8)		
5	4.07	4.00	4.56	4.00	8.74	.033
10	3.93	3.17	3.72	3.13	14.57	.002
22	4.30	3.33	4.44	3.75	9.93	.019

Table 4.6: Differences in responses from graduates working in different types of practice

The free text comments generally supported the quantitative results for the highest rated ILOs demonstrated by the quotes in table 4.7. Participants are referred to by cohort (11 or 12) followed by number, for example 11.1, 12.2 etc.

ILO Quote

	"I never realised how much I would rely on our communication
18	training from Day One after graduating - THANK YOU for preparing
	me!" [12.7]
4	"Practice makes perfect! Glad that we had plenty of chances to
т	examine 'normal' animals." [11.23]
13	"Felt that Pebble pad helped with reflection and knowing personal
10	<i>limitations etc."</i> [12.17]

Table 4.7: Quotes to support the highest rated ILOs

However, some graduates identified opportunities for development even in these highly valued aspects of the course, demonstrated in table 4.8.

ILO Quote

16	"Too much theoretical ethics, not enough practical cases/examples" [11.23]
18	"We didn't cover referral letters - this would have been useful and paraprofessional communication" [12.31]
4	Excellent for dogs/cats/horses/cows etc but not good for rabbit, Guinea pigs, small furries, any exotics." [12.33]

Table 4.8: Quotes highlighting areas for improvement within the highest rated ILOs

The free text responses provided explanations as to why some graduates felt less prepared in response to the lowest rated outcomes, demonstrated in the quotes provided in table 4.9.

ILO Quote

Table 4.9: Quotes that explain why some graduates feel less prepared in respect to the lowest rated outcomes				
	more responsibility would ease this transition I feel." [11.18]			
6	rotations, this was a big leap into day one in practice - some			
	"Having been given so little case responsibility during final year			
10	animal." [12.12]			
10	"Haven't really had much dealing with this as work in solely small			
	being taught e.g. pet passport regulations." [11.27]			
15	"Although legislation has changed since these things were			
	emergency medicine was given." [11.18]			
7	out of hours experience of this. However, our basic teaching of			
	"Final year rotations, having done the farm elective, included no			
	experience them all before you leave" [11.7]			
7	situations are difficult to prepare for at vet school as you can't			
	"I have required some guidance since graduation. But emergency			

Following a thematic analysis of all free text comments three themes were

identified: confidence, the course and managing the transition to practice. Graduates described being confident and also lacking confidence regarding specific skills or topics. These comments did not focus on one area but related to a range of ILOs and demonstrate individual variation in how confident they are in their own abilities. The following quotes demonstrate how two graduates feel very differently about their ability to perform clinical and surgical skills

"Very confident since starting work" [11.12]

"I did not feel very confident with my surgical skills and needed support from my colleagues." [11.1]

Graduates described their confidence in specific subject areas, for example:

"I feel farm animal nutrition and associated issues is not something I am comfortable discussing with farmers." [12.2]

They also commented on their confidence and with more generic skills:

"Need confidence sometimes when dealing with superiors" [11.12]

The second theme identified was the course. The following quotes provide evidence for specific areas of the course that graduates felt prepared them well for practice or areas that they felt needed improvement. Similar to the theme of confidence, contrasting opinions exist amongst graduates.

"I feel anaesthesia was an area which could be improved. Performing them in a more practical manner would be good." [11.7]

"Diagnostic imaging = poor" [12.15]

"Diagnostic imaging, anaesthesia and fluids excellent" [11.16]

Some comments suggest that areas of the course lack contextualisation and graduates have struggled to apply the knowledge and skills they gained to clinical practice. This quote in response to veterinary clinical knowledge illustrates this point:

"Good knowledge not enough practical practice/application" [12.15]

There are apparent deficiencies in the SVMS curriculum and graduates have relied on external resources to fill these gaps, for example:

"Although I probably learnt most about this (promoting preventative healthcare) through private study and EMS" [11.2]

"Limited surgical training, EMS more helpful" [12.15]

"The things I learnt about using a computer I learnt at school not from uni" [12.12]

The final theme relates to the transition from student to clinical practice. Many graduates describe this experience as stressful and challenging, for example:

"Although I feel I have been well prepared for managing the pressures and stress of life in practice, this is still something I feel all new graduates will always struggle with early in their career, no matter how much preparation they are given." [11.6]

However this is not unanimous, some graduates felt they coped well during this transition:

"Before starting my job I worried that I would not be able to cope with change, however, I have surprised myself as I have coped remarkably well." [11.1]

There was a range of levels of support that the graduates felt they required in their first job, although surgical skills was the area most frequently quoted as requiring additional support. The type of practice in which they are employed has an impact on the transition for some graduates. The following quote illustrates how some topics appear to be more comprehensively delivered in certain species areas:

"Majority of small animal diseases were well covered, however, being in mixed practice I feel some of the commoner large animal and equine diseases/conditions were not taught in sufficient depth." [11.18]

Case responsibility appears to be a significant change that many graduates struggle to cope with, demonstrated in the final quote:

"I personally have struggled with the pressure - unsure how much more Vet School could do as ultimately you are never the responsible vet as a student" [11.2]

4.3.4.2: Section 2: student assessment as preparation for practice

The clinical reasoning exam, the DOPS and the OSPE/OSCE were perceived as the best preparation for clinical practice and most relevant to the graduates' current role. PPS coursework, the portfolio and the AHW presentation were perceived as least helpful in preparation for clinical practice and least relevant to the graduates' current role. A summary of all responses to the SVMS assessments is provided in table 4.10. The combined mean of the assessment formats was 3.68 suggesting that overall graduates felt the assessments prepared them adequately for practice and were relevant to their current role. However, there is a significant difference in the graduates' perceptions of the 10 assessment formats ($\chi^2(9) = 211.13$, p=0.00) suggesting that some individual assessments do not fit this description.

There was no significant difference in perception of assessment between 2011 and 2012 graduates, or between male or female respondents. When comparing graduates working in different types of practice, there is a significant difference in the perception of the clinical reasoning exam ($X^2 = 10.169$, p = 0.017), graduates in equine practice rated this form of assessment lower in terms of preparation for their current role, graduates working in farm animal practice rated this format highest.

Assessment	Mean	SD	Median	Minimum	Maximum
	4.40	0.64	<u> </u>	2.00	<u> </u>
clinical reasoning exam	4.48	0.64	5.00	3.00	5.00
DOPS	4.47	0.78	5.00	2.00	5.00
OSCE/OSPE	4.36	0.68	4.00	2.00	5.00
Research project	3.67	1.04	4.00	1.00	5.00
Spot tests	3.63	0.92	4.00	1.00	5.00
MCQ	3.58	0.71	4.00	2.00	5.00
SCT	3.37	0.96	4.00	1.00	5.00
AHW presentation	3.23	0.94	3.00	1.00	5.00
Portfolio	3.13	1.18	3.50	1.00	5.00
PPS coursework	2.89	0.78	3.00	1.00	4.00

Table 4.10: The relevance and extent to which SVMS assessment formats prepare graduates for their role in clinical practice. 5 = Excellent preparation and very relevant, 1 = no preparation or relevance.

In addition to the quantitative rating of each assessment format, the free text comments provide further detail to the graduates' perception of the way in which they were assessed. The highest rated format was the clinical reasoning exam, which graduates found both challenging and relevant to clinical practice:

"One of the few free text format exams we sat which I found more challenging and valuable." [12.13]

"Realistic cases very relevant to working in practice" [11.9]

The DOPS assessment was generally valued, however, several graduates found assessor variation a disadvantage to this format:

"Good and very relevant to job. Think there needs to be some consistency in assessments - some members of our rotation group failed certain DOPS which others passed whilst doing exactly the same thing and making the same mistakes - depended on the assessor." [12.27]

The following quote provides evidence that the DOPS can have a negative impact on learning in the clinics:

"It felt like the only times we were allowed to attempt practical things with animals on rotations was because of the DOPS and it shouldn't be that way." [12.36]

The OSPE/OSCE assessments were thought to be a good basis for learning practical skills and useful preparation for the latter stages of the course: "Really good prep for clinical years and building confidence with practical work in all species" [12.27]

There was mixed opinion regarding the MCQ assessment format, some graduates valued this assessment for testing the course content:

"I think that MCQ's test such a breadth of knowledge that they are very good." [12.16]

Many raised concerns over the relevance to clinical practice and the impact of the MCQ exams on their learning:

"Rapid test of breadth of knowledge but not applicable to real life" [12.9]

"I found these questions examined only facts and therefore the best way to pass was to cram - but I had usually forgotten quite a lot by a few weeks later! More an exam on how good your short-term memory is" [12.7]

Although some graduates felt the SCT was a valid form of assessment, the majority of the comments describe how graduates found this format confusing, for example:

"I still do not fully understand how these are supposed to work." [11.12]

The portfolio, similar to the MCQs, received mixed feedback from the graduates. Some of the positive comments result from experience of working as a vet post-graduation:

"My opinion has changed since Vet School! I appreciate now how much importance should be placed on communication and reflective skills." [12.16]

Many of the graduates see the value in reflection, however felt the portfolio was too time consuming, at the expense of other learning:

"Very different to the PDP. Encourages reflection but in a very time consuming manner." [11.2]

Some failed to see the value in the process of completing a reflective portfolio and also questioned the reliability of the final portfolio assessment:

"The portfolio and viva is a complete waste of time - I feel the time I spent on that could have been used more effectively on revision for actual

stuff I was going to use in life. The viva mark is also very hit and miss as to which lecturers you were assessed by. There were definitely higher marks with certain lecturers than there were with others." [12.10]

The PPS coursework was the lowest rated assessment format. Graduates failed to see the relevance to their work in clinical practice, other than the business plan assessed in year 4:

"Year 4 (Business Game) was useful/relevant, otherwise generally not that applicable." [12.31]

4.3.4.3: Section 3: the graduate experience

The respondents to the survey were working in a range of different types of practice, illustrated in figure 4.6.



Figure 4.6: The distribution of graduates working in different types of practice.

Most graduates (87.5%) felt that their experience of work had matched up to their expectations. 36.5% of graduates stated that their eventual choice of work had been influenced by the Nottingham course and 95.2% of graduates would still study veterinary science at Nottingham if they could repeat their time at university. These results are shown in figure 4.7.



Figure 4.7: Responses to 3 questions about the SVMS graduate experience

The free text comments in this section summarise the graduates' opinions about their overall experience at SVMS and are generally positive. The minority who stated they wouldn't choose to study veterinary science at Nottingham implied this was due to their experience of working as a vet rather than the Nottingham course:

"If I studied veterinary, I would still pick Nottingham" [11.2]

And whilst there are areas in which improvements need to be made, the course is thought to be good preparation for practice:

"I don't think the course was perfect but speaking to graduates from other courses we were much better prepared at Nottingham - Thank you!" [11.9]

4.3.4.4: Undergraduate attainment and preparation for practice

This final section reports the results of the correlation between undergraduate attainment and the graduates' perception of their preparation for practice. There was a significant negative correlation between ILO 2, veterinary clinical knowledge and BVMedSci performance (r = -0.256, p = 0.050); ILO 4, clinical examination skills and BVMedSci performance (r = -0.294, p = 0.024). There was a significant positive correlation between ILO 8, promoting preventative healthcare and portfolio performance (r = 0.260, p = 0.045); ILO 13, recognizing own limitations and seeking help and advice where needed and portfolio performance (r = 0.251, p = 0.054); ILO 21, flexibility and ability to cope with change and SCT performance (r = 0.307, p = 0.017).

There were no other significant correlations between undergraduate performance and perceived preparation for practice, however several patterns could be identified and are illustrated in table 4.11. There were more positive correlations between preparation for practice and performance in the portfolio than any other assessment format. Veterinary specific ILOs were more negatively correlated with undergraduate performance, whereas more generic skills were more positively correlated.

ILO	BVMedSci	BVMBVS	MCQ	SCT	Portfolio
Knowledge of basic science					
Veterinary Clinical Knowledge	*r= -0.256				
Clinical and surgical skills					
Clinical examination skills	*r = -0.294				
Diagnostic reasoning abilities					
Case management and therapeutics					
Emergency and critical care cases					
Promoting preventative healthcare					*r = 0.260
Population health and epidemiology					
Veterinary public health & zoonoses					
Implementation of euthanasia					
Veterinary practice management		li se			
Recognising own limitations					*r = 0.251
Seek and utilise new information					
Knowledge of veterinary legislation					
Application of ethics to animal		ŀ			
Professional responsibilities					
Communication skills					
Interpersonal and teamwork skills		ŀ			
Robustness					
Flexibility		Ì		*r = 0.307	
Maintaining a work life balance					
Problem solving and critical thinking		li de la companya de			
IT skills					
Research skills					
Overall competence					

Table 4.11: The relationship between undergraduate attainment and perceived preparation for practice with respect to each of the ILOs. Positive correlations are shown as green, negative correlations as red and the blank cell represents a correlation of 0. R-values are included for any significant correlations.

4.3.5: Overview and implications of chapter 4

The first step in the investigation of CA within the curriculum was to define the ILOs of the SVMS veterinary course. This involved a systematic review of the literature and SVMS staff focus group. The 25 ILOs identified were then validated using a staff survey. The ILOs were expressed as attributes or skills for the purpose of the outcomes assessment. This does not conform to previous instruction on writing learning outcomes (Spady, 1994) but is more consistent with published OA in veterinary medicine (Walsh et al., 2001, Mellanby et al., 2011). The ILOs were closely aligned to the existing learning outcomes within the programme specification.

The ILOs were used within section 1 of the graduate survey. This section had high internal consistency (alpha > 0.7) which shows the items are interrelated with low measurement error. The alpha value for section 2 was lower than 0.7, which suggests the items are less well correlated, but is also attributable to fewer questions in comparison to section one.

Generally graduates felt well prepared for their roles in clinical practice with respect to the 25 ILOs and this is consistent with other studies of veterinary graduates within the UK (AVS, 2012, MORI, 2013). Although graduate perception is not a direct measure of ILOs, these initial results suggest that curricular alignment exists to a certain extent. Areas for potential improvement within the curriculum were identified, consistent with the purpose of OA (Kochevar, 2004, Trent, 2002). This information has been fed back to module convenors and teaching providers, thereby completing the cycle and ensuring that the OA fulfils its purpose of curriculum evaluation and improvement.

There were some differences between the ratings for graduates working in different types of practice. This is perhaps not that surprising considering the varied nature of clinical practice including the provision of out of hours care, the nature of the clients and the amount of time spent working alone away from the practice in large animal work. The challenges associated with transition to different types of veterinary practice could be an area for future investigation.

Some graduates lacked confidence in specific areas although this is not entirely consistent with the findings of previous studies where graduates have been found to be lacking in areas such as communication, interpersonal skills and business awareness (Routly et al., 2002, Danielson et al., 2012, Doucet and Vrins, 2010). In contrast the SVMS graduates rated their preparation in communication skills, teamwork and professional responsibility very highly. Consistent with previous studies (Garrett, 2009), for the participants in this study, one of the most challenging aspects of working as a newly qualified veterinary surgeon is case responsibility. The SVMS course had not completely prepared them for practice in this respect. However this is problematic for all veterinary courses, as during undergraduate clinical placements responsibility for each case seen will ultimately lie with a qualified veterinary surgeon and not the student. There is therefore a need for novel methods of delivery and assessment that require the student to make decisions regarding diagnoses and clinical case management, where there are real consequences to their actions but no compromise to animal welfare. The use of high-fidelity simulation has been used to this effect within medical education (Gordon et al, 2001, Barry Issenberg et al, 2005) and should be

considered as a potential strategy for enhancing clinical decision-making amongst veterinary students.

To achieve CA within a curriculum assessment methods must be considered alongside delivery and course content. Graduates rated authentic assessment methods, which require students to perform clinical skills or answer questions in the context of clinical cases, highest for preparation and relevance to their current role. Concerns were raised over the MCQ format that drives a surface approach to learning for some students and the purpose and format of the SCT was reported to be confusing. These results suggest that alignment of the assessment with the rest of the curriculum and ILOs has not been optimally achieved. The SCT and MCQ formats will be the subject of investigation in studies 3 and 4 in the next chapter.

The portfolio was one of the lowest rated assessment formats, contrary to previous studies which have shown the portfolio to be a valid and student centred method of assessing clinical competence (Driessen et al., 2005). However, there appears to be an increased appreciation of this format post-graduation following a period of time in practice. Furthermore the relationship between portfolio performance and perceived preparation for practice is a positive one. These results do not provide direct evidence of high attainment in the portfolio directly resulting in an increased preparation for practice. However, these preliminary data suggest that the portfolio may have a different educational impact to the other assessment formats within the study and this warrants further investigation.

Negative correlations were found between many of the veterinary specific ILOs and undergraduate attainment. This may be due to problems previously identified with self-evaluation studies (Doucet and Vrins, 2010, Woolliscroft et al., 1993) and other measures of performance in veterinary practice would provide useful comparative data. Alternatively this relationship may be another indicator that alignment of SVMS assessment methods could be enhanced so that high attaining students are genuinely better prepared for the challenges of clinical veterinary practice.

In summary, graduates feel well prepared for practice and on the whole are satisfied with the SVMS course. However, elements of the assessment strategy do not appear to be aligned with the ILOs of the course. Some of these elements, namely MCQs, DOPS and the SCT, will be investigated further in chapter 5.

Chapter 5: The Educational Impact of

Assessment on Final Year Students

The outcomes assessment exercise in chapter 4 identified areas of the SVMS assessment strategy that were not aligned with the rest of the curriculum and the ILOs of the course. This included the use of the MCQ, which was often perceived as testing recall of information and the SCT which many graduates found confusing. Both the MCQ and SCT formats were rated lower than DOPS as preparation for clinical practice and these formats are the focus of the research within this chapter. The educational impact of other components of the SVMS assessment strategy has not been investigated within the thesis as the decision was made to focus on the final year and transition to practice. The results from chapter 4 suggest the educational impact of the portfolio assessment may differ from other assessment methods. The portfolio assessment is unique in that it is used to different effects within different educational settings. Within the SVMS the aim is to assess professionalism and the portfolio assessment does not focus on other areas of clinical competence. There has been an increase in the delivery and assessment of professional skills within recent years in veterinary curricula (Bonvicini, 2010, Mossop and Gray, 2008, Hecker et al, 2012). However, assessment of professionalism, including associated attitudes and behaviours, is controversial and challenging (Hodges et al., 2011, Mossop and Cobb, 2013). Furthermore the format and guidelines on the use of the SVMS professional portfolio have changed significantly since the School began in 2006. For these reasons it was decided that assessment of professionalism, a complex entity which is not a specific focus for this research, would not be investigated further within this thesis.

The aim of the studies reported in chapter 5 was to develop a greater understanding of the educational impact of these assessment methods by answering research question 3:

3. What is the impact of assessment methods, used in the final year of study in veterinary medicine, on learning behaviour?

The impact these assessments have on learning behaviour will enable us to establish a better understanding of their effects on CA within the curriculum. Firstly, section 5.1 describes study 3, a comparison of the educational impact of the MCQ exam and DOPS. In section 5.2 the student perception and impact on learning behaviour of the SCT is investigated. Figure 5.1 illustrates where both of these studies fit within the overall research plan:



Figure 5.1: A model of constructive alignment highlighting studies 3 and 4: the impact of SVMS assessment on learning behaviour.

5.1: Study 3: The educational impact of assessment: a comparison of workplace based learning and multiple choice question formats.

5.1.1 Introduction

Students' approach to learning has been discussed previously (chapter 2) as a flexible entity that changes in response to a variety of contextual factors. The aim of study 3 is to investigate the extent to which assessment format influences approach to learning in final year students. Two contrasting assessment formats have been selected: the MCQ, which is used to test knowledge and is completed online by students at the

SVMS and DOPS, a form of WPBA where students are assessed on their practical ability in the context of real cases. The Study Process Questionnaire (SPQ) (Biggs, 1987b) was chosen for the initial measurement of student approach to learning in response to the two formats. The SPQ identifies three approaches to learning, deep, achieving and surface approaches. Further details of the motivations and learning strategies associated with each approach are provided in chapter 2. Justification for the use of the SPQ has been discussed previously in chapter 3. The relationship between approach to learning and exam performance is also reported. This is followed by a qualitative analysis of student interview data to provide a more in depth understanding of students' motivations and behaviours in response to the MCQ compared to the DOPS assessments. Looking more closely at the effects of the MCQ and DOPS formats on students' approach to learning will enable a greater understanding of the impact of these assessments on CA in the curriculum.

5.1.2: Methods

5.1.2.1: Data collection

An online survey was sent to all (87) students in the final year of the veterinary medicine course in April 2011. The survey was a shortened, 18 item, version of the SPQ previously validated in a study of over 1300 medical students across five different universities within the UK (Fox et al., 2001). The questionnaire was piloted to check meaning in the context of a course in veterinary medicine, the final version sent out to students is included in appendix 7. Participants answered each item twice: once in

preparation for the MCQ examination (the finals examination) and once in preparation for the DOPS (study during rotations). Optional free text response boxes for were included for students' comments. The responses were collected using SurveyMonkey[™] (http://www.surveymonkey.com).

Within the survey, students were also asked if they would be willing to participate in an interview, 34 students agreed to participate, of which a purposive sample of 19 were invited to interview and 16 students attended. Students were selected so that participants reflected the overall gender balance and rotation experience within the year. Face to face, semi structured interviews were conducted in person to allow in depth exploration of the student perception of assessment and the mechanism of impact on their learning. The questions used to generate discussion within the interviews are included within appendix 8. Each interview was recorded with a digital voice recorder and transcribed verbatim. The interviews typically lasted between 30 minutes and 1 hour. All survey and interview participants were offered an incentive for participation.

5.1.2.2: Data analysis

The results of the SPQ were analysed using SPSS version 17. Internal reliability coefficients (Cronbach's alpha) were calculated for the three approaches to learning. In addition correlation coefficients (r) between the MCQ and DOPS for each approach to learning were calculated (Donnon and Hecker, 2008). The Wilcoxon signed ranks test was used to compare approach to learning scores between DOPS and the MCQ examination and an effect size estimate, *r*, was calculated. A Spearman's rho correlation coefficient was calculated to determine the relationship between approach

to learning score and academic performance in the MCQ examination at the end of their 5th year; this could not be repeated for the DOPS as the assessment format used in this context does not generate a numerical score.

The qualitative data were analysed using thematic analysis (Braun and Clarke, 2006) with the aid of the computer assisted qualitative data analysis software, QSR International NVivo version 9, (2010). A deductive approach was used, applying a theoretical framework to identify predetermined themes based on student approaches to learning as described by Biggs (1987a). In addition to the *a priori* codes used initial codes were also identified using inductive analysis. Collaborative coding of three transcripts by a second researcher resulted in an iterative review process until the code structure was agreed and then applied to the remaining data set (Saldaña, 2009). The pre-determined and initial codes were then grouped into over-arching themes.

5.1.3: Results

A total of 70 students completed the shortened study process questionnaire with respect to both MCQ and DOPS; this represented a response rate of 80.5%. Of those, 6 students chose to remain anonymous and were not therefore included in the comparison of study approach to exam performance.

5.1.3.1: Internal Reliability

The internal reliability (Cronbach's alpha) for all 18 items of the shortened SPQ was .64 for MCQ and .69 for DOPS. The Cronbach's alpha values for the three study approaches ranged from .35 to .72 and the correlation

coefficients (r) for study approaches between MCQ and DOPS ranged from .57 to .70 (table 5.1).

	Reliability Cronbach's alpha (ɑ) MCQ	Reliability Cronbach's alpha (ɑ) DOPS	Spearman's rho correlation coefficient r(MCQ, DOPS)
Surface Approach	.35	.43	.57**
Deep Approach	.62	.72	.60**
Achieving Approach	.51	.56	.70**

Table 5.1: Internal reliability and correlation coefficients for study approach scores for DOPS and MCQ

** Correlation is significant at the 0.01 level

5.1.3.2: Study approach scores for DOPS compared to MCQ examination

There were significant differences between deep and surface approaches to learning for the DOPS and the MCQ; however the achieving approach did not differ significantly between the two formats. The mean average score for deep approach to learning was higher for DOPS compared to the MCQ. Whereas the average score for surface approach to learning for DOPS was lower than for the MCQ. A summary of the approach to learning scores for the DOPS and MCQ is provided in table 5.2.

	DOPS a	verage	MCQ a	average	Wilcoxon	Р	Effect
	scores		score	s	Signed	value	size
					Ranks		(r)
					Test (z)		
	mean	median	mean	median			
	(SD)	(IQR)	(SD)	(IQR)			
Surface	14.5	14.0	16.2	18.0	-5.048	.000**	44
approach	(2.81)	(7.0)	(3.06)	(7.0)			
Deep	19.4	19.0	18.0	18.0	-3.299	.001*	28
approach	(4.12)	(5.0)	(3.73)	(5.0)			
Achieving	15.1	15.0	15.3	15.0	830	.406	07
approach	(4.3)	(6.0)	(4.09)	(5.0)			

 Table 5.2: Study approach scores for DOPS compared to MCQ
 IQR = interquartile range; SD = standard deviation

 *P<0.01, **P<0.001</td>
 **P<0.001</td>

5.1.3.3: Academic performance and approach to learning

There was a significant positive correlation between performance in the MCQ examination and an achieving approach to study, r = .31, p = .014. No further significant correlations were found between performance in the MCQ examination and approach to study. Similarly there were no significant correlations between approach to study for the DOPS and performance in the MCQ examination. These data are presented in table 5.3.

Spearman's rho correlation coefficient between study approach and year 5 MCQ examination performance

-	Study approach for MCQ	Study approach for DOPS	
Surface Approach	07	01	
Deep Approach	.18	.11	
Achieving Approach	.31*	.24	

Table 5.3: The correlation between approach to learning for both the MCQ and DOPS assessment formats and MCQ examination performance *P<0.05

5.1.3.4: Qualitative analysis of student interview data

Two related overarching themes were identified from the qualitative data analysis: the effects of the MCQ and DOPS on approach to learning and factors that influence learning behaviour. Within the first theme, effects of the MCQ and DOPS on approach to learning, *a priori* codes were formed to identify deep, surface and achieving learning strategies. In addition the impact of the DOPS on experiential learning was described. The second theme arose mainly following inductive coding where factors influencing approach to study were identified in the data. Motivation, for which *a priori* codes were assigned, was also included within the second theme. Table 5.4 provides a summary of the two main themes and their constituent sub-themes resulting from the qualitative analysis. The examples of quotations from students are referred to as Q1, Q2, etc. Students are referred to by gender and number, for example F1, M2, etc.

Factors Influencing study
behaviourEffects on study behaviourMotivation*Deep strategy*PurposeSurface strategy*ConsequenceAchieving strategy*AcceptabilityExperiential learning approachFeedbackTime pressureStudent variationStudent variation

Table 5.4: A summary of the themes induced and deduced from the qualitative data. * Deduced themes from Biggs' model of approach to learning (Biggs, 1987).

Theme 1: The effects of the MCQ and DOPS on approach to learning

Deep, surface and achieving learning strategies were identified from the discussions with the students. They are presented here in association with the two assessment formats. The impact of DOPS on experiential learning is also discussed.

The DOPS were thought to encourage a deep learning strategy. Q1 illustrates this deep approach to learning during clinical rotations:

Q1 "It's not so much sitting down with a book and learning it from scratch, but I think for most people it's trying to relate everything you see

when you see practice on rotation, to what you know and build on it and go and look up what you are not sure about." [F2]

In preparation for DOPS students endeavour to develop an increased depth of understanding, evident in Q2:

Q2: "I had equine anaesthesia DOPS, because I felt the need to go and read everything there was about equine anaesthesia to make sure I was going to get that right" [F7]

The provision of a list of tasks for the DOPS increased the breadth of study. Rather than learning only for their assigned assessment task, some students used the entire list as a set of objectives to achieve before graduation (Q3).

Q3: "but at the same time, because they're very defined tasks, you have to make sure you include the whole group of DOPS and not just the one you're assessed on" [F2]

The MCQ format was more commonly associated with surface strategies. Students are aware that this is not best practice for constructive learning which will aid their development as a practitioner. However, they described adopting surface strategies in preparation for the MCQ examination, as this was deemed necessary to be successful (Q4 and Q5).

Q4: "I hope I retain the key things, but a lot of the little detail, no I'll forget very quickly because of the way you have to revise for the exam,

you've got two weeks right before them to try and cram it all in so that you can click the right box" [F3]

Q5: "I thought I'm not sure if this is benefiting me cos I'm shoving so much into my brain each day that actually I think it's just pushing stuff out, whereas if it had been maybe a bit more spread out or a bit less, I would have actually benefited from it more" [F4]

For some students this provides a conflict between the way in which they want to study and the strategies they feel they need to adopt to be successful; this was sometimes perceived as unfair, as described by the student in Q6:

Q6: "I think at the moment it sort of biases towards people who can absorb facts, absorb facts, absorb facts, and then spew it out for a week of assessment, rather than sort of testing the more rounded sort of characteristics of an individual and a sort of deeper understanding of the material" [M4]

In contrast with the MCQ, DOPS was rarely associated with a surface approach. But a surface strategy was occasionally used to prepare for DOPS when there was a lack of opportunity to complete the assessment tasks in the time available in clinics. In Q7 the student describes how DOPS drove her to adopt a surface approach due to perceived lack of time and opportunity.

Q7: "I would just go and cram for it and just try and get any exposure to that skill if I hadn't had much exposure to it until I did the DOPS. It was sheer panic. It really was. I can't describe how scared we were that we weren't going to get them done. That's the only thing we thought about. On a Monday morning when you started rotations, am I going to get a DOPS, am I going to get to do it. That really drove us. But then having said that, the last two or three rotations, cos we'd finished, we got them all done by end of March, we actually really relaxed and we had more time to sit and learn about the cases we'd seen and chat about the cases" [F11]

Examination success is obviously important to students and in preparation for both MCQ and DOPS they described a change in learning behaviour to achieve maximum success. However, the ways in which these behaviours manifest was different for each format. For the MCQ exam an increase in surface strategy techniques was reported (Q4 and Q5) and a decrease in deep learning strategy (Q8)

Q8: "I always start my revision as I should mean to go on, which is sort of going through things in-depth and trying to understand them. Inevitably I run out of time and have to resort to flicking through lectures and skimreading things. Often I have found that that is a terrible policy I know, and it won't serve me in the long-term, it's got me a lot of extra marks because I'll recognise a picture from a lecture on an exam and it'll just be in my extremely short-term memory. And I know that that can work for me here. Obviously I'm going to do that before an exam cos I know it
might get me the marks, but I don't feel happy that that's the way I'm learning" [F10]

The influence of DOPS on learning behaviour was often seen in their strategic manipulation of the system (Q9). This achieving strategy was recognised but not adopted by all students; resulting in a feeling of resentment and the perception that students who 'play the system' are at an unfair advantage.

Q9: "I'll be honest, I did tactically pick certain DOPS so they could only fall on certain rotations. And I tactically picked the easier DOPS out of different skill areas, cos that's just sensible. You don't do a bitch spay if you can do an FNA (fine needle aspirate) do you" [M5]

The students in this study are required to pass the MCQ examination in each of three different species areas. Their preference for working within one particular field often led to an achieving strategy (Q10).

Quote 10: "cos I'm interested in small animals, whereas with equine and farm, sometimes I might not be quite aware of all the important things. So I'd ask other people about it, just sort of discuss with each other what the important diseases were, and really focus on those and make sure I have a good understanding of those, and then everything else comes as sort of a bonus" [F4]

The students described situations where the DOPS enhanced their experiential learning in the clinics by providing a focus for a rotation,

increasing dialogue between clinicians and students and through encouraging students to seek opportunities to practise skills (Q11).

Q11: "cos I think you always have a tendency, especially when there's not a lot going on, to just almost phase out and just see stuff and just watch it go through. Or you watch a skill and someone doing something or you do it yourself, but you don't think how exactly you do it and make a note. But then when you get into the DOPS where you've got to follow the steps and get it right, it really sort of makes you think can I do all the steps. Yeah it really changes the way you look at the sort of skills.... it just kind of enhances your approach to it" [M1]

However, for some DOPS placed an emphasis on skill acquisition at the expense of knowledge. In Q12 the student describes how his clinical skills have improved during the year driven by the DOPS assessment:

Q12: "cos I feel my knowledge has sort of waned over final year. My skills have sort of improved but my knowledge has waned compared to fourth year in some areas, like the areas that you don't really need to know that much, and then those areas were still tested in finals, which is fine. I just think if you'd have been tested as you went along every rotation, tested on your knowledge, you'd have learnt as you went along rotations" [M5]

The impact of DOPS is not always positive, for some students DOPS can provide too much of a focus and appears to limit experiential learning (Q7). Students occasionally described the staff as concentrating on assessing DOPS at the expense of clinical teaching. In Q13, the student

describes her experience of being assessed on collecting and analysing a urine sample:

Q13: "So you tore yourself away from something interesting to go get a urine sample cos you wanted to practise cos you really wanted to pass. Yet there's going to be a hundred chances to get a urine sample, but they might be doing something really interesting over there. It was a bit of a hard dilemma cos you felt like it shouldn't be the focus, but yet at the back of your mind you think I've got to pass this so I need to practise it, and if they're going to give me a chance to practise, I'm definitely going to do it" [F9]

Theme 2: Reported influences on approaches to learning

Analysis of the transcripts revealed several factors which influenced participants' learning behaviour (table 5.4). These influencing factors are discussed in theme 2:

Motivation: The students in this study demonstrated a deep motivation to learn as a result of their desire to become a 'good vet' and provide the best service to their clients and ensure the welfare of animals in their care. In addition some described deep, intrinsic motivation to learn for their own satisfaction and a 'love of learning' (Q14)

Q14: "learning is something I fully enjoy and I just like to challenge myself and keep moving forward. So I suppose it's important as a vet, but for my point of view it's probably even more important as a person" [F2]

Generally, there was little evidence of surface motivation from the student interviews, although this is apparent in the lead up the end of year exams (Q15).

Q15: "We were saying earlier that the things we've been learning in fifth year are good for going into practice. Well I was learning them so I've got them in practice, but I was also learning them because I was scared of failing, especially when we come up to finals. My revision leave was purely and simply so I did not fail cos I was so scared of failing and not graduating with my mates" [F11]

Some also described a competitive element associated with the final examination. This achieving motivation is demonstrated in Q16.

Q16: "it gives you feedback about your own performance and your own understanding, knowledge and whereabouts you are, especially whereabouts you are in the year. I think that's quite important cos we're quite a competitive year" [F11]

For others motivation to learn comes from their own personal gain and the satisfaction of high attainment (Q17).

Q17: "I don't think I've ever failed an exam and I've always wanted just to get the best out of what I do. I think I've always done well. To then not do well is just sort of self-failure [laughs]. Just a personal thing" [F7]

Purpose of assessments: There was an ongoing conflict between learning for the assessment and learning to be a competent practitioner. Some students discussed the emphasis changing towards the end of the course

as they realised that becoming a competent clinician is more important to them than their examination results. However, they have to overcome the assessment hurdle and this still had a large impact on their learning strategies. Students perceived the MCQ to be testing knowledge that relies on recall of facts resulting in an increased surface strategy (Q4, Q5 and Q6). In contrast DOPS were seen as an assessment of competence and also encouraged reflection for some students, illustrated in Q18.

Q18: "I think they (DOPS) are generally a good way of assessment. I think it does make you think about what you need to know and certainly you sort of get used to saying whether you're competent or not and then that kind of transfers to other skills and you sort of think well can I do this, could I do it on day one" [M1]

Consequence of the assessment: It has already been shown that the participants considered that high stakes assessment encouraged a surface approach to learning (Q4 – Q8). Where the stakes were perceived to be lower, a deeper and more reflective approach was apparent (Q1 – Q3 and Q18). DOPS had additional consequences that impacted on their approach to learning: case responsibility promotes a deep motivation to learn and face-to-face interaction with an assessor (Q19).

Q19: "If you know a vet's going to quiz you, you'll spend much more time looking stuff up. If you know they're not going to ask questions, inherently human nature's not to look so much stuff up, and it probably shouldn't be the way, but invariably it is" [M1]

Acceptability: Students reported that DOPS were an acceptable way of assessing clinical skills in comparison to other assessment formats (Q20).

Q20: "I'm quite okay at practical skills, but OSCEs, you just get so stressed and your hands are shaking, I don't think it's a very realistic way of kind of assessing practical skills really. I think that DOPS do that a lot better because it's in a real setting, you know, probably the best way of doing it. An MCQ I don't think particularly represents what we're going to do when we're out there in practice, because you don't have an option of four things to choose from" [F3]

However the variation they experienced with DOPS was less acceptable. For some students the variation in difficulty of tasks (Q9) and tutors (Q21) was perceived as unfair and appeared to detract from their learning experience.

Q21: "I think there are certainly people who you want to be examining your DOPS and there are people who you have a heart sink. When you see them come in, in the morning, you think oh god, I hope my DOPS is not today" [M3]

Feedback: Participants appreciated the regular opportunity for face-toface feedback following a DOPS. Although a minority described interactions with clinicians as stressful, generally feedback helped them to improve (Q22) and boosted their confidence (Q23).

Q22: "and he discussed with me where I needed to improve and so made me feel a lot better about it cos you can see why you failed and work out how to improve, and it just all seems quite achievable then" [F4]

Q23: "I got quite positive feedback and it gave me a real boost actually cos as I said, PDSA was my first rotation, and it really boosted my confidence going into the next one thinking yeah maybe I can do this. So that was really good" [F3]

Time Pressure: This factor was identified as having a major impact on learning behaviour; it was instrumental in determining whether students were allowed to adopt deep learning strategies aligned with their motivations or whether they were forced to utilise more surface strategies which they recognised were not beneficial to their development as clinicians. For some students time pressure was essential for motivation and to ensure efficient learning strategies but Q4 – Q8 and Q24 demonstrate how time pressure affected many students by increasing stress levels and often driving them towards a more superficial approach to learning.

Q24: "Yet in two weeks there's just no time. It was awful to think you hadn't even covered everything. You were going into exams and you hadn't read some of your lectures"

In contrast to the MCQ examination, time pressure for DOPS was less of an issue for most students. In Q25 the student describes how DOPS allowed her to develop a deeper more reflective approach.

Q25: "I think with the DOPS, if you fail one, you have the time to, you know, pass 2 more in the group and get the group done, you know, and think about it build on it and reflect on okay, why did I fail. And that's, in my opinion, very good, because it gives you time to use that experience

and build on it, and you know, rather than one big practical exam at the end" [F2]

Student Variation: Both the MCQ and DOPS assessments influenced student learning to some extent. However, these effects were not uniform across the participants. Q26 – Q29 demonstrate the differential effects of DOPS on experiential learning:

Q26: "the first eight months of the year I was so obsessed with DOPS, that's the only thing I could think about" [F11]

Q27: "if you had a DOPS that needed doing, you might get to the last day of rotation and you would hunt down a case that you could do that on and you might potentially miss out on what you'd normally do" [M2]

Q28: "because you have one DOPS per rotation, if that, and you know, it's quite a limited amount of work that I would ever have done for a DOPS. No. I don't think it took anything away from my time or from my experience generally" [F10]

Q29: "I think the DOPS were more of a I've just got to get it done kind of thing. Yeah I think they were just things that you just had to tick a box" [F6]

5.1.4: Overview and implications of study 3

This study has highlighted differences in approach to learning between two commonly used assessment formats: the MCQ appears to result in a more surface approach compared to DOPS where deeper learning strategies are described. In chapter 4 it was found that SVMS graduates perceived the DOPS to be good preparation for clinical practice and relevant to the role of a veterinary surgeon. In addition, it can now be concluded that the DOPS can promote a deep approach to learning for final year students on rotations. Findings from both studies provide evidence for DOPS as an authentic assessment format that is aligned with the SVMS curriculum and the expected learning outcomes for veterinary graduates. Despite the use of the DOPS as an assessment of learning in this context, several features of the DOPS format promoted desirable learning strategies, consistent with assessment for learning as described by (Black and Wiliam, 1999, Schuwirth and Van Der Vleuten, 2011a). The DOPS have high face validity; provide regular opportunity for increased dialogue between students and clinicians; generate feedback that can increase students' confidence and promote reflective practice and selfevaluation.

In contrast, students perceive the MCQ examination to be testing large volumes of knowledge with insufficient time to prepare. Similar findings are reported by Scouller (1998) and Tang (1994) and these quantitative perceptions of assessments lead to the use of surface learning strategies which are neither aligned with curricular philosophy nor the motivations of the students. However, the students' perception of the assessment format

is just one component contributing to the complex relationship between assessment and learning.

Other assessment related factors that influence the learning behaviour of final year students have been identified in this study. For these students, motivation should not be underestimated. They are deeply motivated to become competent and caring veterinary practitioners and to a certain extent will employ a deep approach to their learning regardless of any assessment strategy. However, there are other factors that appear to interact with their motivations and personal learning preferences thus influencing their overall approach. Consistent with the findings reported by Cilliers et al. (2010) the consequence of an assessment is an important influential factor in the learning behaviour of students in this study. The consequences of high stakes assessment can provide a powerful driver for learning but the educational impact is not necessarily a positive one for all students. Where students perceive the consequences to be lower stakes, a deeper approach is often adopted and formative assessment is used to its maximum effect (Nicol and Macfarlane-Dick, 2006).

The impact of increasing time pressure on student learning is invariably negative; eventually an assessment task becomes no longer manageable without a change of strategy. Surface strategies are therefore utilised at the expense of the deeper learning to overcome the assessment hurdle. Similar findings have been reported in medical students (Cilliers et al., 2010) where their approach to learning becomes a requirement for success imposed by the assessment system rather than a personal choice.

If CA exists within a curriculum the employment of a deep approach to learning should result in enhanced performance and attainment of the course ILOs. Positive correlations with performance and a deep or achieving approach have been observed in other studies (Brown et al., 2003, Donnon and Hecker, 2010, McManus et al., 1999). Although many students reported the use of achieving strategies that they perceived resulted in higher marks and a positive relationship was observed between achieving approach and performance, no firm conclusion can be made due to the lack of validation of the SPQ in this context. However, these data suggest that assessment is not optimally aligned within the SVMS curriculum as students adapt their approach to learning to ensure success in examinations.

The reliability of the SPQ did not meet minimum requirements (a >0.7) in this study. Furthermore there were too few participants to provide any proof of validity using confirmatory factor analysis. For these reasons motivation and strategy scores were not used, only the combined approach to learning score was used in the analysis. Although this version of the questionnaire has been previously validated in medical students (McManus et al., 1998) its use in the present context requires further investigation. The full version of the SPQ may be more appropriate for the evaluation of the sub-scales on small sample sizes. The results of the SPQ should therefore be interpreted with caution, but they have proved useful preliminary data to inform the qualitative investigation in this study.

The data were collected over a 4-week period at the end of the final year of study and therefore represent a snapshot of the students' opinions

regarding assessment and learning behaviour. As time pressure was identified as a major influence on the educational impact of assessment, a longitudinal study would be beneficial to explore changes in attitudes and approaches to assessment throughout the year. Despite these limitations this study provides useful information regarding the educational impact of the MCQ and DOPS formats in this context.

In conclusion the mechanism of the impact of assessment on learning behaviour is complex. The MCQ and DOPS formats have been shown to have differing effects on students' approach to study. However this may be due to the student perception of the requirement for the assessment in a given context and not the format *per se*. Section 5.2 reports the results of an investigation into the student perception of a novel assessment format, the SCT, in the context of veterinary education.

5.2: Study 4: The students' perceptions of the Script Concordance Test and its impact on learning behaviour

5.2.1: Introduction

The SCT, previously discussed in chapter 2, is a novel format that has been developed to test clinical reasoning in medical education. Although there is evidence to support the validity and reliability of the SCT (Lubarsky et al., 2011) little is known about its educational impact. Clinical reasoning skills are integral to the role of a veterinary practitioner and are included in the ILOs defined in chapter 3. Therefore the SCT, as an assessment of clinical reasoning, should be aligned with the SVMS curriculum and promote learning strategies that enable students to achieve these ILOs. However, there is scant evidence to support its use within veterinary education and the final year is the first time these students are exposed to this unique assessment format. The students' perceptions of the test and the consequences on their learning behaviour were studied to gain a better understanding of how well aligned the SCT really is within the context of the SVMS curriculum. Their opinions were collated during focus group discussions following formative SCT assessments. These opinions were subsequently used to inform the design of a questionnaire that was delivered to all participants.

5.2.2: Methods

5.2.2.1: Delivery of the formative SCT

An email was sent to all final year students inviting them to participate in the study in May 2012 (appendix 9). Volunteers were sent a link to three online SCT papers (appendix 10) that were available to students during their final year, in addition they were provided with instructions on how to complete the SCT and example questions (appendix 11). Participants were able to access the assessments in their own time with access to online and textbook resources. They were informed that the assessment was formative, the results would remain anonymous and would not contribute to their final year degree mark. Each assessment contained between 20 and 24 questions including small animal, equine and farm animal cases. The assessment was delivered through the University of Nottingham online assessment system, Rogo; an example SCT question from the Rogo system is provided in Figure 5.2.

On completion of each assessment, the students were directed to a feedback screen where the responses from the panel could be seen along with the student score for each question. In addition to the quantitative responses feedback was provided in the form of qualitative comments from the panel collected during the development of the SCT. Figure 5.3 provides an example of the information received on the feedback screen.

The first assessment was completed during July 2012; the second assessment was released to students in November 2012 and at this time a second email was sent to all final year students inviting them to participate in the study. The third assessment was released to students in April 2013, again an invite was sent to all final year students allowing those who hadn't signed up to the study access to the formative SCT papers.

1.	Clinical Vignette					
	You are presented with an 8 month old, male, neutered DSH cat with a history of diarrhoea for 4 months. The cat is well in himself, his appetite is good and he is gaining weight at an appropriate rate for his age. There is no history of vomiting, the diarrhoea contains mucous and the owner sometimes observes the cat straining. The owner is pregnant and clearly concerned about her ability to cope with the cat long term if the condition is not resolved, she tells you he often leaves large wet patches of faeces where he has been and she is fed up with having to continually disinfect her house. The cat has access to the outside throughout the day and there are no other cats in the house.					
	Hypothesis	New Information				
	Suppose the diagnosis you consider is Giardiasis	And you discover that the cat was non-responsive to 2 previously prescribed courses of metronidazole				
	Then this hypothesis is:					
	very unlikely					
	 unlikely 					
	 neither likely nor unlikely more likely 					
	◯ very likely					
	(1 mark)					

Figure 5.2: The layout of the SCT question as seen by the students in the online assessment.

	 Key: ✓ Correct answer ➤ Incorrect answer Emboldened words represent the correct response for each question (not the user's answer). Feedback is displayed in dark red italics 			
1.	Clinical Vignette			
	You are presented with an 8 month old, male, neutered DSH cat with a history of diarrhoea for 4 months. The cat is well in himself, his appetite is good and he is gaining weight at an appropriate rate for his age. There is no history of vomiting, the diarrhoea contains mucous and the owner sometimes observes the cat straining. The owner is pregnant and clearly concerned about her ability to cope with the cat long term if the condition is not resolved, she tells you he often leaves large wet patches of faeces where he has been and she is fed up with having to continually disinfect her house. The cat has access to the outside throughout the day and there are no other cats in the house.			
	Hypothesis	New Information		
	Suppose the diagnosis you consider is Giardiasis	And you discover that the cat was non-responsive to 2 previously prescribed courses of metronidazole		
Then this hypothesis is: Experts ○ 1 of 14 very unlikely Metronidazole is considered to be an effective treatment for giardia in cats ✓ ● 8 of 14 unlikely should have responded to metronidazole but would depend on the dose and duration of treatment ○ 5 of 14 neither likely nor unlikely Would want to be sure of owner compliance. Can get resistance and some therefore use fenbendazole as first line treatment ○ - more likely ○ - very likely 1 out of 1				

Figure 5.3: The feedback screen as seen by the students on completion of the formative SCT assessment. Quantitative feedback shows how many vets from the panel selected each response. Their qualitative comments are provided to enable students to understand their reasoning.

5.2.2.2: The focus groups

On completion of each of the first two SCT assessments students were invited to attend a focus group, the dates and attendance for each focus group are provided in table 5.5. The focus groups were held at the SVMS and all participating students were provided with a consent form explaining that their data would be anonymysed, treated confidentially and that they had the right to withdraw from the study at any time (appendix 12). Each group lasted around 30 minutes, was recorded using a digital voice recorder and the recordings were transcribed verbatim. The questions used as a framework for the focus group discussion are included in appendix 13.

Focus group	Date	No. of attendees
1	25.07.2012	3
2	26.07.2012	3
3	30.07.2012	1
4	06.08.2012	3
5	06.12.2012	6
6	13.12.2012	2
7	10.01.2013	10

Table 5.5: The dates and number of attendees for each of the focus groups

5.2.2.3: The SCT survey

The focus group data were used to inform the design of a questionnaire administered to all participating students in April 2013. Participants were sent an email with a link to the online SCT questionnaire (appendix 14). The responses were collected using SurveyMonkey[™]

(http://www.surveymonkey.com). A pilot study with three final year students resulted in minor modifications to the final version. Participants were required to select responses on Likert-type scales and provide free text comments. The questions explored the students' perception of the format and feedback they received, their approach to answering SCT questions, the resources they used and the SCT in relation to clinical reasoning. The students were asked to rate the SCT in comparison to other assessment formats they had been exposed to in either year 4 or 5 of the course, a summary of these formats is provided in table 5.6. The full version of the questionnaire is included in appendix 15.

Assessment	Description		
format			
MCQ	Delivered in all 5 years of the course, completed		
	online and consists of A and R-type questions		
DOPS	Work-place based assessment of clinical skills,		
	completed during university rotations in year 5		
Clinical Reasoning	Delivered in year 4, a case based, short answer		
exam	paper where students are required to write free text		
	responses		

Table 5.6: Assessment formats used for comparison to the SCT in the survey.

5.2.2.4: Data Analysis

The qualitative data were analysed using thematic analysis (Braun and Clarke, 2006) with the aid of the computer assisted qualitative data analysis software, QSR International NVivo version 10, (2012). Initial codes were identified using an inductive approach and subsequently organised into broader themes that describe the salient features of the data. Collaborative coding of one transcript enabled the initial codes to be refined in an iterative process until both researchers agreed the coding structure. This coding was then used to analyse the remainder of the transcripts by the primary researcher.

All quantitative data from the survey was analysed in IBM SPSS version 19. In order to carry out statistical analysis Likert-type responses were converted to a numerical scale and appropriate non-parametric statistical tests used (Jamieson, 2004). Friedman's ANOVA was used to compare ratings for different resources used by students and different exam formats. Mann Whitney U and Fisher's exact tests were used to compare responses from students who had attended the focus groups and those who hadn't.

5.2.3: Results

Out of a cohort of 90 students, 50 students (56%) registered for the study. Of those 46 completed the first assessment, 44 completed the second assessment and 35 completed the third SCT assessment. 18 of the registered students (36%) participated in focus groups and 28 (56%) completed the survey.

5.2.3.1: The focus groups

A summary of the themes that emerged from the analysis is presented in figure 5.4. The themes generated corresponded to components of the assessment utility equation (Van Der Vleuten, 1996). However, 'feasibility' and 'cost effectiveness' were not identified as themes during analysis, this is not surprising given the data were generated from student focus groups and did not involve university staff. Examples from each theme are illustrated with quotations referred to as Q1, Q2 etc. Focus groups are identified by when they occurred.



Figure 5.4: A summary of the themes identified in the thematic analysis of the focus group data.

Educational Impact: A theme that clearly emerged from the data was the educational impact of the SCT including its influence on the learning behaviour of students. There was evidence of a deep approach to learning in response to the SCT assessments; in Q1 the student describes thinking in more depth about a case or condition and linking the questions to previous experience:

Q1: "Often with the MCQs I would try and picture like a lecture slide I've seen or something I've written in my notes. Whereas with this one (SCT) I try and think back to like if I was to see this case, what would I do? I try and think through it step-by-step, whereas I just try and search for that one slide in my head when it's an MCQ." [FG4]

Q2 illustrates how the feedback provided by the expert panel encouraged a discussion around a case:

Q2: "Well I find that normally it just tells you the answer and you just accept that yes I got it wrong. Whilst these ones (SCT) kind of provoked more discussion because there were different opinions." [FG2]

Some students, however, demonstrated a more achieving approach to the formative SCT at the expense of deeper learning, demonstrated in Q3:

Q3: "I immediately scrolled down to the bottom to see what my score was and then I was quite happy with the mark that I got and I just quickly just flicked through to see a couple of the answers that I got wrong" [FG3]

The data indicated that the impact of the SCT extended to workplacebased learning, which was considered essential to success in the SCT format. In Q4 the student describes how the SCT encouraged a more enquiry-based approach:

Q4: "I find myself asking like why would you do this instead of that a bit more. So why did you choose to do an x-ray instead of an ultrasound in this case? Because then you know that's kind of the reasoning you need to have when you do this exam." [FG6]

Many students commented on the immediate impact of the SCT. They found the way in which the SCT is marked reassuring and resulted in less pressure to select the one correct answer:

Q5: "From a student perspective that makes it a bit less daunting because it's not one answer in five that you've got to get or one answer in four that you've got to get. There's a couple of options there." [FG6]

Although others were less positive about the format and reported the SCT to be confusing illustrated in Q6 and Q7:

Q6: "See I don't like it. I find it too vague. More likely, less likely, a little bit more likely. I don't like the fact there isn't a right answer. It really upsets me [laughter]. Because I'm like even if I get the right answer, I still won't get a hundred per cent of the marks. That annoys me." [FG4]

Q7: "My first thoughts when I actually did it was that I didn't really think I would have done very well because I was quite confused about the whole thing and I don't know, it's a lot of information to process through and then make it into one sort of click on a button answer." [FG2]

Acceptability: The majority of participants found the SCT an acceptable format because of its high face validity. The students considered the SCT to be a better assessment of their abilities as a vet and more relevant to decision making in clinical practice, particularly in comparison to the MCQs they have experienced so far in the course (Q8):

Q8: "The MCQs, the normal online ones, don't seem to assess how you'd act as a vet, whereas these (SCT) seemed to be a lot more comparable to sort of everyday clinical decision-making." [FG5]

Some students expressed concerns over the different approaches to diagnosis and case management they have observed in practice. This is not reflected in a single best answer MCQ format. However, the SCT provides some reassurance that the differing opinions of a panel of clinicians are considered, illustrated in Q9:

Q9: "But I think it's good how it shows people do have different opinions and there isn't often like a right thing. There might be a varying range of things to do and they can all be right." [FG1]

Students reported aspects of the SCT that they found less acceptable. Despite the information given to them by the university, the students had little awareness of what the SCT entailed. Q10 demonstrates that any prior knowledge of the SCT is often from other students:

Q10: "I would say that I had no idea. I'd heard a lot of rumour from years previously. I seem to remember them just talking about it as being there's lots of right answers basically, and until now I didn't know

anything about it really. I knew that it happened, but I didn't know what it involved." [FG3]

Some students therefore felt it would have been useful to introduce the SCT earlier in the course so that they could get used to the novel format but also to help develop their clinical reasoning skills (Q11):

Q11: "I think it would be quite a useful teaching resource as well maybe to have some of these in with like either with the year four or the year five material. To really make you think about how you're going to treat things which you don't really spend year four doing too much. You learn how to treat them, but you don't really think about applying it and how cases might be different." [FG1]

As illustrated in Q7, it takes time to become familiar with the SCT format and there is evidence to suggest that both the students and the panel were confused as to how to answer some of the questions:

Q12: "I didn't know if it was the layout, but I noticed that some of the answers, like they (the panel) based their answer based on say what the treatment or the management was going to be, not on the new information? So I was a bit confused as to whether you're supposed to take the information into account or just go with what they've suggested." [FG5]

Some of the confusion appears to be due to the wording of the options and the on-screen layout. However, the order of the questions in the

paper also contributed to confusion perhaps because this does not represent the clinical reasoning process in practice:

Q13: "And it's difficult because it seems to ask you to sort of disregard the information in the previous question and then have a new one, which is hard because it's not how case progression works in any way in your mind." [FG2]

Whilst these challenges to the acceptability of the SCT are accepted in the context of this study, where the results do not contribute to their degree mark, in Q14 the student expresses concern over the weighting of the SCT in the summative assessment at the end of final year:

Q14: "I'm fine with it being a way of assessing because it's twenty per cent. So I'm happy with that. That's fine but [laughter] yeah. If it was worth any more then I would probably have something to say about it." [FG7]

Validity: Discussion often included the process of clinical decision-making and how this related to the SCT (Q8). A theme of validity therefore emerged, as the SCT is an assessment of clinical reasoning. In Q4 and Q15 the students describe how they use their clinical experience to make decisions about a case when completing the SCT:

Q15: "Because it's not what you were taught, it's what you have seen in practice, what you think works, what you think is going to allow you to

move on to your next diagnosis. It's more realistic basically than 'this is what we got taught so it must be this answer'." [FG7]

Some students felt that the SCT tested their decision-making but not necessarily the reasoning behind their decisions:

Q16: "Decision-making yes, but not reasoning, because you're not... You don't have to justify what you're saying." [FG7]

This is also evident in Q17, where the student appears to adopt a type 1 approach to reasoning:

Q17: "I finished the second one much quicker than I finished the first one because I realised having looked at the answers from the first one, just don't over-think it, that's just my opinion. Just go with what you think" [FG7]

In contrast the students in Q18 and Q19 describe how during the SCT they work through the case information to make a decision. For these students the SCT requires them to apply their knowledge and justify their reasoning before they make a decision, more representative of type 2 reasoning:

Q18: "I would much rather sit down and actually think things through and try and justify an answer rather than have to remember something. So memorising for me is I find that quite difficult personally, but if I can work

it through and apply principles and apply knowledge, I personally find that more straightforward." [FG7]

Q19: "I've thought about it more and I had to just definitely justify it because you have to weigh up all the different options." [FG7]

Many of the students talked about higher order learning objectives being tested during the SCT. Processes such as analysis of information and application of knowledge are important in clinical reasoning and are illustrated in Q20:

Q20: "It feels like you apply your knowledge more with a script concordance test rather than just like a normal MCQ for me." [FG6]

However, several participants challenged the construct validity of the SCT. For example, when the hypothesis to consider had not been generated as a result of their own thought process, making a decision was more difficult:

Q21: "I sometimes didn't really know where to go with the information. If I thought there was an infected joint, I think there was talk about using ultrasonography and I don't think I'd have had that up there at all. So then I didn't really know whether it was more likely or whether it was more unlikely or less unlikely." [FG4]

Some students perceived there to be insufficient information in some questions and described how in practice they would not have made a decision at that stage:

Q22: "Yeah and if you didn't want to make a decision at that point, there are other things you can do and stuff." [FG2]

Reliability: A significant concern for many participants was the reference panel. Although they have confidence in the number of vets used on the panel, several students raised concerns over the experts' interpretation of the question (Q12) and the spread of panel responses:

Q23: "I was going to say I did like the fact that you do get graded. So 0.8 or 0.2 per cent of a mark which is good. Instead of saying, 'Okay. It's just this answer and nothing else.' But you could have been, you know, in the same mind-set of a clinician who is practicing, who is quite good at their job, but you still are borderline." [FG7]

Q24 illustrates how some students perceived the need to weigh up the different options depending on whether they answered the question according to what they 'should do' based on what they have been taught at vet school or according to what they 'would do' based on their experience and the limitations of first opinion practice.

Q24: "I sort of thought, 'Well if you were doing it by the book, then it's going to be pretty near the top, but in reality, I don't think you would go

running straight to the Ministry about it. Then it's like, 'But what would actual vets do?' So I'd put it near the top because that's what you should do but not what you would do." [FG1]

In the final quotation the student describes how the likelihood of certain options being selected influenced their responses:

Q25: "I think I tended to stay in the middle sort of three categories. Like the neither and then a little bit more or less, but I think that was just me being safe and not wanting to commit. There were quite a few where if you just put the middle one, you'd get like half a mark because if it was like a little bit ambiguous." [FG2]

5.2.3.2: The survey

Student perception of the SCT format

Twenty-eight students responded to the survey, 12 of those respondents had also participated in one of the focus groups. Of those students who completed in the questionnaire, 64% of students felt the SCT format was difficult to understand, there was no statistically significant difference in responses from students who attended the focus groups and those who hadn't attended (U=98.5, p=0.909).

Students found some sources of information more useful when answering the SCT (table 5.7); clinical experience was rated most useful (χ^2 =48.7, p=0.000). There was no statistically significant difference in responses from students who attended the study focus groups and those who hadn't attended (U=68.0, p=0.205).

Source of Information	VU	SU	OLU	NU
Clinical experience	21	7	0	0
Lecture notes	5	16	6	1
Internet search	2	11	14	1
Textbooks	0	19	8	1

Table 5.7: Student responses to the question "How useful do you find the following sources of information when answering the SCT?"

VU = very useful; SU = somewhat useful; OLU = of little use; NU = not at all useful

75% of participating students agreed that the SCT format was a useful tool for the development of clinical reasoning skills. 67.9% agreed that the SCT was a good test of their clinical reasoning skills, this difference may be explained by students who attended a focus group rating the SCT as a poorer test of clinical reasoning than those who had not attended (U=49.0, p=0.029). 71.4% agreed that the feedback screen helped to develop clinical reasoning skills. Figure 5.5 illustrates how the students perceived the SCT for the development and assessment of clinical reasoning skills.



Figure 5.5. Student perception of the SCT for developing and testing clinical reasoning (CR) skills

The impact of the SCT on learning behaviour

The effects of different assessment formats (table 5.6) on students' learning behaviour are reported in this section and summarised in figure 5.6. Students reported that they used their knowledge in different ways when completing different assessment formats (χ^2 =49.1, p=0.000). MCQs require mainly recall of information, whereas the SCT, DOPS and clinical reasoning exam formats require students to apply their knowledge. There was no statistically significant difference in responses from students who attended the study focus groups compared to those who hadn't attended (U=116.5, p=0.347).

Students perceive the clinical reasoning exam as the 'most fair' assessment of their clinical ability (χ^2 =23.6, p=0.000). When rating the SCT format, those students who had attended a focus group thought it was a less fair assessment than those who had not participated in a focus group (U=36.0, p=0.004).

The SCT format was most likely to promote discussion of cases with vets or their peers; however, the difference in responses to the 4 assessment formats was not statistically significant (χ^2 =6.84, p=0.077). The students who participated in the focus groups felt the SCT was more likely to promote discussion than those who hadn't attended a focus group (U=147.0, p=0.017).

Students perceived the DOPS assessment to have the greatest influence on their approach to clinical rotations or CEMS (χ^2 =42.9, p=0.000). There was no statistically significant difference in responses from students who attended the study focus groups and those who hadn't (U=92.5, p=0.873).

There was a difference in how students felt each assessment format would encourage them to read around a case or topic (χ^2 =18.6, p=0.000), with DOPS being the most likely to encourage additional reading. There was no statistically significant difference in responses from students who attended the study focus groups and those who hadn't (U=113.5, p=0.423).



Figure 5.6: The effects of the SCT, DOPS, MCQ and the clinical reasoning examination on students' learning behaviour

5.2.4: Overview and implications of study 4

In study 2 (chapter 4) the SVMS graduates rated the SCT lower than MCQs or DOPS as preparation for clinical practice and perceived it to be less relevant to the role of a veterinary surgeon. In contrast the 5th year students who participated in this study perceived the SCT to be a good assessment of clinical reasoning and helpful to the development of their reasoning skills. Furthermore they reported that they were encouraged to reflect and draw upon their clinical experience when responding to SCT questions. The addition of the feedback screen with comments provided by the expert panel added to the learning experiences of the students by promoting discussion and to some extent further reading. For some students the impact extends to WPBL where the SCT encourages a deeper approach to cases and discussion with both their peers and supervising clinicians. This study therefore demonstrates how the SCT can potentially enhance CA within a curriculum and also adds to the sparse published evidence on students' perception of SCT and its impact on their approaches to learning (Hornos et al., 2013).

However, the students' perceptions of the SCT were not all positive. They raised concerns over the variation in panel responses and the experts' interpretation of the SCT questions. Both the question structure and the concept of reasoning around limited case information were found to be confusing for some students and not aligned to the clinical reasoning process in practice. These findings support the concerns raised by Askew et al. (2012) and Lineberry et al. (2013). Consideration of these issues in the context of a high stakes, summative examination may provide some

explanation as to why the graduates had reservations over the SCT and rated it lower than other assessment formats in study 2.

The participants of this study were able to express their opinion of the format over the course of the year in response to formative SCT questions. Although the SCT formed part of their summative finals examination, it is likely that the additional formative experience and the timing of data collection resulted in a more positive opinion of the SCT compared to that of the graduates. The students reported the SCT enhanced the development of clinical reasoning skills and encouraged deep learning strategies; therefore this format has the potential to be part of an assessment strategy aligned to the curriculum and ILOs of the SVMS course. However, comparison of these results and the opinion of the graduates in study 2 suggest that effective implementation of this novel format is essential to its success.

In the current context of the SVMS final year, without the additional formative SCT experience that was provided for the purpose of this study, the SCT is not well aligned. The perceived benefits of the SCT as an authentic assessment of clinical reasoning are likely to be outweighed by the effects of a new format introduced as part of a high stakes examination with little formative practice. Simple interventions have the potential to ensure alignment of the SCT within the curriculum: students, question authors and panel members need to be better educated to appreciate the purpose of the format and understand how each item should be interpreted; on-going formative experience should be provided

with meaningful feedback and students must be allowed time to reflect on and discuss the cases in greater detail.

Although these results support the use of the SCT to develop clinical reasoning skills in veterinary undergraduates, some students described a response to the questions analogous to type one reasoning or pattern recognition. Tomlin et al. (2008a, 2008b) reported similar results following an EMQ clinical reasoning assessment. In those studies, staff and students were concerned that pattern recognition was not appropriate for undergraduate students with limited clinical experience and questioned the use of an assessment format that fostered this approach. Evidence from medical education suggests that providing students with instruction on combined reasoning allows an appreciation of both analytic and non-analytic strategies and also improves diagnostic accuracy (Eva et al., 2007). Similar interventions in veterinary education could be beneficial when used with formative assessments to enhance the development of appropriate clinical reasoning strategies.

The majority of students agreed that the SCT helped to develop their clinical reasoning skills, however participation in the focus group discussion appears to have influenced some students' perceptions. Focus group participants perceived the assessment to be less fair and a poorer assessment of clinical reasoning, however, they felt it encouraged case discussion more than non-participants. Although it is not clear if focus group participation resulted in these differences, or whether they can be attributed to a self-selecting group of students, facilitated small group discussions might be of use in educating students about their
assessments. Increased understanding of the purpose of the assessments they are exposed to might help them to adapt their approach and therefore improve performance.

As with the previous study in this chapter, the results were generated from a sample of volunteers from one cohort of students at the SVMS. It is therefore important to acknowledge that the participants may not be representative of all veterinary students and may demonstrate a different approach to their learning and clinical development. Their opinions and perceptions are almost certainly in part due to the formative purpose and implementation of the assessment in this context as well as the SCT format *per se*. However, despite these limitations the results of this study add to existing evidence for the use of the SCT in the assessment and development of clinical reasoning skills.

In conclusion, prior to this study the positive influence of the SCT on learning behaviour was limited due to the context of the high stakes end of year examination. Addition of further formative practice and opportunity for discussion of the assessment has enhanced the alignment of the SCT within the curriculum. Future developments should focus on the authenticity of scenarios during item development and education of the students and the expert panel on the SCT format is essential if optimal alignment is to be achieved. With this in mind this novel format has the potential to encourage a deep approach to clinical development amongst students consistent with CA theory.

5.3: Discussion of studies in chapter 5

This chapter has explored the educational impact of DOPS, MCQs and the SCT on final year veterinary students. DOPS and to some extent the SCT were perceived as authentic assessments; students reported deep approaches to learning in response to these formats consistent with CA theory. Students placed value in the DOPS as an assessment of their clinical skills within a real practice environment and the SCT as an assessment of clinical reasoning. Both formats generated feedback that enabled the students to develop as clinicians and were in alignment with the ILOs of the course. In contrast the MCQ is perceived as a more superficial assessment of veterinary knowledge requiring recall of information with little application or relevance to the role of a veterinary practitioner. In this context the MCQ has a negative impact on CA because the perceived purpose drives surface learning strategies, even amongst these deeply motivated students, and this approach is neither aligned with the curriculum philosophy nor the ILOs of the course. However, the results of studies 3 and 4 suggest that to ensure CA within a curriculum, the context and implementation of any assessment is as important, if not more so, than the format itself.

The research within this chapter has highlighted assessment related factors that influence learning behaviour and therefore potentially impact CA. Effective formative assessment is known to have a positive impact on learning (Nicol and Macfarlane-Dick, 2006, Ericsson, 2007, Carraccio et al., 2002, Fuentealba, 2011), it is therefore unsurprising that the students were found to value lower stakes assessment with time to reflect upon feedback and employ deep learning strategies which allow them to

improve their performance. Other factors found to influence learning behaviour included the consequence of assessments. High stakes assessment with a lack of feedback were often reported to have a negative educational impact, however, assessments with a purely formative purpose are insufficient to drive learning amongst these students. In addition to the curriculum and final year assessments, the students reported case responsibility and their career in veterinary practice to have an increasing influence on their learning as they approach graduation. Similar to the findings of Cilliers et al. (2010), for some students there appears to be a conflict between learning for their undergraduate assessments and learning to be a competent practitioner on day one. This conclusion is not consistent with CA and led to the development of the research on the transition from student to practitioner in chapter 6.

The students adapt their study approach based on their perception of the requirements for the approaching assessment tasks. There is variation in these adaptations according to the individual student; however it appears that for most these perceptions are based on personal experience and to some extent the experience of other students. Despite guidance provided in course documentation these students tailored their learning based on what they considered to be a successful strategy. This is perhaps a consequence of assessment in higher education that has traditionally been teacher driven with little discussion or input from students and often based on the teacher's personal experience of being assessed (Price et al., 2012, Rowntree, 1987). To some extent this culture still exists within veterinary education and the effects of this were sometimes observed

within the studies in this chapter. A lack of insight into the assessment strategy leaves students with no choice but to adapt their study approach based upon their own perceptions of what will ensure success in the examinations. Unfortunately the SCT provided an example of this lack of insight and understanding of an assessment. Some students were confused by the purpose and the format. For the graduates whose only experience was in the finals examination, it is not surprising that there was a lack of CA where the SCT failed to promote the development of clinical reasoning.

Rowntree (1987, p.57) provides a thought provoking analogy to this traditional form of assessment where the student is compared to a defendant on trial. They do not know the exact nature of their offence or the evidence against them; they are not told who laid the charges or who will make the judgement and have no counsel to advise them. This is clearly an extreme scenario, however it demonstrates a helpless situation where it is impossible to know how best to approach the case. The implication is if CA is to be achieved within a curriculum, clearly a more collaborative approach is required. The concept of assessment literacy is described by Price et al. (2012) where students understand the nature of the assessments they are exposed to and the standards expected of them as well as becoming proficient assessors themselves and understanding the relationship between assessment and their own learning. It is therefore recommended that assessment literacy is increased amongst students and staff at the SVMS to ensure all assessments are aligned with the rest of the curriculum and encourage optimal approaches to learning amongst students.

Despite the issues identified regarding implementation and the lack of insight into the assessments of some students, the SCT and DOPS had high face validity and consequential validity. Both studies provide evidence to support the use of DOPS and the SCT as a methods of assessment for learning (AFL) (Schuwirth and Van Der Vleuten, 2011a, Gibbs and Simpson, 2004). Whilst assessment of learning is required by higher education institutes to make judgements on students' performance this type of assessment often results in a negative educational impact. For example the MCQ is used widely within the SVMS assessment strategy as a summative, end of year assessment of veterinary knowledge where the consequence is progression to the next phase of the course or ultimately graduation. For many students this drives a surface approach to learning. The DOPS and SCT have been shown to enhance the learning environment promoting effective learning strategies; these formats should be further developed to fulfil the needs of assessment of learning, as required by the university, whilst supporting students in a positive learning environment, by providing assessment for learning.

AFL is emerging as an important theory in higher education and assessments that fit within this framework are essential to CA. However, whilst there remains a discrepancy between the student perceptions of what is required for exam success and the criteria for producing successful practitioners, assessment cannot completely support effective learning. This conflict between learning for exams and learning for practice initiated the study in the final chapter, exploring the opinions of students and employers on the transition from veterinary student to veterinary practitioner.

<u>Chapter 6: What constitutes a successful</u> <u>transition to practice?</u>

6.1: Introduction.

As students progress through a course, future employment in clinical practice has been shown to have an increasing impact on their learning behaviour (Cilliers et al., 2010). Similarly, in chapter 5, final year SVMS students described a conflict between learning for undergraduate assessments and learning for clinical practice. In chapter 4, the graduates did not consider all SVMS assessments to be good preparation for and relevant to the role of veterinary practitioner. These results therefore suggest that assessment has a negative impact on CA within the curriculum and that the transition to practice influences learning behaviour amongst final year students. Therefore study 5 described in this chapter aims to address research question 4:

4. What is the perception of final year students and employers of new graduates of the requirements for a successful transition to practice?

Figure 6.1 illustrates where study 5 fits within the overall research strategy in the thesis.



Figure 6.1: A model of constructive alignment highlighting study 5: the transition from student to practitioner.

Although previous studies have explored the perceptions of students and recent graduates on the transition to practice (Rhind et al., 2011), differences in curricula, learning environments and the student experience are likely to influence student opinion. It was therefore decided to collect data from Nottingham students to make the analysis relevant to the context of this thesis and employers to allow direct comparison of results.

The transition to practice has been described as a make or break period for many new graduates (Gilling and Parkinson, 2009) and appropriate support is seen as essential by both employers and graduates for success (Routly et al., 2002). Therefore, the nature of support offered during this transition period was explored and employers' perceptions of veterinary education in the UK were also investigated.

6.2: Methods

6.2.1: The student survey

An email was sent to all 5th year students before their finals examination in April 2013 inviting them to participate in the survey. Students were provided with a link to the online questionnaire that comprised of three questions, illustrated in figure 6.2. A pilot study with three final year students was conducted but resulted in no changes to the final version. The responses were collected using SurveyMonkey[™] (http://www.surveymonkey.com).

The transition from student to veterinary practice

1. What factors do you consider to be important in making a successful transition from a student to a practising veterinary surgeon?

2. What do you think employers are looking for in a new veterinary graduate?

3. Are you planning to do any additional preparation for your first job in practice, other than your veterinary degree course?

Yes

) No

If you have answered yes, please state what additional preparation you are planning:

Figure 6.2: The student questionnaire on transition to veterinary practice.

•

6.2.2: The employer survey

The responses to the student survey were used to inform the content and design of the employer survey. Questions 1 and 2 from the student survey were used to enable a direct comparison of responses. In addition, the employers were asked questions relating to the value they placed on the UK veterinary degree; programmes of support offered to new graduates within their practice and the academic criteria and non-academic attributes they used in recruiting new graduate vets. Questions were also included on the type of practice in which they worked, a full copy of the questionnaire is provided in appendix 16.

An email was sent to practising veterinary surgeons known to the researchers requesting their participation (appendix 17) and a snowball sampling method (Brown and Edmunds, 2011) was used to increase the number of responses. In addition the survey was publicised through the Best Evidence Veterinary Medical Education (BEVME) online dialogue group (Whipp, 2011). Employers were able to complete the questionnaire online via SurveyMonkey[™] (http://www.surveymonkey.com) or on a hard copy.

All survey participants (students and employers) were informed that data would remain anonymous and by completing the survey they were consenting to take part in the study.

6.2.3: Data Analysis

All free text responses were analysed with the aid of the computer assisted qualitative data analysis software, QSR International NVivo version 10, (2012). Initial codes were assigned to the student responses

to questions 1 and 2 (figure 6.2) immediately following data collection. The researcher repeated this process four months later and the 2 sets of coding were compared to refine the final coding structure (Saldaña, 2009). This finalised coding structure was subsequently used to analyse the dataset using magnitude coding to produce a frequency count of each initial code (Saldaña, 2009). The responses to the two equivalent questions from the employer survey were coded in the same way. Any novel initial codes identified from the employer responses were added to the coding structure and the student responses were crosschecked for these new codes.

A descriptive analysis of categorical data was performed in addition to statistical comparison of responses by practice type. Statistical analysis was performed in SPSS statistics version 21; a chi-square test was used to compare responses, Fisher's exact test was used where observed counts were less than 5.

In addition to the magnitude coding described above, any free text comments provided in response to the remaining questions in the employer survey were thematically analysed for each question (Braun and Clarke, 2006); initial codes were applied and subsequently grouped into themes for comparison with quantitative responses.

6.3: Results

6.3.1: Participants

28 students and 45 employers participated in the study. The types of practice represented in the employers' survey are illustrated in table 1.

		-70
		participants
Species area covered	Small animal practice	40
	Farm animal practice	18
	Equine practice	4
	Mixed practice	38
Caseload	1 st opinion only	76
	1^{st} opinion and referral	24
	Referral only	0
Post graduate qualifications held by vets working within	None	24
	Certificate level	67
the practice	Diploma level and specialist status	47
Experience of employing new graduates	Currently employ	60
	Have previously employed	31
	Have never employed	9

0/~

Table 6.1: Employer demographics according to species area of expertise, caseload and postgraduate qualifications.

6.3.2: Comparison of students' and employers' perceptions of transition to practice and employability

21 initial codes were identified in the analysis of the student responses; an additional 14 codes were added following analysis of the employer data. The frequency of each code is reported as the number of participants mentioning the code, as a percentage of the total participants, for both the student and employer groups. Figure 6.3 provides a comparison of student and employer perception of a successful transition from student to practising veterinary surgeon. A larger proportion of employers stated the importance of communication skills, confidence, a positive attitude, adequate support and interpersonal and teamwork skills. A larger proportion of the students stated the importance of clinical reasoning skills and knowledge and its application. Both groups placed similar value on knowing your limitations and seeking help; a small proportion of employers identified several generic attributes, for example 'caring', 'trustworthiness' and 'reflective ability' that were not mentioned by the students.

Figure 6.4 provides a comparison of the student perception of what employers are looking for when recruiting a new graduate veterinary surgeon and the employers' responses. The employers placed a large emphasis on personal attributes during recruitment, namely interpersonal and teamwork skills, communication skills and a positive attitude. Previous clinical experience was seen as important by over a third of employers; however students didn't think this was valued during recruitment. A larger proportion of students thought their practical skills and confidence in their own ability would be considered on employment, compared to the employer responses. Finally many students thought employers would be looking for a balance of a graduate who could work independently, yet know when to ask for help; less than 10% of employers mentioned either category in response to the question.

Finally the responses to these two questions regarding a successful transition and employability were combined, for the students and also for the employers, to create an overall impression of the attributes of a successful veterinary graduate. These responses were mapped to the ILOs defined in chapter 2 and the results are illustrated in figure 6.5. The frequency of each ILO is reported as the number of participants mentioning the ILO in response to both questions, as a percentage of the total participants in each group. Several of the criteria stated as essential to a successful transition or sought by employers during recruitment were not present within the SVMS ILOs or could not be expressed as a learning outcome. These criteria are shown in table 6.2.

Type of criteria	Not considered a	Not included within the
or attribute	learning outcome	SVMS ILOs
Veterinary related criteria	<i>Previous clinical experience</i>	<i>Understanding of local veterinary industry and issues</i>
	References	Having a career plan
	Knowledge is less important	Competence*
Generic personal		Trustworthy
criteria		Common sense
		Positive attitude
		Independence
Employment related criteria	Support provided	Realistic expectations of
	The first job	veterinary practice
Other demographic criteria	The university from which they graduated	
	<i>Graduate being local to the practice</i>	
	Gender	
	<i>Hobbies or other interests</i>	

Table 6.2: criteria considered important to securing a first job and a successful transition to practice that aren't specifically mentioned within the SVMS ILOs.

*Competence is not mentioned specifically although the components of clinical competence are described within the ILOs. It was used very broadly by employers and therefore difficult to map to a specific learning outcome.



Figure 6.3: Comparison of the students' and employers' perception of what is important for a successful transition from student to practitioner.



Figure 6.4: Comparison of the students' perception of what employers are looking for when recruiting a new graduate veterinary surgeon and the employers' responses.



Figure 6.5: The criteria considered important to secure employment and to ensure a successful transition to practice: a comparison of the employer and student responses mapped onto the 25 SVMS ILOs. Frequency is calculated as the number of participants who mentioned the ILO in response to both questions as a percentage of the total number of participants for each group.

6.3.3: Preparation for the first job in practice

15 students (54%) said they were planning to do additional preparation for their first job in practice, other than their veterinary degree course. 12 students (43%) said they were not planning any additional work and 1 student did not answer the question.

Of those who were planning additional preparation, many stated they planned to do additional CEMS or unpaid veterinary work to gain further practical clinical experience. Other activities that students planned as additional preparation included:

- Additional reading
- Attending CPD events
- Interview workshops
- Time off/taking a break

6.3.4: The employers' perception of a UK veterinary degree

27 employers (60%) thought that the UK veterinary degree was adequate preparation for clinical practice, 18 (40%) of respondents did not consider it to be adequate preparation. There was no significant association between the perceptions of the UK veterinary degree and the type of practice employers were working in. Analysis of the qualitative comments identified perceived strengths and deficiencies of the degree and these are summarised in figure 6.6.



Figure 6.6: Employers' perception of the UK veterinary degree: strengths and deficiencies

6.3.5: Support provided to new veterinary graduates

36 (80%) of employers said that their practice had a programme of support in place for new graduate veterinary surgeons. Analysis of the qualitative responses identified the types of support offered, summarised in table 6.3.

Direct support or	Additional support	Specific topics
supervision within	mechanisms	
the role		
Reduced out of hours	Provision of a mentor	Support with
cover or support		communication skills
during out of hours		
Support during the day	Regular meetings to	Support with business
from a VN/VS working	discuss cases and any	skills
at the practice	issues	
Support during surgery	Peer support network	
	Estemally provided (
Longer consultation	Externally provided/	
times	corporate CPD	
Routine caseload only		
, 		

 Table 6.3: Summary of the support offered by employers to new graduates.

6.3.6: Academic criteria and recruitment

The majority of employers who responded to the survey did not consider academic criteria to be important when recruiting new graduates, these responses are summarised in figure 6.7.



Figure 6.7: Percentage of employers who consider the university attended, the degree classification awarded and the graduate being within the top 10% of their year to be important when recruiting new graduates.

The university attended had the most influence on recruitment; analysis of the free text responses identified some employers who had a preference for different UK universities. Some employers expressed concern over employing foreign graduates as demonstrated by the following quote:

"Some foreign graduates are seriously disadvantaged often due to the lack of EMS which puts their UK counterparts at an advantage, and that includes the awareness of the veterinary world in the UK together with speaking the English language."

There was a strong feeling amongst employers that there is little correlation between academic achievement and performance in clinical practice; a few went so far as to suggest that academic excellence could be a disadvantage:

"Being in the top 10% or graduating with distinction may be a point against candidates - they will not always be able to relate well with the average client in a first opinion practice"

Finally, the employers' comments supported the fact that they value personal attributes over academic criteria:

"Personality is most important and how they come across at interview academically all graduates are able to be vets however, some will not have the people skills and confidence of others early on"

6.3.7: Non-academic criteria and recruitment

The majority of respondents agreed that the applicant's CV; the references; previous clinical experience; hobbies and non-veterinary related work would influence their decision to employ a new graduate. Their responses are summarised in figure 6.8.

Analysis of the qualitative comments provided a further insight into the way in which these criteria are used. The CV is often considered important for selection for interview:

"The CV allows us to choose who to interview, but does not largely influence the employment."

More value was placed on references from someone they know and academic references were considered less useful:

"References for a new grad are usually from teaching staff, who want to give a good reflection of their teaching ability."

"If the references are from a vet I know and respect, that carries a lot of weight"

Employers are looking for appropriate clinical experience in practices similar to their own, furthermore having completed CEMS with the employer has secured jobs for some graduates:

"It is good to have someone who has some clinical experience that is relevant eg if all their EMS is equine I will not offer them my SA job"

"Where possible we try to recruit from students who have seen EMS with us."

Finally hobbies and non-veterinary related work is regarded by many employers as an advantage as it is often an indicator of a well rounded person who will fit into their team:

"I read the hobbies bit as usually I think if they like similar things outdoors and sport, they will fit in with the team!"



Figure 6.8: Percentage of employers who felt that the CV, references, previous clinical experience and hobbies and non-veterinary related work would influence their decision to employ a new graduate.

6.3.8: Attributes assessed at interview

Interpersonal skills were the most important and commonly assessed attribute at interview, illustrated in figure 6.9. The four respondents who didn't assess interpersonal skills, qualified this by saying they had no formal assessment:

"Depends on the meaning of assess - interviewing is certainly assessing interpersonal skills though I perform no tests"



Figure 6.9: Percentage of employers who assess veterinary knowledge, clinical competence and interpersonal skills at interview.

The free text responses showed that some employers felt it was unfair to assess anything other than interpersonal skills in an interview situation and some assumed that being awarded a veterinary degree was proof that new graduates have sufficient knowledge to be able to do the job:

"I have thought about doing a practical test but feel it is unfair and they would be far too stressed to undertake it properly."

"Vet knowledge and a level of clinical competence are assumed from recently passing their exams."

The employers who stated that they assess veterinary knowledge, clinical competence and interpersonal skills at interview, used the following methods of assessment:

- Observing graduates during consultations
- Observing graduates performing clinical and surgical skills
- Questions and discussions around cases and common scenarios in practice
- Case presentations by the new graduate
- Assessment of the graduate during time spent within the practice
- Assessment of interpersonal skills outside of the practice environment, for example taking the graduate out for a meal with some of the practice team.

6.3.9: Influence of the type of practice on new graduate recruitment

Analysis of the results by type of practice according to the species covered showed that employers working in farm animal practice placed highest value on academic criteria (figure 6.10). Employers of farm animal vets were the only respondents to take 'being within the top 10% of their year' into consideration (X^2 (3) = 6.405, p=0.045).

When looking at attributes assessed at interview, employers working in small animal practice were more likely to assess clinical competence (X^2 (3) = 8.487, p=0.037) (figure 6.10).

No other significant associations were found between the type of practice according to species and recruitment of new graduates; figure 6.10 illustrates differences in responses according to practice type.



Figure 6.10: Influence of practice type on new graduate recruitment.

(a) The percentage of employers who assess new graduate attributes at interview (b) The percentage who consider academic attributes to be important (c) The percentage who consider non-academic attributes to be important (d) The percentage who agree that the UK veterinary degree is adequate preparation and who offer a programme of support to new graduates

* Highlights a statistically significant difference in responses between practice types

There was no significant association between practices employing vets with post-graduate qualifications and new graduate recruitment; differences in responses are illustrated in figure 6.11. Likewise no significant association was found between practice caseload and new graduate recruitment; differences in responses are illustrated in figure 6.12.



Figure 6.11: Influence of post-graduate qualifications on new graduate recruitment.

(a) The percentage of employers who assess new graduate attributes at interview (b) The percentage who consider academic attributes to be important (c) The percentage who consider non-academic attributes to be important (d) The percentage who agree that the UK veterinary degree is adequate preparation and who offer a programme of support to new graduates



Figure 6.12: Influence of practice caseload on new graduate recruitment.

(a) The percentage of employers who assess new graduate attributes at interview (b) The percentage who consider academic attributes to be important (c) The percentage who consider non-academic attributes to be important (d) The percentage who agree that the UK veterinary degree is adequate preparation and who offer a programme of support to new graduates

6.4: Overview and implications of chapter 6

There were some discrepancies between the employers' and students' perceptions of what makes a successful transition to practice and what employers are looking for when recruiting new graduates. Similar to the findings of previous studies (Rhind et al., 2011) the students placed greater importance on knowledge and understanding. Therefore some students could be placing too much emphasis on knowledge at the expense of developing more generic skills valued by employers. The

employers' opinions are consistent with existing literature on the transition to practice where they have been shown to value clinical experience and interpersonal skills (Routly et al., 2002, Schull et al., 2012, Bonvicini, 2010, Mellanby et al., 2011). However, veterinary knowledge cannot be disregarded; it is a fundamental component of clinical competence and provides the foundations for veterinary education. In their responses some employers suggested that they assumed an adequate level of knowledge amongst UK graduates, provided by their university education. Therefore an appropriate level of knowledge could be equally as important as more generic skills. However, veterinary knowledge is considered less variable than the practical experience and interpersonal skills on which decisions around employment are made. Further study into the importance of different types of knowledge and how it is utilised by new graduates would enable educators to make more informed decisions about curricular content.

This study has highlighted some issues in teaching and learning which appear to impact CA. Clinical experience was the most popular preparation for practice stated by students. Many of them sought additional opportunities to practice day one skills after graduation. This is also perceived by employers to be important in making a successful transition to practice and contributes significantly during the recruitment process. These results suggest that a greater proportion of the course should be dedicated to WPBL. Based on the findings of chapters 4 and 5, more emphasis on WPBL should be combined with an assessment strategy that focuses on WPBA, assessing outcomes related to professionalism as well as the required skills and knowledge for veterinary practice. The likely

outcome would be to drive a deep approach to WPBL with graduates who are better prepared for work as veterinary practitioners.

This study has provided further opportunity to review the ILOs defined in chapter 3. It would be expected that the attributes required for a successful transition into clinical practice should be described within the ILOs of the course and to an extent this is true. However, there were ILOs that were not represented within the responses from employers or students. These areas are still important to the role of a veterinary surgeon but not specified as success criteria in the transition to practice. Although this study did not ask participants to define the outcomes of a veterinary degree course, criteria were identified that were not included within the SVMS ILOs. This finding revealed a potential limitation to the results of study 1: defining the ILOs. A range of stakeholders should be consulted when defining learning outcomes (Harden, 1999, Trent, 2002, Davis, 2003), despite the validation of the list of ILOs, increased student or employer involvement in this process may have resulted in a slightly different set of ILOs.

Deficiencies in the UK veterinary degree identified by the employers are consistent with current literature relating to perceptions of new graduates and the education they receive (Routly et al., 2002, Schull et al., 2012, Bonvicini, 2010, Mellanby et al., 2011). However, these results are not consistent with the findings of the outcomes assessment in chapter 4; graduates felt very well prepared for their role in terms of communication skills, interpersonal skills and teamwork, which were amongst the highest rated course outcomes. This does not reflect the employers' opinion that

so called soft skills are lacking within undergraduate veterinary education. Similar to the findings of Lloyd and Walsh (2002) the employers surveyed also identified financial and business training as an area of weakness within veterinary curricula. Again, based on the outcomes assessment this is another area in which SVMS graduates felt well prepared. However, it may be beneficial to explore the elements of business management essential to new graduates, these could then be prioritised within the curriculum along with the financial considerations which are essential for all graduates to appreciate in case management.

There were some differences in opinions between employers working in different types of practice. Farm animal practitioners in this study were more influenced by academic criteria, which may be partly explained by the increasing competition for farm work amongst new graduates. Support for new graduates was more likely to be offered by the participating farm animal employers and this is perhaps unsurprising due to the ambulatory nature of the work outside of a clinic or hospital environment. Graduates applying to small animal practice are more likely to be assessed on their clinical competence at interview. This is clearly more feasible within a small animal practice situation and graduates should be prepared for this to enable them to perform to the best of their ability. These results are based on a small number of practitioners and certain areas, for example equine practice, are underrepresented. Further work is required to develop a better understanding of employability and success within different areas of veterinary practice and this would enable veterinary students to tailor their learning and preparation according to their career plans.

Preparing students for different areas of veterinary practice will be a challenge for universities in the future. The concept of tracking is a contentious issue within veterinary education and has been previously investigated and debated at length (Crowther et al., 2014a, 2014b, Radostits, 2003, Eyre, 2002, Walsh et al., 2009). Although the current requirements in the UK are for vet schools to produce *omnicompetent* graduates, the results from this small sample of practices suggest that partial tracking could be beneficial for both graduates and employers. Focussing on preparation for a specific area of practice would allow students to build upon key skills and knowledge essential to their role on day one. The use of tracking to improve the employability of graduates and facilitate their transition to practice will be explored in greater detail within the final discussion chapter of this thesis.

Veterinary practices also differ in their caseload. A previous study conducted in Australia found practices that employ vets with postgraduate qualifications more likely to value academic criteria during recruitment of new graduates (Heath and Mills, 2000). Although similar trends were identified in this study, there were no significant correlations. Further investigation with a larger sample of UK employers, particularly those from referral practices, would enable students to be better informed when seeking employment within their preferred area of practice.

Appropriate support is essential to new graduates commencing their career in practice (Gilling and Parkinson, 2009, Routly et al., 2002). The majority of respondents in this survey stated that they provided support for their new graduates. The type of support offered generally relates well

to the areas in which SVMS graduates stated they felt less well prepared, for example support during out of hours work and with surgical skills. Although there were some discrepancies with some employers prioritising communication skills, finance and practice management as areas where support is required, in contrast SVMS graduates felt well prepared with regards to these outcomes. In addition to the limitations of small sample sizes, it should be noted that these responses are from one practitioner who may or may not be solely responsible for providing support or making decisions regarding recruitment of new graduates. Therefore their opinions may not be a true representation of what actually happens during selection and induction of new graduates within the practice.

There are concerns over the generalizability of these results to the wider veterinary profession. However, it was neither the aim of this study nor the research within this thesis to define the characteristics of a successful transition to different types of veterinary practice in the UK. The aim was to identify features of this transition period that may impact the learning behaviour of students as they approach graduation. To summarise, students appreciate that generic, interpersonal skills are important, but seek further clinical experience to improve their day one skills, which is aligned to employers' expectations. The impact of the transition to practice appears to have a positive impact on student learning, however, this is not aligned to all methods of assessment in final year. Finals examinations based on recall of veterinary knowledge may be detrimental to the transition to practice for some students. If this hurdle was removed, the proximity of employment would have a greater impact on

their learning with students more able to focus on day one skills, thus enhancing constructive alignment within the curriculum.
Chapter 7: Discussion

7.1: What is the impact of assessment on CA within the SVMS curriculum?

A discussion of the findings from each of the 5 studies has already been provided at the end of each chapter. This section will recap the main findings and limitations relating to each of the research questions that have led to a proposed model of CA in the SVMS curriculum (figure 7.1). The conclusions are then considered within the wider context of veterinary and healthcare education.

7.1.1: What are the intended learning outcomes of the veterinary medicine course?

Twenty-five ILOs for the SVMS graduate were identified and expressed as a list of knowledge, skills and attributes in chapter 4. The list is comprised of veterinary specific outcomes along with more generic transferable skills and is closely aligned with the previously published studies (Gilling and Parkinson, 2009, Mellanby et al., 2011, Schull et al., 2011) and the SVMS learning outcomes described in the existing course documentation. A limitation to the methods in study 1 is the range of stakeholders involved in defining the outcomes. Whilst SVMS staff and clinicians working closely with the students placed high importance on the outcomes generated, the findings from study 5 suggest that recruitment of students and a broader sample of employers might have resulted in a slightly different list. The ILOs should be regularly reviewed to reflect the changing demands of the profession and the range of stakeholders consulted during this process should be reconsidered (Harden, 1999, Trent, 2002, Davis, 2003). However, the ILOs generated were used successfully within the graduate survey in study 2 that provided valuable information about the SVMS curriculum as preparation for new graduate veterinary surgeons.

7.1.2: Do teaching, learning and assessment prepare students for the demands of clinical practice?

The results of study 2 demonstrated that most graduates regarded the education they received at the SVMS as good preparation for their career in clinical practice. However, their perceptions of the assessment methods alone were less positive. These results suggest that elements of the SVMS assessment strategy have a negative impact on learning behaviour, and therefore on constructive alignment, resulting in students preparing differently for examinations and future employment. The students rated a written assessment as best preparation for their current roles. This is an interesting finding considering that this format only assesses students at the level of 'Knows how' according to Miller's hierarchical description of clinical competence assessment (Miller, 1990). One explanation could be that the context of the assessments aimed at the levels of 'shows how' and 'does' need to be reconsidered to achieve maximum educational benefit from these formats (Govaerts et al., 2007). There was a lack of significant correlations between undergraduate performance and preparation for practice, which is perhaps unsurprising, although interpretation of these findings is problematic. Whilst the existing literature highlighting issues concerning self-assessment should be considered (Doucet and Vrins, 2010, Woolliscroft et al., 1993), these results challenge the purpose of some components of the SVMS assessment strategy previously discussed in chapter 4.

There are several limitations to the conclusions drawn from the results of the graduate survey. In addition to the lack of a direct assessment of graduate performance and the small sample sizes previously discussed, these data represent a snapshot of the graduates' opinions several months after graduation. It is impossible to predict the influence of factors such as their work experience, the support they have received and any CPD they have participated in on their responses. Neither do these results provide evidence for any lasting effects of the SVMS curriculum.

Despite these limitations, elements of the curriculum were highlighted as excellent preparation for practice. For example, professional practice and clinical examination skills were regarded highly. Other areas, such as veterinary public health and emergency care were identified in need of development. These insights provided by the indirect outcomes assessment, have led the SVMS management team to adopt the graduate survey as part of the School's annual curriculum evaluation process.

7.1.3: What is the impact of assessment methods, used in the final year of study in veterinary medicine, on learning behaviour?

Three assessment formats were studied in depth, the MCQ, SCT and DOPS, different learning behaviours were seen as a consequence of each format. The more authentic assessment formats appeared to elicit more desirable learning behaviour, whereas the MCQ was perceived by many as a test of short-term memory and resulted in rote learning. However assessment related factors, for example the timing, different assessors, the consequences and the purpose of assessments were found to have more influence on learning behaviour than the format *per se*. These

findings are aligned to those of a previous study in medical students (Cilliers et al., 2010).

The educational impact of the assessments was usually described in preparation for an examination. The catalytic effect described by Norcini et al. (2011) was less apparent, suggesting a need for more effective student feedback that acts as a trigger for deep learning approaches. Although there was some evidence of the feedback from DOPS having a positive impact on WPBL, improvements to the assessment strategy through increased observation of student performance and subsequent feedback could enhance this effect. Therefore greater emphasis on effective feedback in conjunction with a review of the assessment timetable has the potential to achieve greater CA resulting in students adopting a more consistent deep approach rather than resorting to surface strategies in preparation for exams.

The SCT was shown to have high face validity but more importantly resulted in students drawing on their clinical experience and functional knowledge to make clinical decisions. The students considered the SCT to be an effective assessment of clinical reasoning and also helpful in the development of their clinical reasoning skills. However, consistent with the findings of the DOPS, some of the educational benefits were countered by the implementation of the test and the lack of understanding of both students and the expert panel on the purpose and mechanics of the format. Attempts to resolve this issue are currently being investigated by the teaching, learning and assessment committee.

One of the criticisms of the methods used in studies 3 and 4 could be the hierarchical relationship of the researcher with the student participants. The role of the researcher in teaching and assessment within the school could have led to a reluctance of the students to talk openly about the curriculum and potential bias in data analysis. However, as discussed in chapter 3, this potential flaw was recognised from the outset and a reflexive approach was adopted. On reflection, the students did not appear to hold back when voicing their opinions regarding assessment and strategies such as collaborative coding reduced any bias during the analysis of qualitative data. Another limitation is that these data represent the students' perceptions of assessment and their educational effects. Direct measurement of their learning approaches through observation or might have yielded different results. learning diaries However, interpretation of results from these methods can also be problematic (Halbach, 2000).

Despite these limitations the conclusion that the format is less important than the way in which the assessment is used reflects a shift in research on assessment in healthcare education, from a focus on the psychometric properties of individual formats to the context and interpretation of each assessment within the overall strategy (Norcini, 2013, Govaerts et al., 2007, Kane, 2013).

7.1.4: What is the perception of final year students and employers of new graduates of the requirements for a successful transition to practice?

The students placed more importance on the role of knowledge and veterinary specific skills in their transition to practice compared to the employers. However, the students did appreciate interpersonal skills, communication and professionalism, which are valued by employers and essential for the role of a practising veterinary surgeon. The employers' view in this study that knowledge is less important than some transferable skills when recruiting new graduates was consistent with previous findings (Routly et al., 2002, Schull et al., 2012, Bonvicini, 2010, Mellanby et al., 2011). However, there seemed to be an underlying assumption amongst employers that the universities would equip students with an appropriate knowledge base. Therefore upon graduation employers could focus on the clinical and transferable skills that they do not consider to be sufficiently covered in veterinary degree courses. There also appears to be a mismatch between the employers' perception of graduates' transferable skills and graduates' own perceptions of how well prepared they feel in these areas. Perhaps further integration of private practice with the universities would provide employers with the opportunity to have more influence over undergraduate training and also enable a greater appreciation of the recent changes to veterinary curricula.

Both students and employers saw clinical experience as important preparation for the transition to practice. Many students sought additional opportunity to improve their day-one skills prior to finding employment. It appears therefore that during final year the imminent transition to

practice has a positive impact on students' learning behaviour and therefore on CA. Students reflect on their own ability and identify opportunity for the deliberate practice that they perceive and others have shown to be essential for success (Ericsson, 2007). In the current assessment strategy, this effect is opposed by the impact of the finals examination and this might account for the increased importance placed on knowledge by the students compared to the employers.

Some differences were identified in the opinions of employers from different types of practice, although these results should be interpreted with caution due to low numbers of participants representing these groups, for example, within equine practice and referral institutes. The impact of career choice on the transition to practice warrants further research, this would facilitate universities in designing programmes that prepare students for future employment.

As with the previous studies, non-random sampling and small sample sizes limit the generalizability of these findings. Perceptions of graduates and employers are not direct measures of success, however observation of new graduates in practice and measurement of their performance against success criteria would be challenging within the current structure of the profession. The opinions of employers and final year students were sought in this study; consideration of the views of all members of the practice team might have led to different results. Another important measure of new graduate success might be client satisfaction as they are often best placed to judge patient outcomes that are arguably the most important criterion for assessing success in practice (Asch et al., 2009).

7.1.5: A proposed model to illustrate the impact of assessment on CA.

The results of the research within this thesis have identified the effects of individual assessment formats on student learning. However, visualising the overall impact of the assessment strategy on the SVMS curriculum is challenging. Figure 7.1 has been created in an attempt to illustrate the author's opinion of the impact of assessment on CA following this research. In the ideal model of CA, the ILOs and the SLOs are closely aligned (represented in figure 7.1 as grey bands at the beginning and end of the curriculum). Professional, knowledge based and practical learning objectives are delivered throughout the five-year course (vertical black lines). Teaching, learning (blue discs) and assessment (dark red bands) are designed to allow students to develop in all three areas.

The traditional model does not necessarily represent a current veterinary curriculum; it is based on reports of traditional curricula and the author's personal experience of veterinary education in the UK. It should be acknowledged that in many schools across Europe and North America, assessment strategies now exist with the aim of assessing clinical skills and professionalism throughout the curriculum. In this traditional model teaching, learning and assessment are focussed on knowledge-based objectives and are not aligned with any ILOs; this results in variable SLOs (shown in yellow). Variation is dependent on contextual factors such as case exposure, supervising clinicians and the unique hidden curriculum integral to each school as well as individual learning preferences. Deficiencies in certain areas, mainly professional and practical skills (shown in red) are the result of a lack of CA. Variation and deficiencies in

ILOs are not quantifiable and the actual width of these bands are not intended to accurately represent a given number of learning outcomes, they are intended to provide a comparison between models.

The proposed SVMS model shows graduates as having some variation in the SLOs, this is inevitable given the contextual factors described above. The outcomes based approach has led to greater emphasis on professionalism and practical skills within the curriculum resulting in fewer gaps in these areas. However the assessment strategy encourages students to focus on knowledge acquisition that is perceived as essential for success in examinations. The alignment of outcomes related to professionalism is not entirely clear (red and yellow hatching), on the one hand graduates felt well prepared in areas of professionalism, communication and interpersonal skills, however, employers still perceive graduates to be less well prepared in these areas. In addition the portfolio assessment received mixed reviews, some students rated the portfolio as poor preparation for practice and the impact on their reflective and professional skills is not clear.

This model represents the author's opinion on CA within different veterinary curricula following investigations of learning behaviour, students' perception of assessment and graduates' perceptions of preparation for practice. Other methods exist to enable judgements to be made regarding the alignment within a curriculum. For example, curriculum mapping has been shown to be an effective method of evaluating and maintaining alignment of the declared curriculum (Bell et al., 2009a, Harden, 2001). The University of Nottingham curriculum

mapping tool is used within the SVMS to map session learning objectives to the course outcomes written in the programme specification, the RCVS and the EEAVE accreditation criteria. Any changes to learning objectives are approved by the teaching, learning and assessment committee before being changed within the curriculum map. This process enables monitoring of the declared curriculum to prevent curriculum drift and maintain alignment.

Additional methods exist within the SVMS to monitor curriculum alignment. An overview of this process has been provided in figure 2.3 within chapter 2. One important stage in this curriculum review cycle is the analysis of the results of direct student assessment. Classical test theory is used to produce measures of difficulty and discrimination. Areas where students have performed less well are fed back to the module convenor for consideration at the module review. Teaching and learning activities and assessment items can then be modified, if appropriate, to maximise alignment of student and intended learning outcomes.

The author acknowledges that different conclusions might have been made regarding the alignment of the SVMS curriculum, based on analysis of the curriculum map or results of direct assessments. However, the research within this thesis was concerned with the alignment of the learned curriculum and subsequent achievement of ILOs. The conclusions drawn regarding CA and the proposed model in figure 7.1 are based on these findings.



Figure 7.1: Three proposed models of constructive alignment.

The ILOs (grey) are used to construct learning objectives that are delivered throughout the 5 years (vertical black arrows). The blue discs represent teaching and learning, the dark red bands represent assessment. SLOs are shown in grey in the ideal curriculum, red and yellow outcomes represent variation in student outcomes. Further explanation is provided in the main text.

7.2: Implications of the research for assessment strategies

7.2.1: Programmatic assessment

A significant outcome of this research is that the purpose and implementation of assessment are far more influential on learning behaviour than the choice of format. Historically, research into assessment of clinical competence has focussed on the psychometric properties of individual assessments and educators have become focussed on selecting reliable and valid formats (Regehr et al., 1998, Valentino et al., 1998, Cook and Beckman, 2009, Hecker et al., 2010, Auewarakul et al., 2005). However, this has often led to objectification of assessment criteria, which does not automatically result in increased reliability or validity and can have detrimental effects on student learning behaviour (Van Der Vleuten et al., 1991, Van Der Vleuten and Schuwirth, 2005). Over emphasis of objectivity and the consequences of high stakes assessments of performance may be responsible for the students' and graduates' perceptions of the assessments of 'shows how' and 'does' within this research. More recently a focus on programmes of assessment calls for a blend of assessment methods which sample broadly across a range of competencies and provide meaningful feedback to the learner (Van Der Vleuten and Schuwirth, 2005, Govaerts et al., 2007). Issues of reliability are overcome by sufficient sampling to address the concept of case specificity, regardless of the assessment format, and assessor variation should be regarded as judgement not an error (Gingerich et al., 2011). High stakes decisions should not be made based on the results of

one assessment point (Govaerts and Van Der Vleuten, 2013) and inferences made about the scores are more important than the details of the response format when considering validity (Kane, 2013). These current recommendations regarding competence assessment broadly support the conclusions drawn from the research within this thesis: lowering the stakes and increasing opportunity for observation and feedback, with increased emphasis on assessment at the level of 'does' (Miller, 1990), will have a positive impact on learning behaviour and improve CA within the curriculum.

7.2.2: New perspectives on WPBA

Providing further assessment opportunities at the 'does level' will involve an increased use of WPBA. The relationship between WPBA and WPBL appears more closely integrated than classroom based learning and more traditional forms of assessment. Due to the ongoing nature of WPBA and opportunistic sampling, assessment becomes part of everyday practice and therefore cannot be separated from the learning experience. It is therefore essential that students and staff perceive WPBA to be a valuable tool for both the development and assessment of clinical competence. Lack of engagement of staff results in a decrease in the quality of feedback to students (Nair et al., 2012, Bindal et al., 2011) thus compromising the catalytic educational benefits. For the students WPBA has the potential to become a tick-box exercise where many adopt a strategic approach to meet the assessment requirements, often selecting assessors they consider to be less harsh. Concerns over assessor variation are not unique to students and attempts have been made to identify the sources of assessor variation and minimise its effects (Crossley et al.,

2011, Govaerts et al., 2013, McGill et al., 2011). Following reports of low reliability Govaerts and Van Der Vleuten (2013) challenge the psychometric analysis of WPBA and propose that it is viewed as a socially situated interpretivist act. They suggest that in addition to case specificity, performance also varies due to social and contextual factors. Assessors cannot be seen as passive measures of clinical competence, they construct their own viewpoints and are also influenced by multiple, contextual factors (Kogan et al., 2011). Therefore when considering clinical competence the concept of a true score existing across all contexts, which is fundamental to psychometric analysis, is less likely. Multiple judgements from different assessors should be used to build a picture of an individual's performance rather than relying merely on standardisation of the assessors and the process to enhance reliability (Steinert et al., 2009).

The value of WPBA lies in the interaction between assessors and students and the feedback provided, rather than any quantitative measure of competence (Norcini, 2013). If these interactions are to successfully enhance WPBL, the clinical environment must be considered; there is evidence to support the claim that the quality of care provided within a training hospital affects the trainees' clinical performance post-graduation (Asch et al., 2009, Sirovich et al., 2014). Clinicians as educators must be exemplary role models and the desire to teach is essential (Al Kadri et al., 2011). To provide an appropriate clinical environment to optimise WPBA, with effective relationships between trainees and assessors, a change to the way in which many practitioners regard clinical teaching and assessment is required.

Programmatic assessment comprising multiple low stakes WPBAs has been successfully implemented within a veterinary curriculum in the Netherlands (Bok et al., 2013). The authors conclude that the programme enhanced assessment for learning through increased social interaction including peer feedback, however, implementation was challenging and required extensive staff training to ensure meaningful feedback.

It might be helpful for educators to consider the language used in WPBA to construct assessment criteria and deliver feedback to students. Ten Cate (2005) introduced the concept of entrustable professional activity (EPA) within post graduate medical education. EPAs were designed to bridge the gap between assessment of clinical competencies and feasibility in a hospital environment. They describe tasks which the trainee can perform without supervision (Ten Cate, 2013). Using the level of supervision required to make judgements on trainees' performance could be helpful to assessors within veterinary education, and might also provide more meaningful feedback to students.

7.2.3: Assessment literacy

In addition to educating assessors, increasing the students' understanding of assessment can be helpful to achieving CA. Assessment literacy is described by Smith et al. (2013) as:

"Students' understanding of the rules surrounding assessment in their course context, their use of assessment tasks to monitor or further their learning and their ability to work with the guidelines on standards in their context to produce work of a predictable standard." Improving assessment literacy enables students to appreciate the role of assessments in the development of clinical competence and to evaluate their own progress, which is essential to lifelong learning. These skills allow students to develop a learning approach appropriate for achieving the ILOs and have been shown to impact positively on performance (Price et al., 2012, Smith et al., 2013).

Improving assessment literacy amongst students is important, although learning behaviour is largely dependent on the students' perceptions of an assessment format. A focus on the MCQ format from year one, could result in deeply motivated students being at a disadvantage in the current SVMS system where surface strategies appear to be associated with examination success. Perceptions are based on prior experience of the assessment and its consequences, other students, staff and finally official SVMS documentation. Assessment literacy could be beneficial in changing the perceptions of the MCQ examination as an assessment of knowledge recall. However, the impact of an assessment literacy intervention at final year is likely to be minimal if the students' experience of the MCQ format in previous years remains unchanged. Therefore the MCQ assessments in years one to four needs to focus on functional knowledge applied to clinical problems and less on recall of declarative knowledge. A more contextualised assessment of knowledge is likely to be more aligned with the ILOs of the course and encourage deep learning approaches. The introduction of a progress test could be beneficial where students are exposed to high level, case-based MCQs each year from the beginning of the course. Longitudinal feedback on performance is provided and this

type of testing has been associated with increased independent and desirable learning strategies (Van Berkel et al., 1994, Blake et al., 1996).

7.2.4: Evaluation of the assessment strategy

The research in this thesis is concerned with CA and in particular the relationship between undergraduate assessment and graduate outcomes. Therefore one important question to consider is "Will these proposed changes to the assessment strategy result in graduates feeling better prepared for practice?" However, improving how well prepared graduates feel doesn't provide evidence of better performance in practice. This type of predictive validity is problematic, in medical education relationships between undergraduate performance, postgraduate training assessments and measurements of patient care have been explored (Hamdy et al., 2006, Tamblyn et al., 2002). However, claims over predictive validity rely on the criteria used for comparison being a valid measure of performance, this is open to challenge considering recent opinions regarding the validity of in training assessments (Kane, 2013, Govaerts and Van Der Vleuten, 2013). In veterinary education predictive validity is even more difficult to demonstrate with a lack of postgraduate training and assessments. Therefore although predictive validity may be a desirable concept to evaluate undergraduate assessments, it may not be feasible to measure in any meaningful way. Despite the challenges associated with measuring success in practice, support and training for veterinary graduates cannot be ignored and is the subject for discussion in the next section.

7.3: The transition from veterinary student to veterinary surgeon

The transition from student to practitioner will always be a challenging period for newly qualified vets. A major concern for new graduates is accepting responsibility for cases and the clinical decisions they are required to make. Veterinary clinical practice entails a variety of different roles requiring different skill sets, in addition veterinary surgeons are required for a number of positions outside of veterinary practice and so preparing graduates for their potential future careers is problematic. One criticism of the veterinary profession is the lack of consistent support and supervised training for new graduates. Although initiatives exist which offer support to graduates (Boulton and McIntyre, 2012, Hunting, 2007) these rely on individuals actively seeking further guidance and support and are not mandatory. The introduction of the compulsory professional development phase (PDP) by the RCVS (RCVS, 2007) is a step towards improved support for all graduates. However this is still far removed from the continuum of medical education, in which postgraduate training continues to provide a focus for educational research and development (Calman et al., 1999, Ovseiko et al., 2014).

As the veterinary profession continues to expand and evolve in the 21st century it is not clear what competent practice will involve for vets of the future. Whilst a more structured approach to postgraduate training would be beneficial, it is essential that we also equip graduates with lifelong learning skills in order that they can continue to develop within the profession providing the best possible care for the animals under their

care. Lifelong learning is undoubtedly important for all vets, it is required by the RCVS for day one competency and due to the diversity of the role of the veterinary surgeon it is essential for those changing careers within the profession. Veterinary curricula have been criticised for lacking in transferable skills such as lifelong learning, communication and interpersonal skills (Routly et al., 2002, Schull et al., 2012, Mellanby et al., 2011). There has been an emphasis on the delivery and assessment of and transferable skills within the personal professionalism and professional skills modules at the SVMS. This appears to have been successful in that graduates perceive themselves to be prepared for these aspects of practice, however the extent of the impact of these interventions on the transition to practice is unclear. Alignment of teaching and assessment of veterinary professionalism with the requirements for practice will undoubtedly be the subject of future research of veterinary education.

In addition to these transferable skills, there are domain specific skills that are essential for success and these will differ according to the type of practice in which a graduate is working. Veterinary educators face the challenge of maintaining a balance of veterinary specific and non-specific skills within their curricula. Furthermore the requirement for graduates to become competent across species areas is becoming increasingly problematic. With a continually expanding knowledge base in all areas of veterinary science, the concept of tracking has been the subject of research and debate within the profession. These issues will be considered in the following section in which changes to the SVMS curriculum are proposed.

7.4: A veterinary curriculum for the future

The outcomes-based SVMS curriculum has been largely successful at preparing graduates for the challenges of veterinary practice. The proposed changes focus on increasing the proportion of WPBL within the course, more emphasis on functioning knowledge and decreasing the delivery and assessment of declarative knowledge. Table 7.1 provides a summary of the proposed changes that are aimed at improving CA within the curriculum. Figure 7.2 illustrates an overview of the current SVMS curriculum and the proposed curriculum incorporating the suggested changes.

Curricular component	Proposed change	Reason for the change			
Learning outcomes	Ensuring all learning outcomes for	Despite an outcome based approach there is evidence of			
	sessions are aligned with the ILOs of	content overload resulting in students focussing primarily on			
	the course will reduce some of the	retention of declarative knowledge that could be accessed			
	content across all modules	through appropriate use of resources.			
Teaching and learning	A decrease in the number of lectures	The content and delivery will be more closely aligned with the			
methods	in the course delivering declarative	ILOs of the course			
	knowledge. Fewer, signposting				
	lectures, used for functioning				
	knowledge.				
Modules	All will be streamlined and	To reduce content overload and over emphasis of recall of			
	consolidated	knowledge			
	Learning outcomes from the practical	Emphasize clinical skills within 3^{rd} and 4^{th} year in preparation			
	techniques module to be integrated	for WPBL. At present there is less emphasis and no			

and delivered within the clinical	assessment of practical skills within the clinical systems
modules in year 4	modules. Addition of a practical assessment will drive
	learning and result in students being better prepared for
	rotations in terms of clinical skills as well as clinical
	knowledge. Integration will allow students to contextualise
	the skills with the clinical science.
Year 4 VPH module removed and a	Theoretical delivery of VPH has been poorly received because
VPH delivered through WPBL with	students fail to see the relevance of the subject at that stage.
some topics integrated into Y3 and	4 Students place more value on VPH teaching within the
clinical modules	rotations.

WPBL	Increase time spent on clinical	Students, graduates and employers all value clinical
	rotations from 12 to 18 months	experience as preparation for practice
	WPBL split into 12 months core	12 months core rotations in existing clinical associate
	rotations and 6 months track rotations	practices will allow development in all species areas as
		required by RCVS.

6 months track rotations will be delivered outside of existing clinical associates to allow simultaneous delivery of Y4 and Y5

WPBL. The aim of this is preparation for day one in their chosen area of veterinary practice

Assessment	Remove the finals examination at the	This will remove the conflict between preparing for exams
	'knows how' level and increase	and preparing for performance in clinical practice, therefore
	observation and feedback through	enhancing alignment of assessment with the ILOs. Increased
	WPBA	WPBA will provide more feedback to students and richer
		information on student performance at the `shows how' and
		'does' level. This information will be collated and used to
		make decisions around graduation.
	Years 3 and 4 practical assessment	Integration of the practical skills module will enable emphasis
		on teaching but also assessment of practical skills in
		preparation for clinical rotations.
	Years 3 and 4 'knows how'	No additional knowledge based content is delivered during
	assessment will include the MCQ and	rotations, therefore with appropriate standard setting this
	SCT questions from the previous finals	examination will provide a more authentic assessment of

examination.	knowledge in preparation for clinical rotations
Implementation of a progress test,	To show individual development throughout the course and
using clinically relevant, case based	also change students' perceptions of the requirements for
questions	knowledge based examinations
Table 7.1: Proposed changes to the SVMS curriculum	

Year 1	MSK LCB	Christmas	CRS AHW &PPS	Easter	NEU AHW &PPS
Year 2	GIL AHW &PPS	Christmas	URI REP AHW & PPS	Easter	ENI AHW &PPS
Year 3	Research Project	Christmas	PVS PRT	Easter	ENI NEU LCB
Year 4	PPS MSK GIL	Christmas	CRS REP URI	Easter	WPBL
Year 5	WPBL	Christmas	WPBL	Easter	



Figure 7.2: An overview of the current SVMS curriculum (top) and the proposed curriculum (bottom).

The major change in this proposal is the increase in WPBL to enable a six months tracked rotation in which the student selects the area of practice in which they would like to work. The aim of this rotation would be to provide students with additional experience of working in first opinion practice in order for them to improve their clinical skills and ability to manage the types of cases they will encounter as a new graduate. In addition the rotation would provide increased opportunity to develop the and professional skills essential interpersonal within а practice environment. The aim would not be to expand students' knowledge of specialist practice through observation of a referral caseload in a hospital environment. However, in addition to the obvious species area tracks, there would be potential to offer minor tracks, one of which may be referral practice, aimed at preparing students who wish to apply for internships and are planning a career in specialist practice.

This concept of tracking within veterinary curricula has been previously explored (Eyre, 2002, Radostits, 2003, Walsh et al., 2009, Crowther et al., 2014a, 2014b) and both partial and full tracking has been suggested. Partial tracking involves a core curriculum whereby graduates obtain a full license to practice in all species areas; for a smaller percentage of the curriculum students select their preferred species area or track to focus on. Full tracking requires the student to select their preferred track much earlier in the course or on application; as the majority of the course is devoted to one area graduates are awarded a restricted license to practice in their chosen field. Whist there have been reports of tracked curricula (Eyre, 2002, Walsh et al., 2009) the majority of veterinary schools in the

UK devote a relatively small proportion of their time to tracking through elective rotations (Crowther et al., 2014a).

Eyre (2002) describes the specialisation that occurs within engineering undergraduate degree programs and the benefits to students, educators and employers. Within this paper potential advantages of tracking within veterinary undergraduate curricula are also proposed and include more efficient utilisation of resources, improved competence at graduation, reducing irrelevant content within the curriculum, increased student and graduate satisfaction, enhancement of the overall competence of the profession and targeted selection for admission to different tracks. Others have described the potential disadvantages that include the requirement for students to make career choices based on limited experience, graduates are restricted to one area of practice without re-training at further cost, increased administration is required to deliver and assess several undergraduate courses, certain tracks maybe over or undersubscribed and finally many practising veterinary surgeons are still required to attend all species areas within their role as a mixed practitioner (Radostits, 2003, Walsh et al., 2009).

In a survey of practitioners, students and university staff in the UK, the majority of participants disagreed with the idea of full tracking but were in support of partial tracking (Crowther et al., 2014a). Twenty-six per cent of practitioners reported a change in career path following graduation and the career aspirations of students differed from the employment opportunities for graduates. The authors conclude that if tracking is to be

introduced it should be done so with caution and in combination with additional careers advice for students (Crowther et al., 2014a, 2014b).

Veterinary professionals have a strong identity and are proud of the diversity of their qualification. Many practitioners and students will have enjoyed the stories of James Herriott, a mixed veterinary practitioner, who is likely to be responsible for inspiring generations to join the veterinary profession. However, these stories, based on the experiences of mixed practice over fifty years ago, almost certainly do not reflect the requirements of the profession today. It is therefore time for change and for veterinary educators to accept the current demands on graduates. Partial tracking within this proposal would ease the transition to practice and increase employability. Additional case responsibility for students, with feedback from an experienced mentor would provide further insight into the challenges and requirements for independent clinical practice.

7.4.1: Risks associated with the proposed curriculum

The proposed new curriculum described in table 7.1 and discussed within this section involves some major changes to the current curriculum. Inevitably, such major changes have associated risks which must be considered prior to their implementation. The changes and associated risks are described in table 7.2

Proposed change	Associated risk
Alignment of session outcomes with the	Low risk:
ILOs of the course	This work is ongoing with embedded module convenors to identify and address
	areas of content overload.
Reduction in the number of lectures	Moderate risk:
	This is likely to result in poor feedback from some students who prefer didactic
	teaching and associate more self-directed methods with uncertainty. Resistance
	from teaching staff due to additional work involved in re-designing existing
	teaching material
Removal of content from some modules	Moderate risk:
	Could receive criticism from external advisors and accrediting bodies. Poor
	feedback from EMS providers if there is an apparent difference in knowledge of

	SVMS students compared to those from other UK vet schools
Integration of the practical techniques	Moderate risk:
module	Poor student feedback as they enjoy this block module.
	This has provided timely practice of clinical skills before CEMS therefore could
	impact the reputation of SVMS students and EMS provider feedback
Integration of the veterinary public health	Moderate risk:
(VPH) teaching	Integration of VPH as a compensatable topic is likely to be perceived poorly by
	accrediting bodies, especially considering the emphasis of VPH teaching within
	Europe. However, graduates require an additional OV (official veterinarian)
	qualification for VPH work within the UK
	Student feedback will almost certainly be positive
Increase in the time spent on WPBL	High risk:

	Increased pressure on clinical associate practices could jeopardise the
	F
	relationship with the SVMS
	Chudente que offere un estain alegat their unaformed and of any stice as
	Students are often uncertain about their preferred area of practice as
	undergraduates and would need support in colecting a track
	undergraduates and would need support in selecting a track
Replacement of final examination with	High risk:
WPBA	Decrease lowel according to decrease fit within the evicting university structure
	Program level assessment does not fit within the existing university structure.
	Lack of a final examination to assess knowledge could receive criticism from
	Lack of a final examination to assess knowledge could receive entitism from
	accrediting bodies.
	It could be problematic finding sufficient opportunity for all students to create a
	veliable MODA an which to been bick staling supporting designs
	reliable wPBA on which to base high stakes summative decisions
Introduction of practical assessment to	Moderate risk:
year 4	The supervised as a second
	increased assessment burden for students. Increased assessment and

administrative	burden	for	SVMS	staff
----------------	--------	-----	------	-------

Contextualisation of years 3 and 4 written	Low risk:
assessments	Could receive poor student feedback post examination. This could be avoided through appropriate formative assessment and assessment literacy interventions
Implementation of a progress test	Low risk:
	This could be avoided through assessment literacy interventions.

Table 7.2: The risks associated with each of the proposals for the new curriculum

7.5: Implications of the findings for veterinary

education and future work

The research within this thesis was conducted in the context of one university and with a sample of participants from three cohorts of veterinary students. It is therefore important to consider which of the main findings might be generalizable to the wider context of veterinary education. The following sections, in the authors' opinion, provide a summary of the conclusions drawn from the research that veterinary educators in other institutes may relate to and find useful. Suggestions for future research are also provided.

7.5.1: Outcomes assessment

Alumni surveys as indirect assessment of learning outcomes provide valuable information for the process of curriculum review and development. The ILOs of the course must be regularly reviewed and a variety of stakeholders should be involved in this process. Feedback from students and graduates on the direct assessment of outcomes should be utilised to ensure optimal alignment of assessment with the ILOs of the course.

Future developments within OA should include the opinions of employers, colleagues and clients regarding the performance of new graduates. Longitudinal studies would be beneficial to explore any lasting effects of undergraduate education. Whilst valid measurements of performance in practice may be challenging to implement, assessment as part of postgraduate training and support is an area that warrants further

research. The extensive research that exists within medical education might be beneficial in informing future studies within the veterinary profession. Finally a collaborative approach to OA would facilitate the comparison of different curricula and educational interventions.

7.5.2: The impact of assessment on CA

A focus on assessment of declarative knowledge in the early years of the course can affect students' perceptions of assessments in later years. As a result, assessment often has a negative impact on CA. Increasing the authenticity of assessments has a positive effect on approach to learning. In addition the use of WPBA is likely to result in graduates feeling better prepared for practice, however as with all assessments effective implementation is essential. Poorly implemented assessments often impact negatively on CA. WPBA with observation of students' performance and qualitative feedback can provide a framework for clinical teaching however, further research is required into the use of WPBA to make summative decisions in veterinary clinical education. There are areas within the SVMS assessment strategy which haven't been investigated within this thesis, for example, the portfolio. Further investigation into the educational impact of the portfolio within this context would be beneficial to maximise its use in preparing students for a career in professional practice.

7.5.3: Assessment literacy

Staff and students should be engaged with the assessment process and increasing awareness of assessment amongst students can facilitate this.

Particular attention should be given to novel formats such as the SCT that was valued as an assessment of clinical reasoning but a lack of understanding of the format resulted in issues surrounding reliability and acceptability. Careful planning and implementation is essential to ensure feasibility and success of the SCT. Facilitated discussions around assessments and feedback enhance assessment literacy amongst students and also provide an opportunity to collate students' opinions to enable a better understanding of the educational effects of the assessments used. Further research into the implementation of assessment literacy into the curriculum is required to understand the types of activities that will enhance learning and their impact on student performance.

7.5.4: The transition to veterinary practice

Educators should not underestimate the influence of the transition to practice on student learning. In addition they should appreciate that this is inevitably a stressful time for new graduates and therefore develop their curricula to prepare students for the challenges of employment. Strategies that will lead to greater preparation are likely to include increased case responsibility for students, more opportunity to practise clinical skills relevant to their future employment and further experience of case management with an emphasis on professional practice within the veterinary team. Further work is needed to develop a greater understanding of the requirements for practice within different species areas. This can then be used to inform future developments in veterinary curricula with the aim of enhancing preparation and employability within a chosen field. Finally, development of effective postgraduate training and support strategies is required to ensure a continuum of veterinary education for all newly qualified veterinary surgeons.

7.6: Conclusion

At the start of each academic year, the staff at the SVMS are fortunate to welcome a group of deeply motivated students to the course. To assure their place at vet school, each student has demonstrated high academic achievement and a commitment to gaining relevant work experience whilst maintaining an appropriate balance of extra curricula activities. Their desire to become a veterinary surgeon and dedication to animal welfare has earned them their place at vet school. As educators, the learning outcomes we declare, the way in which we teach but most importantly the way in which we assess the students drives their learning behaviour. We have a responsibility to deliver a curriculum that allows a deep approach to the development of veterinary clinical competence and inspires students to reach their full potential. Currently not all assessments have a positive impact on learning and we must strive to continually improve our assessment strategy to achieve CA. Through a greater understanding of the transition to different areas of practice we can continue to refine our ILOs and develop our curriculum to meet the changing demands of the veterinary profession. CA provides a framework for curriculum development to ensure we provide the best possible education and that our students become the excellent veterinary surgeons they aspire to be.
References

- ADAMS, C. L., & KURTZ, S. 2012. Coaching and feedback: enhancing communication teaching and learning in veterinary practice settings. *Journal of veterinary medical education*, 39, 217-228.
- AL-KADRI, H. M., AL-KADI, M. T. & VAN DER VLEUTEN, C. P. 2013. Workplace-based assessment and students' approaches to learning: a qualitative inquiry. *Medical teacher*, 35, S31-S38.
- AL-KADRI, H. M., AL-MOAMARY, M. S., ROBERTS, C. & VAN DER VLEUTEN, C. P. M. 2012. Exploring assessment factors contributing to students' study strategies: Literature review. *Medical teacher*, 34, S42-S50.
- AL KADRI, H. M., AL-MOAMARY, M. S., ELZUBAIR, M., MAGZOUB, M. E., ALMUTAIRI, A., ROBERTS, C. & VAN DER VLEUTEN, C. 2011. Exploring factors affecting undergraduate medical students' study strategies in the clinical years: a qualitative study. Advances in health sciences education, 16, 553-567.
- ALBANESE, M. A., MEJICANO, G., MULLAN, P., KOKOTAILO, P. & GRUPPEN, L. 2008. Defining characteristics of educational competencies. *Medical education*, 42, 248-255.
- ALBANESE, M. A. & MITCHELL, S. 1993. Problem-based learning: A review of literature on its outcomes and implementation issues. *Academic medicine*, 68, 52-81.
- ALVES DE LIMA, A., BARRERO, C., BARATTA, S., CASTILLO COSTA, Y., BORTMAN, G., CARABAJALES, J., CONDE, D., GALLI, A., DEGRANGE, G. & VAN DER VLEUTEN, C. 2007. Validity, reliability, feasibility and satisfaction of the Mini-Clinical Evaluation Exercise (Mini-CEX) for cardiology residency training. *Medical teacher*, 29, 785-790.
- ALWIN, D. F. 1991. Research on survey quality. Sociological methods & research, 20, 3-29.
- ANDERSON, L.E., KRATHWOHL, D.R., AIRASIAN, P.W., CRUIKSHANK, K.A., MAYER, R.E., PINTRICH, P.R., RATHS, J. & WITTROCK, M.C. 2001. A taxonomy for learning, teaching and assessing: A revision of Bloom's taxonomy of educational objectives. Longman. New York.
- ANON 2008. Preparing graduates for the challenges ahead. Veterinary record, 163.
- ASCH, D. A., NICHOLSON, S., SRINIVAS, S., HERRIN, J. & EPSTEIN, A. J. 2009. Evaluating obstetrical residency programs using patient outcomes. *Journal of the American medical association*, 302, 1277-1283.
- ASKEW, K., MANTHEY, D. & MAHLER, S. 2012. Clinical reasoning: are we testing what we are teaching? *Medical education*, 46, 540-542.
- AUEWARAKUL, C., DOWNING, S. M., PRADITSUWAN, R. & JATURATAMRONG, U. 2005. Item analysis to improve reliability for an internal medicine undergraduate OSCE. *Advances in health sciences education*, 10, 105-113.

- AVMA. 2014. COE Accreditation Policies and Procedures [Online]. Available: <u>https://www.avma.org/ProfessionalDevelopment/Education/Accreditation/Colleges</u> <u>/Pages/coe-pp.aspx</u> [Accessed 6th May 2014 2014].
- AVS, BVA. 2012. British Veterinary Association and the Association of Veterinary Students Survey Results 2012.
- BAILLIE, S., MELLOR, D. J., BREWSTER, S. A. & REID, S. W. 2005. Integrating a bovine rectal palpation simulator into an undergraduate veterinary curriculum. *Journal of veterinary medical education*, 32, 79-85.
- BAILLIE, S., PIERCE, S. E. & MAY, S. A. 2010. Fostering integrated learning and clinical professionalism using contextualized simulation in a small-group role-play. *Journal of veterinary medical education*, 37, 248-253.
- BARK, H. & COHEN, R. 2002. Use of an objective, structured clinical examination as a component of the final-year examination in small animal internal medicine and surgery. *Journal of the American veterinary medical association*, 221, 1262-1265.
- BARROWS, H. S. & TAMBLYN, R. M. 1980. *Problem-based learning: An approach to medical education*, Springer Publishing Company. New York.
- BARRY ISSENBERG, S., McGAGHIE, W., PETRUSA, E., LEE GORDON, D., & SCALESE, R. 2005. Features and uses of high fidelity medical simulations that lead to effective learning: a BEME systematic review. *Medical teacher*, 27, 10-28.
- BELL, C., BAILLIE, S., KINNISON, T. & CAVERS, A. 2010. Preparing veterinary students for extramural clinical placement training: issues identified and a possible solution. *Journal of veterinary medical education*, 37, 190-197.
- BELL, C. E., ELLAWAY, R. H. & RHIND, S. M. 2009a. Getting started with curriculum mapping in a veterinary degree program. *Journal of veterinary medical education*, 36, 100-106.
- BELL, K., BOSHUIZEN, H., SCHERPBIER, A. & DORNAN, T. 2009b. When only the real thing will do: junior medical students' learning from real patients. *Medical education*, 43, 1036-1043.
- BERA. 2011. Ethical Guidelines for Educational Research. *British Educational Research Association* [Online]. Available: <u>www.bera.ac.uk</u>.
- BHAKTA, B., TENNANT, A., HORTON, M., LAWTON, G. & ANDRICH, D. 2005. Using item response theory to explore the psychometric properties of extended matching questions examination in undergraduate medical education. *BMC Medical education*, 5, 9.
- BIGGS, J. 1996. Enhancing teaching through constructive alignment. *Higher education*, 32, 347-364.
- BIGGS, J. 2003. Aligning teaching for constructing learning. *Higher Education Academy*. Available at:

http://www.researchgate.net/publication/255583992_Aligning_teaching_for_constructing_learning

- BIGGS, J. & TANG, C. Applying constructive alignment to outcomes-based teaching and learning. Training Material for "Quality Teaching for Learning in Higher Education" Workshop for Master Trainers, Ministry of Higher Education, Kuala Lumpur, 2010. 23-25.
- BIGGS, J. B. 1987a. *Student approaches to learning and studying,* Melbourne, Australian Council for Educational Research.
- BIGGS, J. B. 1987b. *Study process questionnaire manual*, Melbourne, Australian Council for Educational Research.
- BIGGS, J. B. & COLLIS, K. F. 1982. *Evaluating the quality of learning*, Academic Press New York.
- BINDAL, T., WALL, D. & GOODYEAR, H. M. 2011. Trainee doctors' views on workplace-based assessments: Are they just a tick box exercise? *Medical teacher*, 33, 919-927.
- BLACK, L. S., TURNWALD, G. H. & MELDRUM, J. B. 2002. Outcomes assessment in veterinary medical education. *Journal of veterinary medical education*, 29, 28-31.
- BLACK, P. & WILIAM, D. 1999. Assessment for learning: Beyond the black box. Assessment Reform Group, 1-12.
- BLAKE, J. M., NORMAN, G. R., KEANE, D. R., MUELLER, C. B., CUNNINGTON, J. & DIDYK, N. 1996. Introducing progress testing in McMaster University's problem-based medical curriculum: psychometric properties and effect on learning. *Academic medicine*, 71, 1002-7.
- BLOOM, B. S. 1968. Learning for Mastery. Instruction and Curriculum. Regional Education Laboratory for the Carolinas and Virginia, Topical Papers and Reprints, Number 1. *Evaluation comment*, 1, n2.
- BLOOM, B. S. & KRATHWOHL, D. R. 1956. *Taxonomy of educational objectives: The classification of educational goals.* Handbook I: Cognitive domain.
- BOK, H. G., TEUNISSEN, P. W., FAVIER, R. P., RIETBROEK, N. J., THEYSE, L. F., BROMMER, H., HAARHUIS, J. C., VAN BEUKELEN, P., VAN DER VLEUTEN, C. P. & JAARSMA, D. A. 2013. Programmatic assessment of competency-based workplace learning: when theory meets practice. *BMC medical education*, 13, 1-9.
- BOK, H. G. J., JAARSMA, D. A. D. C., TEUNISSEN, P. W., VAN DER VLEUTEN, C. P. M. & VAN BEUKELEN, P. 2011. Development and Validation of a Competency Framework for Veterinarians. *Journal of veterinary medical education*, 38, 262-269.
- BONVICINI, K. A. 2010. In Practice: Tools for Practice Success: Caring, Compassion, Confidence, and Communication. *Compendium, (Yardley PA)* 32.2

- BOSHUIZEN, H., VLEUTEN, C. P., SCHMIDT, H. G. & MACHIELS-BONGAERTS, M. 1997. Measuring knowledge and clinical reasoning skills in a problem-based curriculum. *Medical Education*, 31, 115-121.
- BOULTON, C. & MCINTYRE, J. 2012. Aiding the transition from vet school to practice. *Veterinary record*, 171, 441-442.
- BRAILOVSKY, C., CHARLIN, B., BEAUSOLEIL, S., COTE, S. & VAN DER VLEUTEN, C. 2001. Measurement of clinical reflective capacity early in training as a predictor of clinical reasoning performance at the end of residency: an experimental study on the script concordance test. *Medical education*, 35, 430-436.
- BRAUN, V. & CLARKE, V. 2006. Using thematic analysis in psychology. *Qualitative research in psychology*, **3**, 77-101.
- BRAUN, V. & CLARKE, V. 2013. Successful qualitative research: A practical guide for beginners, Sage.
- BRISTOL, D. G. 2002. Using Alumni Research to Assess a Veterinary Curriculum and Alumni Employment and Reward Patterns. *Journal of veterinary medical education,* 29, 20-27.
- BROWN, G. & EDMUNDS, S. 2011. *Doing pedagogical research in engineering*, Engineering Centre for Excellence in Teaching and Learning: Loughborough University.
- BROWN, E., GIBBS G., & GLOVER C. 2003. Evaluation tools for investigating the impact of assessment regimes on student learning. *Bioscience Education 2 E-journal* [Online], Available: http://www.bioscience.heacademy.ac.uk/journal/vol2/beej-2-5.aspx
- BROWN, T. C., MCCLEARY, L., STENCHEVER, M. & POULSON JR, A. 1973. A competency-based educational approach to reproductive biology. *American journal of obstetrics and* gynecology, 116, 1036.
- BUTLER, D. G. 2003. Employer and new graduate satisfaction with new graduate performance in the workplace within the first year following convocation from the Ontario Veterinary College. *Canadian veterinary journal*, 44, 380-91.
- CALMAN, K., TEMPLE, J., NAYSMITH, R., CAIRNCROSS, R. & BENNETT, S. 1999. Reforming higher specialist training in the United Kingdon-a step along the continuum of medical education. *MEDICAL EDUCATION-OXFORD-*, 33, 28-33.
- CANFIELD, P. J. & KROCKENBERGER, M. B. 2002. An interactive, student-centered approach, adopting the SOLO taxonomy, for learning to analyze laboratory data in veterinary clinical pathology. *Journal of veterinary medical education*, 29, 56-61.
- CARRACCIO, C., WOLFSTHAL, S. D., ENGLANDER, R., FERENTZ, K. & MARTIN, C. 2002. Shifting paradigms: from Flexner to competencies. *Academic medicine*, **77**, 361-367.
- CARRIÈRE, B., GAGNON, R., CHARLIN, B., DOWNING, S. & BORDAGE, G. 2009. Assessing clinical reasoning in pediatric emergency medicine: validity evidence for a Script Concordance Test. *Annals of emergency medicine*, 53, 647-652.

CARROLL, J. 1963. A model of school learning. The Teachers College Record, 64, 723-723.

- CASE, S. M. & SWANSON, D. B. 1998. *Constructing written test questions for the basic and clinical sciences*, National Board of Medical Examiners Philadelphia, PA.
- CASSIDY, S. 2004. Learning Styles: An overview of theories, models, and measures. *Educational psychology*, 24, 419-444.
- CHAMBERS, D. W. 1998. Competency-based dental education in context. *European journal* of dental education, 2, 8-13.
- CHAPMAN, H. 1999. Some important limitations of competency-based education with respect to nurse education: an Australian perspective. *Nurse education today,* 19, 129-135.
- CHARLIN, B., BOSHUIZEN, H., CUSTERS, E. J. & FELTOVICH, P. J. 2007. Scripts and clinical reasoning. *Medical education*, 41, 1178-1184.
- CHARLIN, B., ROY, L., BRAILOVSKY, C., GOULET, F. & VAN DER VLEUTEN, C. 2000a. The Script Concordance test: a tool to assess the reflective clinician. *Teaching and learning in medicine*, 12, 189-195.
- CHARLIN, B., TARDIF, J. & BOSHUIZEN, H. P. A. 2000b. Scripts and Medical Diagnostic Knowledge: Theory and Applications for Clinical Reasoning Instruction and Research. *Academic medicine*, 75, 182-190.
- CILLIERS, F. J., SCHUWIRTH, L. W., ADENDORFF, H. J., HERMAN, N. & VAN DER VLEUTEN, C. P. 2010. The mechanism of impact of summative assessment on medical students' learning. *Advances in health sciences education*, 15, 695-715.
- CILLIERS, F. J., SCHUWIRTH, L. W., HERMAN, N., ADENDORFF, H. J. & VAN DER VLEUTEN, C. P. 2011. A model of the pre-assessment learning effects of summative assessment in medical education. *Advances in health sciences education*, 17, 39-53.
- CIZEK, G. J., ROSENBERG, S. L. & KOONS, H. H. 2008. Sources of validity evidence for educational and psychological tests. *Educational and psychological measurement*, 68, 397-412.
- CODERRE, S., MANDIN, H., HARASYM, P. & FICK, G. 2003. Diagnostic reasoning strategies and diagnostic success. *Medical education*, 37, 695-703.
- COE, J. B., DARISI, T., SATCHELL, T., BATEMAN, S. W. & KENNY, N. 2012. Using Focus Groups to Engage Veterinary Students in Course Redesign and Development. *Journal of veterinary medical education*, 39, 30-38.
- COHEN, L. M., L. MORRISON, K. 2007. *Research methods in education* 6th edition ed.: London: Routledge.
- COLLARD, A., GELAES, S., VANBELLE, S., BREDART, S., DEFRAIGNE, J. O., BONIVER, J. & BOURGUIGNON, J. P. 2009. Reasoning versus knowledge retention and ascertainment throughout a problem-based learning curriculum. *Medical education*, 43, 854-865.

- COLLIVER, J. A., CONLEE, M. J. & VERHULST, S. J. 2012. From test validity to construct validity... and back? *Medical education*, 46, 366-371.
- COOK, D. A. & BECKMAN, T. J. 2009. Does scale length matter? A comparison of nine-versus five-point rating scales for the mini-CEX. *Advances in health sciences education*, 14, 655-664.
- CRESWELL, J. W. 2013. Research design: Qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods approaches, Sage.
- CRONBACH, L. J. & MEEHL, P. E. 1955. Construct validity in psychological tests. *Psychological bulletin*, 52, 281.
- CROOKS, T. & MAHALSKI, P. 1985. Relationships among assessment practices, study methods, and grades obtained. *Research and development in higher education*, 8, 234-240.
- CROSSLEY, J., JOHNSON, G., BOOTH, J. & WADE, W. 2011. Good questions, good answers: construct alignment improves the performance of workplace-based assessment scales. *Medical education*, 45, 560-569.
- CROWTHER, E., HUGHES, K., HANDEL, I., WHITTINGTON, R., PRYCE, M., WARMAN, S., RHIND, S. & BAILLIE, S. 2014a. Stakeholder consultation on tracking in UK veterinary degrees: part 1. Veterinary record, 175, 86.
- CROWTHER, E., HUGHES, K., HANDEL, I., WHITTINGTON, R., PRYCE, M., WARMAN, S., RHIND, S. & BAILLIE, S. 2014b. Stakeholder consultation on tracking in UK veterinary degrees: part 2. Veterinary Record, 175, 87.
- CRUESS, R. L., & CRUESS, S. R. 2006. Teaching professionalism: general principles. *Medical teacher*, *28*, 205-208.
- CURRY, L. 1983. An Organization of Learning Styles Theory and Constructs. Paper presented at the annual meeting of the American Educational Research Association
- CURRY, L. 1987. Integrating concepts of cognitive or learning style: A review with attention to psychometric standards, Canadian College of Health Service Executives.
- DALE, V. H., SULLIVAN, M. & MAY, S. A. 2008. Adult learning in veterinary education: theory to practice. *Journal of veterinary medical education*, 35, 581-588.
- DANIELSON, J. A., WU, T.-F., FALES-WILLIAMS, A. J., KIRK, R. A. & PREAST, V. A. 2012. Predictors of Employer Satisfaction: Technical and Non-technical Skills. *Journal of veterinary medical education*, 39, 62-70.
- DAVIS, M. H. 2003. Outcome-based education. *Journal of veterinary medical education*, 30, 258-263.
- DAVIS, M. H., AMIN, Z., GRANDE, J. P., O'NEILL, A. E., PAWLINA, W., VIGGIANO, T. R. & ZUBERI, R. 2007. Case studies in outcome-based education. *Medical teacher*, 29, 717-722.

- DAVIS, M. H. & PONNAMPERUMA, G. G. 2005. Portfolio assessment. *Journal of veterinary medical education*, 32, 279-284.
- DAWSON, S. D., MILLER, T., GODDARD, S. F. & MILLER, L. M. 2013. Impact of outcome-based assessment on student learning and faculty instructional practices. *Journal of veterinary medical education*, 40, 128-138.
- DENT, J. & HARDEN, R. M. 2013. A practical guide for medical teachers, Elsevier Health Sciences, Edinburgh; New York.
- DHEIN, C. 2002. Outcomes assessment. Journal of veterinary medical education, 29, 8.
- DICICCO-BLOOM, B. & CRABTREE, B. F. 2006. The qualitative research interview. *Medical education*, 40, 314-321.
- DONNON, T. & HECKER, K. 2008. A model of approaches to learning and academic achievement of students from an inquiry based bachelor of health sciences program. *Canadian journal of higher education*, 38, 1-19.
- DONNON, T. & HECKER, K. 2010. A model of approaches to learning and academic achievement of students from an inquiry based Bachelor of Health Sciences program. *Canadian journal of higher education*, 38, 1-19.
- DORY, V., GAGNON, R., VANPEE, D. & CHARLIN, B. 2012. How to construct and implement script concordance tests: insights from a systematic review. *Medical education*, 46, 552-563.
- DOUCET, M. Y. & VRINS, A. 2009. The importance of knowledge, skills, and attitude attributes for veterinarians in clinical and non-clinical fields of practice: a survey of licensed veterinarians in Quebec, Canada. *Journal of veterinary medical education*, 36, 331-342.
- DOUCET, M. Y. & VRINS, A. 2010. Use of Alumni and Employer Surveys for Internal Quality Assurance of the DVM Program at the University of Montreal. *Journal of veterinary medical education*, 37, 178-189.
- DOWNING, S. M. 2003a. Guessing on selected-response examinations. *Medical education*, 37, 670-671.
- DOWNING, S. M. 2003b. Validity: on the meaningful interpretation of assessment data. *Medical education*, 37, 830-837.
- DRIESSEN, E. W., VAN TARTWIJK, J., OVEREEM, K., VERMUNT, J. D. & VAN DER VLEUTEN, C.
 P. 2005. Conditions for successful reflective use of portfolios in undergraduate medical education. *Medical education*, 39, 1230-1235.
- DUFFIELD, K. & SPENCER, J. 2002. A survey of medical students' views about the purposes and fairness of assessment. *Medical education*, 36, 879-886.

- DUGGAN, P. & CHARLIN, B. 2012. Summative assessment of 5th year medical students' clinical reasoning by script concordance test: requirements and challenges. *BMC medical education*, 12, 29.
- EAEVE. 2012. Guidelines, requirements and main indicators for stage one (1a) and stage two (1b) [Online]. European Association of Establishments for Veterinary Education. Available at: http://www.eaeve.org/evaluation/standard-operation-procedures.html [Accessed 11.12.2014 2014].
- EDMONDSON, K. M. 2004. Outcomes assessment as a component of good educational practice. *Journal of veterinary medical education*, 31, 126-127.
- ENTWISTLE, N., HANLEY, M. & HOUNSELL, D. 1979. Identifying distinctive approaches to studying. *Higher education*, **8**, 365-380.
- EPSTEIN, R. M. & HUNDERT, E. M. 2002. Defining and assessing professional competence. *Journal of the American medical association*, 287, 226-235.
- ERICSSON, K. A. 2007. Deliberate practice and the modifiability of body and mind: Toward a science of the structure and acquisition of expert and elite performance. *International journal of sport psychology*, 38, 4.
- EVA, K. W., HATALA, R. M., LEBLANC, V. R. & BROOKS, L. R. 2007. Teaching from the clinical reasoning literature: combined reasoning strategies help novice diagnosticians overcome misleading information. *Medical education*, 41, 1152-1158.
- EVA, K. W., NEVILLE, A. J., & NORMAN, G. R. 1998. Exploring the etiology of content specificity: factors influencing analogic transfer and problem solving. Academic Medicine, 73, S1-5.
- EVANS, K. M. & KING, J. A. 1994. Research on OBE: What We Know and Don't Know. *Educational leadership*, 51, 12-17.
- EYRE, P. 2002. Engineering veterinary education. *Journal of veterinary medical education*, 29, 195-200.
- FERNANDES, T. H. 2005. European veterinary education: A bridge to quality. *The veterinary journal*, 169, 210-215.
- FERNANDO, N., CLELAND, J., MCKENZIE, H. & CASSAR, K. 2008. Identifying the factors that determine feedback given to undergraduate medical students following formative mini-CEX assessments. *Medical education*, 42, 89-95.
- FOURNIER, J.-P., THIERCELIN, D., PULCINI, C., ALUNNI-PERRET, V., GILBERT, E., MINGUET, J.-M. & BERTRAND, F. 2006. Évaluation du raisonnement clinique en médecine d'urgence: les tests de concordance des scripts décèlent mieux l'expérience clinique que les questions à choix multiples à contexte riche. Pédagogie médicale, 7, 20-30.
- FOURNIER, J. P., DEMEESTER, A. & CHARLIN, B. 2008. Script concordance tests: guidelines for construction. *BMC Medical informatics and decision making*, 8, 18.

- FOX, R. A., MCMANUS, I. C. & WINDER, B. C. 2001. The shortened Study Process Questionnaire: an investigation of its structure and longitudinal stability using confirmatory factor analysis. *British journal of educational psychology*, 71, 511-30.
- FRANK, J. R. & DANOFF, D. 2007. The CanMEDS initiative: implementing an outcomes-based framework of physician competencies. *Medical teacher*, 29, 642-647.
- FRANK, J. R., SNELL, L. S., CATE, O. T., HOLMBOE, E. S., CARRACCIO, C., SWING, S. R., HARRIS, P., GLASGOW, N. J., CAMPBELL, C. & DATH, D. 2010. Competency-based medical education: theory to practice. *Medical teacher*, 32, 638-645.
- FUENTEALBA, C. 2011. The Role of Assessment in the Student Learning Process. Journal of veterinary medical education, 38, 157-162.
- GAGNON, R., CHARLIN, B., COLETTI, M., SAUVÉ, E. & VAN DER VLEUTEN, C. 2005. Assessment in the context of uncertainty: how many members are needed on the panel of reference of a script concordance test? *Medical education*, 39, 284-291.
- GARDINER, A. & RHIND, S. 2013. Taking a history on veterinary education. *Veterinary record*, 173, 388-393.
- GARRETT, K. S. 2009. The Transition from Veterinary School to Equine Practice. *Veterinary Clinics of North America: Equine Practice*, 25, 445-454.
- GIBBS, G. & DUNBAR-GODDET, H. 2009. Characterising programme-level assessment environments that support learning. *Assessment & evaluation in higher education*, 34, 481 - 489.
- GIBBS, G., SIMPSON. C. 2004. Conditions Under Which Assessment Supports Students' Learning. *Learning and Teaching in Higher Education*, 3-31.
- GILLING, M. L. & PARKINSON, T. J. 2009. The transition from veterinary student to practitioner: a "make or break" period. *Journal of veterinary medical education*, 36, 209-15.
- GINGERICH, A., REGEHR, G. & EVA, K. W. 2011. Rater-based assessments as social judgments: Rethinking the etiology of rater errors. *Academic Medicine*, 86, S1-S7.
- GIULIODORI, M. J., LUJAN, H. L., & DICARLO, S. E. 2008. Collaborative group testing benefits high-and low-performing students. *Advances in Physiology Education*, *32*, 274-278.
- GMCEC 1993. Tomorrow's doctors: recommendations on undergraduate medical education, General Medical Council London.
- GORDON, J., WILKERSON, W., SHAFFER, D., & ARMSTRONG, E. 2001. Practicing medicine without risk: students' and educators' responses to high-fidelity patient simulation. *Academic medicine*, 76, 469-472.
- GOVAERTS, M., VAN DE WIEL, M., SCHUWIRTH, L., VAN DER VLEUTEN, C. & MUIJTJENS, A. 2013. Workplace-based assessment: raters' performance theories and constructs. *Advances in health sciences education*, 18, 375-396.

- GOVAERTS, M. & VAN DER VLEUTEN, C. P. 2013. Validity in work-based assessment: expanding our horizons. *Medical education*, 47, 1164-1174.
- GOVAERTS, M. J., VAN DER VLEUTEN, C. P., SCHUWIRTH, L. W. & MUIJTJENS, A. M. 2007. Broadening perspectives on clinical performance assessment: Rethinking the nature of in-training assessment. *Advances in health sciences education*, **12**, 239-260.
- GREENE, J. C., CARACELLI, V. J. & GRAHAM, W. F. 1989. Toward a conceptual framework for mixed-method evaluation designs. *Educational evaluation and policy analysis*, 11, 255-274.
- GREENFIELD, C. L., JOHNSON, A. L., KLIPPERT, L. & HUNGERFORD, L. L. 1997. Employer-based outcomes assessment of recent graduates and comparison with performance during veterinary school. *Journal of the American veterinary medical association*, 211, 842-9.
- GREENFIELD, C. L., JOHNSON, A. L. & SCHAEFFER, D. J. 2004. Frequency of use of various procedures, skills, and areas of knowledge among veterinarians in private small animal exclusive or predominant practice and proficiency expected of new veterinary school graduates. *Journal of the American veterinary medical association*, 224, 1780-1787.
- HAARALA-MUHONEN, A., RUOHONIEMI, M., KATAJAVUORI, N. & LINDBLOM-YLÄNNE, S. 2011. Comparison of students' perceptions of their teaching–learning environments in three professional academic disciplines: A valuable tool for quality enhancement. *Learning environments research*, 14, 155-169.
- HALBACH, A. 2000. Finding out about students' learning strategies by looking at their diaries: a case study. *System*, 28, 85-96.
- HAMDY, H., PRASAD, K., ANDERSON, M. B., SCHERPBIER, A., WILLIAMS, R., ZWIERSTRA, R. & CUDDIHY, H. 2006. BEME systematic review: predictive values of measurements obtained in medical schools and future performance in medical practice. *Medical teacher*, 28, 103-16.
- HARDEN, R. 2001. AMEE Guide No. 21: Curriculum mapping: a tool for transparent and authentic teaching and learning. *Medical teacher*, 23, 123-137.
- HARDEN, R., DAVIS, M. & CROSBY, J. 1997. The new Dundee medical curriculum: a whole that is greater than the sum of the parts. *Medical education*, 31, 264-271.
- HARDEN, R. M. 1999. AMEE Guide No. 14: Outcome-based education: Part 1-An introduction to outcome-based education. *Medical teacher*, 21, 7-14.
- HARDEN, R. M. 2007. Outcome-based education: the future is today. *Medical teacher*, 29, 625-629.
- HARDIE, E. M. 2008. Current methods in use for assessing clinical competencies: what works? *Journal of veterinary medical education*, 35, 359-368.

- HARDIN, L. E. & AINSWORTH, J. 2007. An alumni survey to assess self-reported career preparation attained at a US veterinary school. *Journal of veterinary medical education*, 34, 683-688.
- HEATH, T. 2008. Initial work experiences of veterinarians who graduated from Australian universities in 2005. *Australian veterinary journal*, 86, 357-364.
- HEATH, T. & MILLS, J. 2000. Criteria used by employers to select new graduate employees. *Australian veterinary journal*, 78, 312-316.
- HECKER, K. G., ADAMS, C. L., & Coe, J. B. 2012. Assessment of first-year veterinary students' communication skills using an objective structured clinical examination: the importance of context. *Journal of veterinary medical education*, 39, 304-310.
- HECKER, K., READ, E. K., VALLEVAND, A., KREBS, G., DONSZELMANN, D., MUELLING, C. K. & FREEMAN, S. L. 2010. Assessment of first-year veterinary students' clinical skills using objective structured clinical examinations. *Journal of veterinary medical education*, 37, 395-402.
- HECKER, K. & VIOLATO, C. 2009. Validity, reliability, and defensibility of assessments in veterinary education. *Journal of veterinary medical education*, 36, 271-275.
- HILL, L. N., SMEAK, D. D. & LORD, L. K. 2012. Frequency of use and proficiency in performance of surgical skills expected of entry-level veterinarians by general practitioners. *Journal of the American veterinary medical association*, 240, 1345-1354.
- HOCKEY, J. 1993. Research methods--researching peers and familiar settings. *Research papers in education*, 8, 199-225.
- HODGES, B. D. 2010. A tea-steeping or i-Doc model for medical education? *Academic medicine*, 85, S34-S44.
- HODGES, B. D., GINSBURG, S., CRUESS, R., CRUESS, S., DELPORT, R., HAFFERTY, F., HO, M., HOLMBOE, E., HOLTMAN, M., OHBU, S., REES, C., TEN CATE, O., TSUGAWA, Y., VAN MOOK, W., WASS, V., WILKINSON, T., & WADE, W. 2011. Assessment of professionalism: Recommendations from the Ottawa 2010 Conference. *Medical teacher*, 33, 354-363.
- HOLMBOE, E. S., SHERBINO, J., LONG, D. M., SWING, S. R. & FRANK, J. R. 2010. The role of assessment in competency-based medical education. *Medical teacher*, 32, 676-682.
- HONEY, P. & MUMFORD, A. 1992. The manual of learning styles.
- HORNOS, E. H., PLEGUEZUELOS, E. M., BRAILOVSKY, C. A., HARILLO, L. D., DORY, V. & CHARLIN, B. 2013. The Practicum Script Concordance Test: an online continuing professional development format to foster reflection on clinical practice. *Journal of continuing education in the health professions*, 33, 59-66.

- HUMBERT, A. J., JOHNSON, M. T., MIECH, E., FRIEDBERG, F., GRACKIN, J. A. & SEIDMAN, P. A. 2011. Assessment of clinical reasoning: A Script Concordance test designed for preclinical medical students. *Medical teacher*, 33, 472-477.
- HUNTING, W. 2007. Easing the transition. *Veterinary record*, 160, 745.
- HUSSEY, T. & SMITH, P. 2002. The trouble with learning outcomes. *Active learning in higher education*, 3, 220-233.
- JAARSMA, D. A., SCHERPBIER, A. J. & BEUKELEN, P. V. 2009. A retrospective analysis of veterinary medical curriculum development in The Netherlands. *Journal of veterinary medical education*, 36, 232-240.
- JAARSMA, D. A. D. C., DOLMANS, D. H. J. M., SCHERPBIER, A. J. J. A. & VAN BEUKELEN, P. 2008. Preparation for practice by veterinary school: a comparison of the perceptions of alumni from a traditional and an innovative veterinary curriculum. *Journal of veterinary medical education*, 35, 431-438.
- JAMIESON, S. 2004. Likert scales: how to (ab) use them. *Medical education*, 38, 1217-1218.
- JOHNSON, R. B. & ONWUEGBUZIE, A. J. 2004. Mixed methods research: A research paradigm whose time has come. *Educational researcher*, 33, 14-26.
- JONES, G. 2010. Managing student expectations: The impact of top-up tuition fees. *Perspectives*, 14, 44-48.
- JOSEPH, S. & JUWAH, C. 2012. Using constructive alignment theory to develop nursing skills curricula. *Nurse education in practice*, 12, 52-59.
- KANE, M. T. 2013. Validation as a pragmatic, scientific activity. *Journal of educational measurement*, 50, 115-122.
- KEMBER, D., CHARLESWORTH, M., DAVIES, H., MCKAY, J. & STOTT, V. 1997. Evaluating the effectiveness of educational innovations: Using the study process questionnaire to show that meaningful learning occurs. *Studies in educational evaluation*, 23, 141-157.
- KENNEDY, T. J., REGEHR, G., BAKER, G. R. & LINGARD, L. A. 2005. Progressive independence in clinical training: a tradition worth defending? *Academic medicine*, 80, S106-S111.
- KERDIJK, W., TIO, R. A., MULDER, B. F. & COHEN-SCHOTANUS, J. 2013. Cumulative assessment: strategic choices to influence students' study effort. *BMC Medical education*, 13, 172.
- KLEINE, L. J., TERKLA, D. G. & KIMBALL, G. 2002. Outcomes assessment at Tufts University School of Veterinary Medicine. *Journal of veterinary medical education*, 29, 32-35.
- KNOWLES, M. 1980. The Modern Practice of Adult Education: From pedagogy to androgogy Cambridge Books. New York.

- KOCHEVAR, D. T. 2004. The critical role of outcomes assessment in veterinary medical accreditation. *Journal of veterinary medical education*, 31, 116-9.
- KOENS, F., MANN, K. V., CUSTERS, E. J. & TEN CATE, O. T. 2005. Analysing the concept of context in medical education. *Medical education*, 39, 1243-1249.
- KOGAN, J. R., CONFORTI, L., BERNABEO, E., IOBST, W. & HOLMBOE, E. 2011. Opening the black box of clinical skills assessment via observation: a conceptual model. *Medical education*, 45, 1048-1060.
- KOGAN, L. R., MCCONNELL, S. L. & SCHOENFELD-TACHER, R. 2004. Gender differences and the definition of success: male and female veterinary students' career and work performance expectations. *Journal of veterinary medical education*, 31, 154-60.
- KOLB, D. A. 1976. *Learning style inventory: self-scoring test and interpretation booklet,* McBer, Boston.
- KOLB, D. A. 1984. *Experiential learning: Experience as the source of learning and development*, Prentice-Hall Englewood Cliffs, NJ.
- LARSEN, D. P., BUTLER, A. C. & ROEDIGER III, H. L. 2008. Test-enhanced learning in medical education. *Medical education*, 42, 959-966.
- LAVE, J. & WENGER, E. 1991. *Situated learning: Legitimate peripheral participation,* Cambridge university press.
- LEUNG, S. F., MOK, E. & WONG, D. 2008. The impact of assessment methods on the learning of nursing students. *Nurse education today*, 28, 711-9.
- LEUNG, W.-C. 2002. Competency based medical training: review. *British medical journal*, 325, 693.
- LIKERT, R. 1932. A technique for the measurement of attitudes. *Archives of psychology*. 140, 55.
- LINEBERRY, M., KREITER, C. D. & BORDAGE, G. 2013. Threats to validity in the use and interpretation of script concordance test scores. *Medical education*, 47, 1175-1183.
- LINGARD, L., ALBERT, M. & LEVINSON, W. 2008. Grounded theory, mixed methods, and action research. *British medical journal*, 337, a567-a567.
- LLOYD, J. W. & WALSH, D. A. 2002. Template for a recommended curriculum in" Veterinary Professional Development and Career Success". *Journal of veterinary medical education*, 29, 84-93.
- LOFSTEDT, J. 2003. Confidence and competence of recent veterinary graduates—Is there a problem? *The Canadian veterinary journal*, 44, 359.
- LUBARSKY, S., CHALK, C., KAZITANI, D., GAGNON, R. & CHARLIN, B. 2009. The Script Concordance Test: a new tool assessing clinical judgement in neurology. *The Canadian journal of neurological sciences*, 36, 326-331.

- LUBARSKY, S., CHARLIN, B., COOK, D. A., CHALK, C. & VAN DER VLEUTEN, C. P. M. 2011. Script concordance testing: a review of published validity evidence. *Medical education*, 45, 329-338.
- LUBARSKY, S., GAGNON, R. & CHARLIN, B. 2013. Scoring the Script Concordance Test: not a black and white issue. *Medical education*, 47, 1159-1161.
- MAGNIER, K., WANG, R., DALE, V., MURPHY, R., HAMMOND, R., MOSSOP, L., FREEMAN, S., ANDERSON, C. & PEAD, M. 2011. Paper: Enhancing clinical learning in the workplace: a qualitative study. *Veterinary record*, 169, 682.
- MAGNIER, K. M., WANG, R., DALE, V. H. & PEAD, M. J. 2014. Challenges and Responsibilities of Clinical Teachers in the Workplace: An Ethnographic Approach. *Journal of veterinary medical education*, 1-7.
- MARTON, F. & SÄLJÖ, R. 1976. On Qualitative Differences in Learning: I—Outcome and process*. *British journal of educational psychology*, 46, 4-11.
- MARTON, F., SÄLJÖ, R. & RAMSDEN, P. 1992. *Learning to teach in higher education*. Routledge. London; New York
- MARZANO, R. J. 1994. Lessons from the Field about Outcome-Based Performance Assessments. *Educational leadership*, 51, 44-50.
- MATTHEW, S., TAYLOR, R. & ELLIS, R. 2012. Relationships between students' experiences of learning in an undergraduate internship programme and new graduates' experiences of professional practice. *Higher education*, 1-14.
- MATTHEW, S. M., ELLIS, R. A. & TAYLOR, R. M. 2011. New graduates' conceptions of and approaches to veterinary professional practice, and relationships to achievement during an undergraduate internship programme. *Advances in health sciences education*, 16, 167-82.
- MAY, S. A. 2008. Modern Veterinary Graduates Are Outstanding, But Can They Get Better? *Journal of veterinary medical education*, 35, 573-580.
- MCGILL, D., VAN DER VLEUTEN, C. & CLARKE, M. 2011. Supervisor assessment of clinical and professional competence of medical trainees: a reliability study using workplace data and a focused analytical literature review. *Advances in health sciences education*, 16, 405-425.
- MCKERNAN, J. 1993. Some Limitations of Outcome-Based Education. *Journal of curriculum and supervision*, 8, 343-53.
- MCLACHLAN, J. C. 2006. The relationship between assessment and learning. *Medical education*, 40, 716-7.
- MCMANUS, I. C., RICHARDS, P. & WINDER, B. C. 1999. Intercalated degrees, learning styles, and career preferences: prospective longitudinal study of UK medical students. *British medical journal*, 319, 542-6.

- MCMANUS, I. C., RICHARDS, P., WINDER, B. C. & SPROSTON, K. A. 1998. Clinical experience, performance in final examinations, and learning style in medical students: prospective study. *British medical journal*, 316, 345-50.
- MELLANBY, R. & HERRTAGE, M. 2004. Survey of mistakes made by recent veterinary graduates. Veterinary record, 155, 761.
- MELLANBY, R., RHIND, S., BELL, C., SHAW, D., GIFFORD, J., FENNELL, D., MANSER, C., SPRATT, D., WRIGHT, M. & ZAGO, S. 2011. Perceptions of clients and veterinarians on what attributes constitute'a good vet'. *Veterinary record*, 168, 616.
- MERTON, R. K. & KENDALL, P. L. 1946. The focused interview. *American journal of Sociology*, 541-557.
- MESSICK, S. 1990. Validity of test interpretation and use. Report for the educational testing service. 1, 1487-1495
- METERISSIAN, S., ZABOLOTNY, B., GAGNON, R. & CHARLIN, B. 2007. Is the script concordance test a valid instrument for assessment of intraoperative decision-making skills? *The American journal of surgery*, 193, 248-251.
- MILLER, C. W. 1997. Experiential learning in veterinary education. *Journal of Veterinary Education*, 24, 48.
- MILLER, G. E. 1990. The assessment of clinical skills/competence/performance. Academic medicine, 65, S63.
- MORI, 2013. The National Student Survey. Ipsos MORI
- MOSIER, C. I. 1947. A critical examination of the concepts of face validity. *Educational and psychological measurement*. 7, 191-205.
- MOSSOP, L. H., & COBB, K. 2013. Teaching and Assessing Veterinary Professionalism. *Journal* of veterinary medical education, 40, 223-232.
- MOSSOP, L. & GRAY, C. 2008. Teaching communication skills. *In practice*, 30, 340-343.
- MOSSOP, L. H., & SENIOR, A. 2008. I'll show you mine if you show me yours! Portfolio design in two UK Veterinary Schools. *Journal of veterinary medical education*, *35*, 599-606.
- MULDER, H., CATE, O. T., DAALDER, R. & BERKVENS, J. 2010. Building a competency-based workplace curriculum around entrustable professional activities: The case of physician assistant training. *Medical teacher*, 32, e453-e459.
- MURPHY, D. J., BRUCE, D. A., MERCER, S. W. & EVA, K. W. 2009. The reliability of workplacebased assessment in postgraduate medical education and training: a national evaluation in general practice in the United Kingdom. *Advances in health sciences education*, 14, 219-232.

- NAIR, B. R., HENSLEY, M. J., PARVATHY, M. S., LLOYD, D. M., MURPHY, B., INGHAM, K., WEIN, J. M. & SYMONDS, I. M. 2012. A systematic approach to workplace-based assessment for international medical graduates. *Medical journal of australia*, 196, 399.
- NEWBLE, D. I. & JAEGER, K. 1983. The effect of assessments and examinations on the learning of medical students. *Medical education*, 17, 165-71.
- NICOL, D. J. & MACFARLANE-DICK, D. 2006. Formative assessment and self-regulated learning: A model and seven principles of good feedback practice. *Studies in higher education*, 31, 199-218.
- NORCINI, J., ANDERSON, B., BOLLELA, V., BURCH, V., COSTA, M. J., DUVIVIER, R., GALBRAITH, R., HAYS, R., KENT, A. & PERROTT, V. 2011. Criteria for good assessment: consensus statement and recommendations from the Ottawa 2010 Conference. *Medical teacher*, 33, 206-214.
- NORCINI, J. & BURCH, V. 2007. Workplace-based assessment as an educational tool: AMEE Guide No. 31. *Medical teacher*, 29, 855-871.
- NORCINI, J. J. 2013. Workplace assessment. In: *Understanding Medical Education: Evidence, Theory and Practice*, Wiley-Blackwell, Oxford. 279.
- NORCINI, J. J. & MCKINLEY, D. W. 2007. Assessment methods in medical education. *Teaching* and teacher education, 23, 239-250.
- NORMAN, G. 2002. Research in medical education: three decades of progress. *BMJ*, 324, 1560-1562.
- O'NEIL, J. 1994. Aiming for New Outcomes: The Promise and the Reality. *Educational leadership*, 51, 6-10.
- OVSEIKO, P. V., JENKINSON, C. & BUCHAN, A. M. 2014. Medical education leaders' perceptions of postgraduate medical education reform. *The lancet*, 384, 306-307.
- PAULSON, F. L., PAULSON, P. R., & MEYER, C. A. 1991. What makes a portfolio a portfolio. *Educational leadership*, 48, 60-63.
- PELGRIM, E. A., & KRAMER, A. W. 2013. How can medical education benefit from the evidence on learners seeking and using feedback? *Medical education*, 47, 225-227.
- PELGRIM, E. A., KRAMER, A. W., MOKKINK, H. G., & VAN DER VLEUTEN, C. P. 2012. The process of feedback in workplace-based assessment: organisation, delivery, continuity. *Medical education*, *46*, 604-612.
- PETERS, A. S., GREENBERGER-ROSOVSKY, R., CROWDER, C., BLOCK, S. D. & MOORE, G. T. 2000. Long-term outcomes of the New Pathway Program at Harvard Medical School: a randomized controlled trial. *Academic medicine*, 75, 470-479.
- PIAGET, J. 1962. Theory of Cognitive Development. New York: P. F. Collier.

POPE, C. & MAYS, N. 2008. Qualitative research in health care, John Wiley & Sons, London.

- PRESCOTT-CLEMENTS, L., VAN DER VLEUTEN, C. P., SCHUWIRTH, L. W., HURST, Y. & RENNIE, J. S. 2008. Evidence for validity within workplace assessment: the Longitudinal Evaluation of Performance (LEP). *Medical education*, 42, 488-95.
- PRICE, M., RUST, C., O'DONOVAN, B., HANDLEY, K. & BRYANT, R. 2012. Assessment literacy: the foundation for improving student learning, ASKe, Oxford Centre for Staff and Learning Development.
- PRITCHARD, W. 1988. Future directions for veterinary medicine. Durham, NC: PEW National Veterinary Medical Education Program. *Institute for Policy Sciences and Public Affairs, Duke University*.
- RADOSTITS, O. M. 2003. Engineering veterinary education: A clarion call for reform in veterinary education-let's do it! *Journal of veterinary medical education*, 30, 176-190.
- RAMAEKERS, S., KREMER, W., PILOT, A., VAN BEUKELEN, P. & VAN KEULEN, H. 2010. Assessment of competence in clinical reasoning and decision-making under uncertainty: the script concordance test method. *Assessment & Evaluation in Higher Education*, 35, 661-673.
- RAMSDEN, P. 1984. The Context of Learning in Marton F, Hounsell DJ & Entwistle NJ (eds) *The Experience of Learning*. Edinburgh: Scottish Academic Press.
- RAMSDEN, P. 1991. A performance indicator of teaching quality in higher education: The Course Experience Questionnaire. *Studies in higher education*, 16, 129-150.
- RAMSDEN, P. 1992. Learning to teach in higher education, Oxford: Psychology Press.
- RCVS. 2001. Veterinary Education and Training, a framework for 2010 and beyond [Online]. Royal College of Veterinary Surgeons. Available: <u>www.rcvs.org.uk</u> [Accessed 11.12.2014].
- RCVS. 2007. *Professional Development Phase* [Online]. Royal College of Veterinary Surgeons. Available: <u>www.rcvs.org.uk/education/professional-development-phase-pdp/</u> [Accessed 11.12.2014].
- RCVS. 2011. Criteria and guidance for approval of veterinary degree courses in the UK and overseas [Online]. Available: <u>http://www.rcvs.org.uk/education/approvingveterinary-degrees/</u> The Royal College of Veterinary Surgeons. [Accessed 11.12.2014].
- RCVS. 2012. Code of Professional Conduct for Veterinary Surgeons [Online]. Available: <u>http://www.rcvs.org.uk/advice-and-guidance/code-of-professional-conduct-for-</u> <u>veterinary-surgeons/</u> The Royal College of Veterinary Surgeons [Accessed 6.5.2014].
- RCVS. 2014. Day One Competences [Online]. Available: <u>http://www.rcvs.org.uk/document-library/day-one-competences-updated-march-2014/</u> The Royal College of Veterianry Surgeons. [Accessed 11.12.2014].

- REA, L. M. & PARKER, R. A. 2012. *Designing and conducting survey research: A comprehensive guide*, Hoboken: John Wiley & Sons.
- REES, C. E. 2004. The problem with outcomes-based curricula in medical education: insights from educational theory. *Medical education*, 38, 593-598.
- REEVES, S., LEWIN, S. & ZWARENSTEIN, M. 2006. Using qualitative interviews within medical education research: why we must raise the 'quality bar'. *Medical education*, 40, 291-292.
- REGEHR, G., MACRAE, H., REZNICK, R. K. & SZALAY, D. 1998. Comparing the psychometric properties of checklists and global rating scales for assessing performance on an OSCE-format examination. *Academic medicine*, 73, 993-7.
- RHIND, S. M. 2006. Competence at graduation: implications for assessment. *Journal of veterinary medical education*, 33, 172-175.
- RHIND, S. M., BAILLIE, S., BROWN, F., HAMMICK, M. & DOZIER, M. 2008. Assessing Competence in Veterinary Medical Education: Where's the Evidence? *Journal of veterinary medical education*, 35, 407-411.
- RHIND, S. M., BAILLIE, S., KINNISON, T., SHAW, D. J., BELL, C. E., MELLANBY, R. J., HAMMOND, J., HUDSON, N. P., WHITTINGTON, R. E. & DONNELLY, R. 2011. The transition into veterinary practice: opinions of recent graduates and final year students. *BMC Medical education*, 11, 64.
- RHIND, S. M., PETTIGREW, G. W., SPILLER, J., & PEARSON, G. T. 2013. Experiences with audio feedback in a veterinary curriculum. *Journal of veterinary medical education*, 40, 12-18.
- RICHARDSON, J. T., SLATER, J. B. & WILSON, J. 2007. The national student survey: development, findings and implications. *Studies in higher education*, 32, 557-580.
- RIDING, R. & CHEEMA, I. 1991. Cognitive styles—an overview and integration. *Educational psychology*, 11, 193-215.
- RINGSTED, C., HENRIKSEN, A. H., SKAARUP, A. M. & VAN DER VLEUTEN, C. P. 2004. Educational impact of in-training assessment (ITA) in postgraduate medical education: a qualitative study of an ITA programme in actual practice. *Medical education*, 38, 767-77.
- ROBINSON, D. B., J. 2013. RCVS Survey of Recent Graduates. Institute for employment studies.
- RODER, C., WHITTLESTONE, K., & MAY, S. A. 2012. Views of professionalism: a veterinary institutional perspective. *The Veterinary record*, *171*, 595-595.
- ROUTLY, J. E., DOBSON, H., TAYLOR, I. R., MCKERNAN, E. J. & TURNER, R. 2002. Support needs of veterinary surgeons during the first few years of practice: perceptions of recent graduates and senior partners. *Veterinary record*, 150, 167-171.

- ROWE, D. J., WEINTRAUB, J. A., SHAIN, S., YAMAMOTO, J. & WALSH, M. 2004. Outcomes assessment related to professional growth and achievements of baccalaureate dental hygiene graduates. *Journal of dental education*, 68, 35-43.
- ROWNTREE, D. 1987. Assessing students: How shall we know them?, London; New York: Taylor & Francis.
- RUDOLPH, J. W., SIMON, R., RAEMER, D. B. & EPPICH, W. J. 2008. Debriefing as formative assessment: closing performance gaps in medical education. *Academic emergency medicine*, 15, 1010-1016.
- SALDAÑA, J. 2009. The coding manual for qualitative researchers, London: Sage Publications Ltd.
- SANDELOWSKI, M. 1995. Sample size in qualitative research. *Research in nursing & health*, 18, 179-183.
- SCHOLZ, E., TREDE, F. & RAIDAL, S. L. 2013. Workplace Learning in Veterinary Education: A Sociocultural Perspective. *Journal of veterinary medical education*, 40, 355-362.
- SCHULL, D., MORTON, J., COLEMAN, G. & MILLS, P. 2012. Final-year student and employer views of essential personal, interpersonal and professional attributes for new veterinary science graduates. *Australian veterinary journal*, 90, 100-104.
- SCHULL, D. N., MORTON, J. M., COLEMAN, G. T. & MILLS, P. C. 2011. Veterinary students' perceptions of their day-one abilities before and after final-year clinical practicebased training. *Journal of veterinary medical education*, 38, 251-261.
- SCHUWIRTH, L., VAN DER VLEUTEN, C., STOFFERS, H. & PEPERKAMP, A. 1996. Computerized long-menu questions as an alternative to open-ended questions in computerized assessment. *Medical education*, 30, 50-55.
- SCHUWIRTH, L. W. & VAN DER VLEUTEN, C. P. 2004. Different written assessment methods: what can be said about their strengths and weaknesses? *Medical education*, 38, 974-979.
- SCHUWIRTH, L. W. & VAN DER VLEUTEN, C. P. 2011a. Programmatic assessment: From assessment of learning to assessment for learning. *Medical teacher*, 33, 478-485.
- SCHUWIRTH, L. W. T. & VAN DER VLEUTEN, C. P. M. 2011b. General overview of the theories used in assessment: AMEE Guide No. 57. *Medical teacher*, 33, 783-797.
- SCOULLER, K. 1998. The influence of assessment method on students' learning approaches: Multiple choice question examination versus assignment essay. *Higher education*, 35, 453-472.
- SEALE, J. K., CHAPMAN, J. & DAVEY, C. 2000. The influence of assessments on students' motivation to learn in a therapy degree course. *Medical education*, 34, 614-21.

- SIBERT, L., CHARLIN, B., CORCOS, J., GAGNON, R., LECHEVALLIER, J. & GRISE, P. 2002. Assessment of clinical reasoning competence in urology with the script concordance test: an exploratory study across two sites from different countries. *European urology*, 41, 227-233.
- SILVERMAN, D. 1993. Interpreting Qualitative Data Sage Publications. London UK.
- SIROVICH, B. E., LIPNER, R. S., JOHNSTON, M. & HOLMBOE, E. S. 2014. The Association Between Residency Training and Internists' Ability to Practice Conservatively. *Journal* of the American medical association, 174, 1640-1648.
- SLAVIN, R. E. 1994. Outcome-based education is not mastery learning. *Educational leadership*, 51, 14-14.
- SMITH, C. D., WORSFOLD, K., DAVIES, L., FISHER, R. & MCPHAIL, R. 2013. Assessment literacy and student learning: the case for explicitly developing students 'assessment literacy'. Assessment & evaluation in higher education, 38, 44-60.
- SMITH, S. R. 1999. AMEE Guide No. 14: Outcome-based education: Part 2-Planning, implementing and evaluating a competency-based curriculum. *Medical teacher*, 21, 15-22.
- SPADY, W. G. 1977. Competency based education: A bandwagon in search of a definition. *Educational researcher*, 9-14.
- SPADY, W. G. 1988. Organizing for results: the basis of authentic restructuring and reform. *Educational leadership,* 46, 4-8.
- SPADY, W. G. 1994. *Outcome-Based Education: Critical Issues and Answers*, Arlington, Va: American Association of School Administrators.
- SPENCER, J. 2003. Learning and teaching in the clinical environment. *British medical journal*, 326, 591-594.
- STEINERT, Y., MCLEOD, P. J., BOILLAT, M., METERISSIAN, S., ELIZOV, M. & MACDONALD, M. E. 2009. Faculty development: a 'Field of Dreams'? *Medical education*, 43, 42-49.
- SWANSON, D. B., HOLTZMAN, K. Z., CLAUSER, B. E. & SAWHILL, A. J. 2005. Psychometric characteristics and response times for one-best-answer questions in relation to number and source of options. *Academic medicine*, 80, S93-S96.
- SWANWICK, T. 2010. Understanding Medical Education: Evidence, Theory and Practice, Oxford: Wiley-Blackwell.
- TAMBLYN, R., ABRAHAMOWICZ, M., DAUPHINEE, W. D., HANLEY, J. A., NORCINI, J., GIRARD, N., GRAND'MAISON, P. & BRAILOVSKY, C. 2002. Association between licensure examination scores and practice in primary care. *Journal of the American medical* association, 288, 3019-26.
- TANG, C. 1994. Assessment and student learning: Effects of modes of assessment on students' preparation strategies. *In:* GIBBS, G. (ed.) *Improving Student Learning:*

Theory and Practice. Oxford: Oxford Brookes University, The Oxford Centre for Staff Development.

- TAVAKOL, M. & DENNICK, R. 2012. Post-examination interpretation of objective test data: Monitoring and improving the quality of high-stakes examinations: AMEE Guide No. 66. *Medical teacher*, 34, e161-e175.
- TEN CATE, O. 2005. commentaries. Medical education, 39, 1176-1177
- TEN CATE, O. 2013. Competency-based education, entrustable professional activities, and the power of language. *Journal of graduate medical education*, **5**, 6-7.
- THOMPSON, C. & BARTELS, J. E. 1999. Outcomes assessment: Implications for nursing education. *Journal of professional nursing*, 15, 170-178.
- TOMLIN, J., BRODBELT, D. & MAY, S. 2010. Veterinary students' understanding of a career in practice. *Veterinary record*, 166, 781-786.
- TOMLIN, J. L., PEAD, M. J. & MAY, S. A. 2008a. Attitudes of veterinary faculty to the assessment of clinical reasoning using extended matching questions. *Journal of veterinary medical education*, 35, 622-30.
- TOMLIN, J. L., PEAD, M. J. & MAY, S. A. 2008b. Veterinary students' attitudes toward the assessment of clinical reasoning using extended matching questions. *Journal of veterinary medical education*, 35, 612-21.
- TRENT, A. M. 2002. Outcomes assessment planning: an overview with applications in health sciences. *Journal of veterinary medical education*, 29, 9-19.
- VALENTINO, J., DONNELLY, M. B., SLOAN, D. A., SCHWARTZ, R. W. & HAYDON 3RD, R. 1998. The reliability of six faculty members in identifying important OSCE items. *Academic medicine: journal of the association of American medical colleges*, 73, 204-205.
- VAN BERKEL, H. J., NUY, H. J. & GEERLIGS, T. 1994. The influence of progress tests and block tests on study behaviour. *Instructional science*, 22, 317-333.
- VAN DER VLEUTEN, C. P. & SCHUWIRTH, L. W. 2005. Assessing professional competence: from methods to programmes. *Medical education*, 39, 309-317.
- VAN DER VLEUTEN, C., NORMAN, G. & GRAAFF, E. 1991. Pitfalls in the pursuit of objectivity: issues of reliability. *Medical education*, 25, 110-118.
- VAN DER VLEUTEN, C. P. M. 1996. The assessment of professional competence: developments, research and practical implications. *Advances in health sciences education*, 1, 41-67.
- VERHOEVEN, B., VERWIJNEN, G., SCHERPBIER, A., SCHUWIRTH, L. & VAN DER VLEUTEN, C. 1999. Quality assurance in test construction: the approach of a multidisciplinary central test committee. *Educational health*, 12, 49-60.

- VERNON, D. T., & BLAKE, R. L. 1993. Does problem-based learning work? A meta-analysis of evaluative research. *Academic medicine*, *68*, 550-63.
- VYGOTSKY, L. S. 1986. Thought and Language-Revised Edition. Cambridge; M.I.T. Press.
- WALSH, A. 2007. An exploration of Biggs' constructive alignment in the context of workbased learning. Assessment & Evaluation in Higher Education, 32, 79-87.
- WALSH, D., KLOSTERMAN, E. & KASS, P. 2009. Approaches to veterinary education—Tracking versus a final year broad clinical experience. Part two: Instilled values. *Revue scientifique et technique*, 28, 811.
- WALSH, D. A., OSBURN, B. I. & CHRISTOPHER, M. M. 2001. Defining the attributes expected of graduating veterinary medical students. *Journal of the American veterinary medical association*, 219, 1358-1365.
- WALSH, D. A., OSBURN, B. I. & SCHUMACHER, R. L. 2002. Defining the attributes expected of graduating veterinary medical students, part 2: external evaluation and outcomes assessment. *Journal of veterinary education*, 29, 36.
- WARMAN, S. M., LAWS, E. J., CROWTHER, E., & BAILLIE, S. 2014. Initiatives to Improve Feedback Culture in the Final Year of a Veterinary Program. *Journal of veterinary medical education*, 41, 162-171.
- WASS, V., BOWDEN, R. & JACKSON, N. 2007. The principles of assessment design. N Jackson, A Jamieson, A Khan: Assessment in Medical Education and Training: A Practical Guide Radcliffe Publishing Ltd, 11-26.
- WASS, V., VAN DER VLEUTEN, C., SHATZER, J. & JONES, R. 2001. Assessment of clinical competence. *The lancet*, 357, 945-949.
- WASS, V., WAKEFORD, R., NEIGHBOUR, R. & VAN DER VLEUTEN, C. 2003. Achieving acceptable reliability in oral examinations: an analysis of the Royal College of General Practitioners membership examination's oral component. *Medical education*, 37, 126-131.
- WATLING, C., DRIESSEN, E., VLEUTEN, C. P., VANSTONE, M., & LINGARD, L. 2013. Beyond individualism: professional culture and its influence on feedback. *Medical education*, *47*, 585-594.
- WENGER, E. 1998. *Communities of practice: Learning, meaning, and identity*, Cambridge university press.
- WHIPP, C. 2011. Best evidence initiative. Veterinary record, 168, 360.
- WILKINSON, J. R., CROSSLEY, J. G. M., WRAGG, A., MILLS, P., COWAN, G. & WADE, W. 2008. Implementing workplace-based assessment across the medical specialties in the United Kingdom. *Medical education*, 42, 364-373.
- WOOLLISCROFT, J. O., TENHAKEN, J., SMITH, J. & CALHOUN, J. G. 1993. Medical students' clinical self-assessments: comparisons with external measures of performance and

the students' self-assessments of overall performance and effort. *Academic medicine*, 68, 285-94.

YARDLEY, S., TEUNISSEN, P. W. & DORNAN, T. 2012. Experiential learning: AMEE guide No. 63. *Medical teacher*, 34, e102-e115.

Appendices

Appendix 1: Concept note and ethical review

Research Projects Concept Note and Ethical Review

The 'Concept Note' should be completed for all research applications that are being developed. The 'Concept Note' should be submitted to the Research Directorate (chris.holland@nottingham.ac.uk) in the early stages of an applications development and prior to a full review being carried out by a member of the Research Directorate. An Ethical Review will be required for all applications. Please submit the completed form to Chris Holland for circulation to the Research Directorate and the Ethical Review Committee.

SVMS applicant name (indicate whether principal applicant or not): Kate Cobb

Project Title: PhD: Educational Impact of Assessment in a Veterinary Curriculum

Funding (awarding agency and amount sought): SVMS funded

Submission date: PhD start date 4/1/2011

Submission of concept note and ethical review 18/4/2011

Collaborators and Institutions involved: Supervisors: Richard Hammond, SVMS and Debbie Jaarsma, Faculty of Veterinary Medicine, Utrecht University, Jocelyn Habershon-Butcher, SVMS

A) Please provide a one page outline of the project with a statement of why the work is important (novelty and timeliness), hypotheses (if any), objectives, experimental plan and techniques to be used.

Introduction

The area of study for this research proposal is the predictive validity of

assessment tools used within the School of Veterinary Medicine and Science (SVMS) and their educational impact both within the undergraduate course and for members of the profession post graduation.

It is widely accepted that assessment is instrumental in driving student learning. A well performed, valid assessment tool not only informs the educator as to a student's progress, but will motivate the student to deepen their understanding of a subject. In contrast, student perception of assessments can result in a surface approach to learning based on short-term memory and recall of seemingly important facts. This type of assessment can mislead the student as to their progress or on-going learning needs in a professional and clinical context and is therefore a powerful and potentially dangerous tool. Due to the perceived importance of summative assessment, there is significant investment from both the School and the student in the assessment process each year. A greater understanding of how veterinary assessment tools can be utilised to have a positive effect on student learning would be helpful in gaining maximum benefit from the existing resource-intensive process.

Research questions:

- 1. Does the SVMS have an integrated program of assessment which is aligned with curriculum delivery?
- 2. What is the educational impact of assessments within SVMS and exactly how does assessment drive student learning?
- 3. Does assessment at SVMS affect lifelong learning and what impact does previous educational experience have on the future career of veterinary graduates?

Background

Assessment is an important component of any curriculum and traditionally assessment has been viewed by academics and students as a necessity to ensure the quality of a graduate (Pead, 2008). In a modern curriculum assessment should however serve many more purposes including: informing students of their weaknesses and ways in which they can improve; indicating to students the areas of the course which are important; motivating students; measuring the effectiveness of teaching and finally certification and progression (John A Dent, 2009).

Prior attainment has been used to predict the performance of medical students in their degree courses (Yates and James, 2006) and the predictive validity of undergraduate medical assessments to performance in medical practice was recently reported in a BEME systematic review (Hamdy et al., 2006). The recent concept of 'assessment for learning' (AFL) has lead to studies which have explored the positive effects of assessment on student learning and performance (Cilliers et al., 2010, Leung et al., 2008). However, there is a lack of information on the predictive validity or educational impact of assessments in veterinary education.

It is accepted that assessment drives learning but being able to identify how different types of assessment influence student learning would facilitate effective AFL design. The focus of assessment in many veterinary degree courses to date has been for progression and qualification purposes, however, if assessment is such a powerful tool we could use it more effectively to influence and facilitate the learning process. Not only within university but also for lifelong learning which is an essential component of professional practice.

Proposed methods include:

- Statistical correlations between attainment in assessments within the same strand, species areas, subjects and integrated modules
- Interviews and/or focus groups to collect more in depth data on the impact of assessment on an individual's learning and approach to study both pre and post graduation.
- The use of questionnaires both pre and post graduation to ascertain approach to learning, motivations, satisfaction and career choices and the influence of education, including assessment, on these areas.

References

CILLIERS, F. J., SCHUWIRTH, L. W., ADENDORFF, H. J., HERMAN, N. & VAN DER VLEUTEN, C. P. 2010. The mechanism of impact of summative assessment on medical students' learning. *Adv Health Sci Educ Theory Pract*.

HAMDY, H., PRASAD, K. & ANDERSON, M. B. 2006. BEME systematic review: Predictive values of measurements obtained in medical schools and future performance in medical practice. Medical Teacher, 28, 103-116.

- JOHN A DENT, R. M. H. (ed.) 2009. *A Practical Guide for Medical Teachers*: Churchill Livingstone.
- LEUNG, S. F., MOK, E. & WONG, D. 2008. The impact of assessment methods on the learning of nursing students. *Nurse Educ Today*, 28, 711-9.
- PEAD, M. J. 2008. Assessment: Cinderella or Sleeping Beauty? Evolution of Final Examinations at the Royal Veterinary College. *Journal of Veterinary Medical Education*, 35, 607-611.
- YATES, J. & JAMES, D. 2006. Predicting the "strugglers": case-control study of students at Nottingham University Medical School. *British Medical Journal*, 332, 1009-1012A.

B) Ethical information required:

For any clarification, please contact: richard.hammond@nottingham.ac.uk

1) Does this proposed project use animals or materials obtained from them? If yes go to Q2. If not go to Q9 **NO**

2) Is the proposed project to be carried out as part of an existing project licensed under the Animal Scientific Procedures Act? If yes go to Q 3. If not go to Q4

3) Does the proposed project require any modification of the content described in the current project licence that would require a project variation and therefore review by the Site Ethics Committee?

Go to Q7

4) Does the study use samples, or part of samples, obtained from the animals using an invasive procedure? If no go to Q 7. If yes go to Q5

5) This study must fall under the Veterinary Surgeons Act. What is the source of the animals or animal derived material to be used in the proposed study?

Go to Q6

6) Informed owner consent must be obtained prior to obtaining these samples – even for cadaver material or surplus from samples taken as part of the clinical investigation. Has the process for obtaining such consent been discussed with the veterinary practice/animal keeper? Go to Q8

7) Does the proposed project involve modification of the behavior or routine of the animal(s)? If so please describe these modifications and the potential impacts on the animal(s) then go to Q13. If No go to Q 13.

8) Describe in detail the process by which samples are to be obtained – site, amount concurrent medication (e.g. sedation), restraint, clipping of fur etc. Go to Q 7

9) Does the proposed study involve obtaining information by questionnaire or interview?

If yes go to Q10. If no go to Q11 Yes

10) Have you read, understood and agree to abide with the Schools policy on data collection by questionnaire or interview? G:\School of Veterinary Medicine and Science\SVMS Information\Ethics.

If yes please go to Q13 Yes

11) Does the proposed study involve obtaining 'owned' information through a third party – eg searching practice records about clinical cases?

If yes go to Q12 If no go to Q13 No

12) Have you read and understood the relevant sections of the 1998 Data protection act

<u>http://www.opsi.gov.uk/Acts/Acts1998/ukpga 19980029 en 1</u> as they relate to your proposed work, understand the implications of the act and agree that the proposed study does not infringe provisions of the act? Yes or No. **Yes**

13) END – no further information required a this stage.

Signature	of	Resear	rch Di	rectorate	Reviewer:	
Date:						
Signature	of	Ethical	Review	Committee	e Chairman:	
Date:						

316

Appendix 2: Initial attributes identified from the

systematic review of the literature.

Group	Attribute
Practical/clinical	1. Surgical skills
skills	2. Diagnostic imaging skills
	3. Practical skills/Technical proficiency
	4. Clinical skills eg centeses
	5. Perform simple lab tests
	6. Performing core clinical procedures
	7. Anaesthesia skills
	8. Clinical, radiographic and pathologic manifestations of
	disease
	9. Surgical management procedures
	10. Clinical examination skills
	11. Animal handling skills/ responsible treatment of animals
	12. Necropsy skills
Communication	1 Report writing and medical record keeping skills
Communication	2 Oral communication skills
	2. Oral communication skills
	A Presentation and public speaking skills
	 Fresentation and public speaking skins Empathy towards clients
	6 Politoness
	 Fond listening skills
	Communication with colloagues
	 Communication with clients and the public/offective client
	9. Communication with clients and the public/enective client
	10. Eliciting a full nations biston.
	TO. ENCIUNE a TUN PALIENT HISTORY
Teamwork	1. Interpersonal and teamwork skills
	2. Personnel management skills

	3.	Conflict management skills
	4.	Friendliness
	5.	Negotiation skills
	6.	Leadership skills
	7.	Likeable personality
	8.	Respect for other veterinary healthcare professionals
Rusiness and	1	Rusiness management skills
management	1. 2	
management	2.	
	3.	Knowledge of veterinary practice management
	4.	Awareness of public concerns challenging business/industries
	_	future
	5.	Business acumen/ financial management
	6.	Decision making and client communication that contains the
		cost implications of treatment and care
	7.	Evaluation and appropriate utilization of complex and costly
		technology
	8.	Time management skills
Research	1.	Research skills
	2.	Analytical skills
	3.	observational skills
	4.	Search scientific literature
	5.	Evaluation of evidence/ appraise content and methodology
		of scientific literature
	6.	Retrieving, compiling and analyzing data
	7.	Ability to evaluate information/critically examine new
		information
Legislation and the	1.	Knowledge of veterinary legislation/profession
profession	2	Realistic view of the profession
F	2.	
F	3.	Awareness of professional responsibilities to patients, clients,

	4.	Involvement in public policy issues that impact the profession
Clinical knowledge	1	Vatarinany aligical knowledge (vatarinany medicine and
Clinical knowledge	1.	veterinary clinical knowledge/ veterinary medicine and
	-	surgery
	2.	Competencies in animal reproduction and neonatal care
	3.	Manifestation of disease in individuals/populations
	4.	Disease aetiologies
	5.	Correlations of altered pathophysiology with disease/etiology
		and pathophysiology
	6.	Disease transmission and pathogenicity
	7.	Toxicology
	8.	Knowledge of disease
	9.	Risk factors for disease
	10.	Population health and epidemiology
	11.	Testing for animals at risk or in early stages of disease
	12.	Foundation principles of animal wellness and health
		maintenance
	13.	Principles of diagnosis, medical management and treatment
	14.	Medications and pharmaceuticals
	15.	Response to injury, stress and disease
	16.	Alternative therapy
Basic science	1.	Knowledge of underpinning science/ provide a solid base of
knowledge		scientific information
	2.	Normal structure and function of the body/ microscopic and
		macroscopic morphology
	3.	Molecular, biochemical and cellular mechanisms
	4.	Comprehension of disease from the molecular to the
		population level
	5.	Appropriate nutrition and patterns of eating
	6.	Immunization/ immunology
	7.	Reproduction and animal husbandry
	8.	Normal growth patterns

	9. Chemical products
	10. Therapeutic products
	11. Normal behaviour and behavioural responses
Veterinary public	1. Knowledge of VPH/zoonotic issues
health	2. Diagnosis, treatment and prevention of zoonotic diseases
	3. Knowledge of the roles and uses of animals with good
	awareness of the diversity of client perspectives
Working under	1 Ability to cone with processo (stross
	Ability to cope with pressure/stress
pressure	2. Ability to handle difficult situations
	3. Tolerance of conflicting ideas
	4. Dealing with emergency/critical care cases
Limitations and	1. Recognising own limitations and when to seek
seeking advice	advice/identifying strengths
5	2. Consult colleagues and refer cases when indicated
	3. Capacity for self audit
	4. Ability to function independently of supervision
Personal	1. Commitment to CPD and LLL/remain current with emerging
development	knowledge and incorporate new knowledge and methods
	into practice
	2. Self motivation to do the best job possible
	3. Enthusiasm for learning/ positive work attitude
	4. Career options
Personal attributes	1. Confidence
	2. Integrity/honesty
	3. Patience
	4. Decisiveness

	5.	Maturity
	6.	Initiative and self motivation
	7.	Attention to detail
	8.	Neatness in work area
	9.	Cleanliness
Problem solving	1.	Problem solving and critical thinking
	2.	Decision making
	3.	Thinking creatively and independently
Coping with change	1.	Flexibility in adapting to new situations
	2.	Ability to cope with uncertainty
	3.	Being an advocate for change
IT skills	1.	IT literacy
	2.	Numeracy skills
Making a diagnosis	1.	Correctly diagnosing and treating common health problems
	2.	Diagnostic reasoning abilities
	3.	Diagnosis and treatment of disease
	4.	Clinical reasoning – finding and using medical knowledge
	5.	Formulating and ranking a list of differential diagnoses
	6.	Selection and interpretation of ancillary diagnostic tests
C		
Case management	1.	Advise on and administer appropriate treatment/develop
and therapeutics		clinical management and therapeutic strategies
	2.	Monitor patient progress and adjust therapy
	3.	Make a prognosis
Preventative	1.	Promoting/providing health maintenance services
	2.	Fostering wellness and encouraging preventative care
	1	

healthcare	3.	Competency in disease and trauma prevention/ give advice
		on disease prevention
	4.	Promote well being and health maintenance
Euthanasia	1.	Dealing with animal death and euthanasia/ recognition for
		need and implementation of euthanasia
Drofossionalian	1	
Professionalism	1.	Ethical awareness/ veterinary medical ethics/ethical
		judgement
	2.	Professional appearance
	3.	Ability to balance personal and professional responsibilities
	4.	Community involvement/responsibility
Compassion	1.	Placing patient benefits above one's own interests
	2.	Recognition and relief of pain and suffering
	3.	Understanding of the nature of the human animal bond and
		contributions animals can make to human health
	4.	Compassion/for animals

Appendix 3: Letter of consent for participation in the staff focus group

Thank you very much for volunteering to participate in this focus group. The aim of the group is to produce a list of 'learning outcomes' or 'attributes' which you feel are important for Nottingham veterinary graduates to have achieved.

The outcomes generated today will be used to produce an outcomes assessment survey that will be sent to all recent graduates. The purpose of outcomes assessment is to evaluate the current curriculum and how aligned it is with the goal of producing competent new graduate veterinary surgeons. We hope to identify strengths as well as any deficits within the curriculum in order that we can continually improve the educational experience for all students.

This focus group is part of a PhD study; however we aim to incorporate the process into annual course evaluation that is likely to be required for accreditation purposes in the future.

Several studies have been carried out to determine the desired attributes of veterinary graduates and requirements for practice. Delivering a novel curriculum, it is important to determine whether these attributes are similar for Nottingham graduates and are there other outcomes unique to our course that should be included in the evaluation.

The discussion during this focus group will remain confidential and participant's names will not be revealed at any stage during the research. This study has been approved by the SVMS ethical review panel and I guarantee that good ethical conduct will be observed throughout as outlined in the 'Revised Ethical Guidelines for Educational Research (2011)' by the British Educational Research Association (BERA). If you have any questions please don't hesitate to contact me directly at <u>katy.cobb@nottingham.ac.uk</u> or on 0115 9516477.

I would be grateful if you would sign below to show that you agree to participate in the focus group.

Signed:

Print Name:

Please retain one signed copy for your files.

Appendix 4: Outputs from the SVMS staff focus group

a. Evidence from the whiteboard. Due to the size of the board and volume of information, this was photographed in sections to enable the content to be read.

T-inancial ano Business-proch 1 Client rection + WI bile as ability to ce Acknowledging limit Vidence in animal handlin propertic decisions INC un abo scribe + dispense appropriated ratice healthcare (appro nterprotessional comm tive haulthcare (c Managing media naping Buture of profession whic approach to problems, ability to apply the nee of food sakety -Put EBUM into practice. Respectusly dullarge bail most indication of ethics, to curi CarAdence /ability to take control of situation The management skills with Leadership skills but ability to work in wough clin exam on all spp Selective clinical diagnostic skills , decis identify common/impealtant problems/cordition Finnothesice skills (sed" /analanda / Aliat

b. The list of attributes produced as a result of the focus group.

Focus group attributes:

- 1. Financial awareness in case management
- 2. Understanding of financial and business aspects of practice management
- 3. Concise client communication including history taking and giving information at the appropriate level
- 4. Understanding client needs and maintaining respect for all clients
- 5. Acknowledging clients' uncertainties and explaining significant factors and appropriate next steps within a case
- 6. Awareness of current legislation including issues such as transportation and organic farming schemes
- Acknowledging own limitations and gaps in knowledge, being open to constructive criticism and seeking help where needed
- Self-improvement and engagement in CPD so it is not viewed as just a tick box exercise
- 9. Maintaining a safe working environment for self, other staff and clients
- 10. Ability to seek and utilize new knowledge from a variety of sources
- 11.Written communication skills for example clinical records and referral letters using appropriate terminology
- 12.Interprofessional communication and communication with veterinary colleagues
- 13.IT literacy
- 14. Managing and communicating with the media
- 15.Systematic approach to problems ability to apply knowledge
- 16. Putting EBVM into practice and respectfully challenging bad practice
- 17.Confidence and ability to take control of a situation
- 18.Leadership skills with the ability to work in a team
- 19.Selective clinical diagnostic skills and decision making including compiling an appropriate differential diagnosis list
- 20.Basic surgical skills
- 21. Diagnostic imaging skills

- 22.Reproductive management
- 23. Underpinning scientific knowledge and understanding
- 24.Knowledge of animal management and husbandry systems including nutrition
- 25.Herd management and epidemiology
- 26.VPH and notifiable disease
- 27. Showing initiative in the workplace
- 28.Self reflection and maintaining a work life balance
- 29. Robustness and ability to cope with pressure
- 30. Triage and dealing with emergency cases
- 31. Flexibility and able to adapt to the working environment
- 32. Compassion with patients and empathy with clients
- 33. Caring and confronting FTP issues with colleagues
- 34. Confidence in animal handling and understanding animal behaviour
- 35. Making therapeutic decisions
- 36.Prescribe and dispense appropriately and legally including drug dose calculations
- 37. Appropriate promotion of preventative healthcare
- 38.Shaping the future of the profession including issues which are realistic and will make a difference and understanding those issues which are not
- 39.Importance of food safety and knowledge of zoonotic diseases
- 40.Application of ethics to pain management and animal welfare including transportation
- 41. Time management skills within work and personal life
- 42.Perform a thorough clinical exam on all spp

- 43.Identify common and important problems and conditions
- 44.Anaesthesia skills and appropriate administration of sedation, analgesia and fluid therapy

Appendix 5: Letter sent out to all graduates on behalf of Professor Gary England requesting their participation in the graduate survey.

Dear

As part of our ongoing course evaluation and improvement, we would like to know how your experience at Nottingham Vet School has prepared you for your career and invite you to participate in the graduate survey.

Please can I ask you to take the time to provide your opinions on the education you received at Nottingham and return the completed survey in the envelope provided (no stamp required). The survey will take less than 10 minutes to complete; the first two sections ask you to rate how well the course and the assessment system at Nottingham prepared you for your current job. In the final section you are asked to provide some general information about your current role.

Alternatively you can complete the survey online at the following address:

http://www.surveymonkey.com/s/TQLSCGC

Please complete all sections of the survey where possible. The data collected will be anonymised and used for course evaluation and educational research. This study has been approved by the School of Veterinary Medicine and Science's ethics committee. Participation is entirely voluntary and by completing the survey you are consenting to take part.

If you would like any further information on the graduate survey please contact Kate Cobb on 0115 9516477 or email at <u>Katy.Cobb@nottingham.ac.uk</u> or Liz Mossop at <u>Liz.Mossop@nottingham.ac.uk</u>

By completing the graduate survey you are contributing to the continual improvement of the veterinary course at Nottingham, and therefore your opinions are valuable to us.

Yours sincerely,

Gary England

Appendix 6: The Graduate Survey

Graduate Survey

Section 1: The veterinary course at Nottingham

Please try to consider the education you received whilst at Nottingham Vet School when answering the questions rather than any support or CPD you have received post graduation. Please use the free text boxes to enter any additional comments within each area. Thinking about the demands of your current role, use the following options to tell us how prepared you feel for your job in each area:

Excellent preparation: I am able to carry out all requirements of my current job

Good preparation: I have needed minimal support or training since graduation

Adequate preparation: I felt somewhat prepared although have needed to utilise support and training since graduation

Poor preparation: insufficient coverage of this area in the course to be adequately prepared, significant support and training post-graduation have been necessary

Not at all prepared: the course did not prepare me at all to carry out the requirements of my current job in this area, further support and training have been essential

1. Knowledge of underpinning basic science at a level appropriate for your current role. (Including normal structure and function of healthy animals; molecular, biochemical and cellular mechanisms; mechanisms of defence; animal management, nutrition and husbandry systems)



Adequate

Poor

Not at all

Comments

Excellent



2. Veterinary Clin (Including dise knowledge of t	iical Knowledge a ase aetiology and medical and surgi	t a level appropriate I pathophysiology; m ical management)	for your current echanisms of dise	role. ease transmission;
\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
Excellent	Good	Adequate	Poor	Not at all
Comments 3. Clinical and sur (Including diagnost	rgical skills tic imaging skills;	basic surgical skills; a	naesthesia skills	and fluid therapy)
\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
Excellent	Good	Adequate	Poor	Not at all
4. Clinical examir (Within all species behaviour)	nation skills and including an	imal handling and an	understanding o	fanimal
\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
Excellent	Good	Adequate	Poor	Not at all
Comments				

5. Diagnostic reas (Including compilir identification of co	soning abilities ng an appropriate mmon and impo	differential diagnosis rtant conditions)	s list; decision ma	aking and
\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
Excellent	Good	Adequate	Poor	Not at all
Comments 6. Clinical case m (Including making f	anagement and t therapeutic decis	herapeutic strategies ions; prescribing and	dispensing appro	opriately and
legally; performing	drug dose calcul	ations and reproduct	ive management)
\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
Excellent	Good	Adequate	Poor	Not at all
7. Dealing with en (Including initial as	mergency and cri ssessment and tri	tical care cases age of emergency cas	es)	
\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
Excellent	Good	Adequate	Poor	Not at all
Comments				

8. Promoting	g preventative healt	hcare		
\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
Excellent	Good	Adequate	Poor	Not at all
Comments				
9. Popula	ation health and epi	demiology		
\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
Excellent	Good	Adequate	Poor	Not at all
Comments				
				×
10. Dealin (Including	g with veterinary pu notifiable diseases a	ublic health and zoono and an understanding o	tic issues of the importance	of food safety)
\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
Excellent	Good	Adequate	Poor	Not at all
Comments				
				×

11. Recognition for	r need and imple	mentation of euthana	asia	
\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
Excellent	Good	Adequate	Poor	Not at all
Commonts				
12. Veterinary prac (Including financia	ctice and financia I awareness in ca	l management se management)		
\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
Excellent	Good	Adequate	Poor	Not at all
Comments				
13. Recognising ow (Including reflectiv	vn limitations and re practice and be	d seeking help and ad ing open to construc	vice where need tive criticism)	ed
\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
Excellent	Good	Adequate	Poor	Not at all
Comments				

14. Ability to seek,	critically evaluat	e and utilise new info	ormation from a v	variety of sources
\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
Excellent	Good	Adequate	Poor	Not at all
Comments				
				<u>~</u>
				V
15. Knowledge of c	urrent veterinar	vlegislation		_
\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
Excellent	Good	Adequate	Poor	Not at all
Comments				
				<u>_</u>
				Y
16. Compassion for	animals and the	application of ethics	to animal welfar	
				-
\square	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
Excellent	Good	Adequate	Poor	Not at all
Comments				
				A
				V

17. Awareness of professional responsibilities to patients, clients, colleagues, society (Including understanding the needs and maintaining respect for all clients; engagement in CPD and life long learning; putting EBVM into practice and respectfully challenging bad practice; maintaining a safe working environment; showing a caring attitude towards colleagues and shaping the future of the profession)

\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
Excellent	Good	Adequate	Poor	Not at all
Comments				
17. Communicatio (Including emp example clinica and paraprofes	n skills pathy and commu al records and ref ssionals)	inication with clients; Ferral letters; commu	; written commur nication with vet	nication skills for erinary colleagues
\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
Excellent	Good	Adequate	Poor	Not at all
Comments				

19. Interpersonal a	nd teamwork ski	lls		
(Including Leadersh and confidence to t	ip skills; showing ake control of a	g initiative in the wor situation)	kplace; time man	nagement skills
\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
Excellent	Good	Adequate	Poor	Not at all
Comments				
20. 'Robustness' – t	the ability to mai	nage pressure and str	ess	
\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
Excellent	Good	Adequate	Poor	Not at all
Comments				
21. Flexibility and a	bility to cope wi	th change		
\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
Excellent	Good	Adequate	Poor	Not at all
Comments				

22. Self-reflection	and maintaining a	a work life balance		
\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
Excellent	Good	Adequate	Poor	Not at all
Comments				
23. Systematic app	roach to problem	n solving and critical t	hinking	
\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
Excellent	Good	Adequate	Poor	Not at all
Comments				
				×
24. IT skills require	d for your curren	t role		
\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
Excellent	Good	Adequate	Poor	Not at all
Comments				
				×

25. Research skills				
\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
Excellent	Good	Adequate	Poor	Not at all
Comments				
26. Overall compe	tence to do the jo	bb for which you were	e hired	
\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
Excellent	Good	Adequate	Poor	Not at all
Comments				

Graduate Survey

Section 2: How you were assessed

Please tell us your views on the methods of assessment at Nottingham. Consider the way in which you prepared, the experience of sitting the assessment and the feedback you received for each of the following assessments and rate how useful it was in preparation for your career by selecting one of the following options:

Excellent preparation: very relevant to my current role

Good preparation: relevant to my current role

Adequate preparation: somewhat relevant to my current role

Poor preparation: little relevance to my current role

Not at all prepared: not relevant to my current role

1. Online multiple choice questions (Including extended matching, assertion-reason and diagrammatic questions)				
Excellent	Good	Adequate	Poor	Not at all
Comments				
				×
2. DOPS (Directly observed p	procedural skills	performed on clinical	rotations)	
\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
Excellent	Good	Adequate	Poor	Not at all
Comments 3. SCT				×
(Script concordance	e test, completed	d online at the end of	final year)	
\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
Excellent	Good	Adequate	Poor	Not at all
Comments				×

4. OSCEs/OSPEs (Objective structur	red clinical/practi	cal examinations sat i	in 1 st , 2 nd and 3 rd	year)
\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
Excellent	Good	Adequate	Poor	Not at all
Comments				
				×
6. Clinical reason (Written case base	ing exam ed exam sat in 4 th	year)		
\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
Excellent	Good	Adequate	Poor	Not at all
Comments				
				×
6. Portfolio inclue	ding final year po	rtfolio viva		
\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
Excellent	Good	Adequate	Poor	Not at all
Comments				

7. Spot tests (Rotating around s	everal stations us	sually within the disso	ection room)	
\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
Excellent	Good	Adequate	Poor	Not at all
Comments				
				Y
8. Animal Health	and Welfare pres	sentation		
\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
Excellent	Good	Adequate	Poor	Not at all
Comments				
				×
9. PPS coursewor (Coursework for th	rk ne personal and p	rofessional skills mod	lule in years 1, 2,	3 and 4)
\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
Excellent	Good	Adequate	Poor	Not at all
Comments				

10 3 rd year resear	ch project			
10. 5 year resear	ch project			
\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
Excellent	Good	Adequate	Poor	Not at all
Comments				
				<u>^</u>
				~
Please use the spa	ce below to add a	iny additional comme	ents on the way i	n which your
knowledge and ski	lls were assessed	at Nottingham		
				
				×

Graduate Survey	
Section 3: General Information	
1. Has your experience of work since graduation matched up to your expectations?	
Yes	
Νο	
If not please explain why:	
	~

2. Did ti	ne contents of the program affect your eventual choice of work?
\bigcirc	Yes
\bigcirc	No
3. If you Notting	could repeat your time at university would you still study veterinary science at ham?
\bigcirc	Yes
\bigcirc	Νο
4. In wh	ich type of practice are you currently employed?
\bigcirc	Small
\bigcirc	Farm
\bigcirc	Equine
\bigcirc	Exotic
\bigcirc	Mixed: please state % work with each species in the space below
\bigcirc	Other, if you are not currently in clinical practice please describe your employment in the space below

\bigcirc	Not currently employed	
Please : your ro	state the proportion of time spent with each species if in mixed practice or describ le if you are not currently employed in practice:	be
		~
5. Pleas	se state the length of time you have been employed in your current job:	
		<u> </u>
6. Pleas provide	se state your name, this will not be used with any of the information you have ed in this survey. Your responses will be kept anonymously.	~
		~

Thank you for completing the Nottingham Graduate Survey.

Appendix 7: The shortened SPQ

The study process questionnaire has been widely used to assess students' approaches to learning. There are no correct responses, it depends what suits your own style and university course.

The questionnaire has a number of statements about your attitudes towards your studies and your usual way of studying during rotations and in preparation for finals examinations.

If you think that an answer would depend on the subject being studied, give the answer based on the discipline/species area most important to you.

Please select the most appropriate letter for each statement. Each letter represents the following responses:

- A: this item is **never or only rarely** true of me
- B: this item is **sometimes** true of me
- C: this item is true of me **about half of the time**
- D: this item is *frequently* true of me
- E: this item is **always or almost always** true of me

Please chose the **one** most appropriate response to each statement firstly when considering studying during rotations and secondly when preparing for the finals examination.

Select the response that best fits your immediate reaction; do not spend a long time on each item.

All responses are confidential, so please answer honestly.

1) While I am studying, I often think of clinical situations to which the material that I am learning would be useful.

Exam preparation

2) I chose to study veterinary medicine largely with a view to the job situation when I graduate rather than the intrinsic interest to me.

A B C D E During rotations

Exam preparation

3) I find that at times studying gives me a feeling of deep personal satisfaction.

A B C D E During rotations

Exam preparation

4) I want top grades in most or all of my modules so that I will be able to select from among the best positions available when I graduate.

A B C D E During rotations

Exam preparation

5) I think reading around is a waste of time, so I only study seriously what's covered in rotations or in module learning objectives.

A B C D E During rotations

Exam preparation

6) I try to work consistently throughout the term and review regularly when assessments are close.

A B C D E During rotations

Exam preparation

7) I would see myself basically as an ambitious person and want to get to the top, whatever I do.

A B C D E

Exam preparation

8) I find that I have to do enough work on a topic so that I form my own point of view before I am satisfied.

A B C D E

Exam preparation

9) I summarise suggested readings and include these as part of my notes on a topic.

A B C D E During rotations

Exam preparation

10) I find that virtually any topic can be interesting and exciting once I get into it.

A B C D E During rotations

Exam preparation

11) I usually become increasingly absorbed in my work the more I do.

A B C D E During rotations

Exam preparation

12) I learn some things by rote going over and over them until I know them by heart even if I do not understand them.

	А	В	С	D	Е
During rotations					

Exam preparation

13) I almost resent having to do further years studying after leaving school, but feel that the end results make it all worthwhile.

	А	В	С	D	Е
During rotations					

Exam preparation

14) I see getting high marks as a kind of competitive game, and I play it to win.

A B C D E During rotations

Exam preparation

15) I find it best to accept the statements and ideas of lecturers and clinicians and question them only under special circumstances.

A B C D E During rotations Exam preparation

16) Whether I lik	ke it or not	, I can see	e that furt	her educat	ion is for
me a good way to	o get a wel	l-paid or s	ecure job.		
	А	В	С	D	E
During rotations					
Exam preparation					
17) I try to rela	nte new m	aterial, as	: I am rea	ading it, t	o what I
alleauy kilow oli		П	C	D	-
During rotations	A	Б	C	D	E
Exam preparation					
18) I keep neat,	well organi	ised notes	for most s	subjects.	
	А	В	С	D	Е
During rotations					
Exam preparation					
Please add any addit rotations:	ional comment	s you wish to i	include regarc	ling studying d	uring

Please add any additional comments you wish to include regarding preparation for end of year exams:

Appendix 8: Questions used for as a framework for

discussion of DOPS and MCQs in student interviews

General perception

- 1) How do you feel about assessment generally at SVMS?
- 2) How have your feelings towards assessment changed over the 5 years within SVMS?
- 3) What do you think the main purpose of assessment is?
- 4) Do you think the purpose changes from years 1-5?
- 5) Do you perceive the assessment system to be fair at the SVMS?

Learning

- 1) How has assessment influenced the way you approach study during final year?
- 2) How has your approach differed for the MCQs in finals compared to DOPS on rotations?
- 3) Do you see assessment as a positive element of the course in facilitating learning?
- 4) How do you perceive formative assessment?
- 5) What are your thoughts on the feedback you have received at SVMS?

Assessment formats

- 1) What are your thoughts on
 - a. Practical skills assessment at SVMS?
 - b. Assessment of knowledge?
 - c. Clinical reasoning skills?
 - d. Professionalism
- 2) Which of these formats do you think will be beneficial to your future career?

Future career

- 1) What do you understand by the term LLL and how important is it to you?
- 2) How will you continue to learn in practice?
- 3) How will this approach differ to your learning within SVMS?
- 4) How motivated do you feel at the moment to continue to learn within your career?

Do you have any further questions?

Appendix 9: Email sent to final year students requesting participants for the SCT study

To all final year students,

As part of a study looking at the script concordance test (SCT) I am looking for volunteers to trial some questions and then talk about the SCT question format.

Participants will have access to 3 formative SCT papers during the year, which will be completed online and should take about 30minutes each. Volunteers will be expected to attend a focus group where you will be asked to share your opinions on the format.

By volunteering to participate in this study you will receive additional formative SCT practise questions. You will receive a mark for each paper and also be able to see the comments from the practitioners on the reference panel. This information is for your own feedback; your mark will remain confidential and will not affect either your rotational assessment or your end of year assessment.

Focus groups will be arranged for a convenient time and location, depending on your rotation timetable.

Should you wish to volunteer to participate in this study, please reply to this email by **Friday 15**th June.

Many Thanks,

Kate

Appendix 10: Email to participants of the SCT study

Thank you very much for agreeing to take part in the Script Concordance Test Study. You should now be able to access the 1st of 3 SCT papers by clinking on the link at the end of this email. The paper will be available to access for 2 weeks until 25th July.

Please note that these are purely formative assessments and will have no impact on your final year exams or on your rotation assessments. Your score for each assessment will remain confidential.

There are 20 questions in the test, you should read through the attached information and example SCT question before you begin.

When you have completed the test click 'finish' and this will take you to your feedback screen. For each question you will see the most popular answer in **bold**, comments from the panel on each selected option are provided as feedback in *red italics*. You will be given your score for each question, a half mark tells you that you have selected a correct answer but not the most popular answer from the panel. At the end of the screen your total score is provided.

As part of the study you are requested to attend a focus group where you will be asked to share your opinions on the format. Please could you confirm your attendance by reply to this email and selecting a convenient focus group time from the following options:

Wednesday 25th July, 7pm

Monday 30th July, 7pm

Monday 6th August 6pm

All focus groups will be held at the SVMS and refreshments will be provided. If you are unable to attend one of the above dates please contact me to make alternative arrangements.

If you have any problems accessing the assessment from the following link please contact Kay Millward:

https://rogo/user_index.php?id=5327134157775812653

Many thanks,

Kate

Appendix 11: Instructions provided to participants in

the SCT study prior to completion of the assessments.

The Script Concordance Test (SCT) has been used to assess clinical reasoning skills in real-life situations that are often ambiguous. For this reason there is no single correct answer, unlike the online exam questions you have previously been assessed on. Your score for the SCT will depend on the degree to which you agree with the opinions of a panel of practising veterinary surgeons.

The SCT questions are based around 3 areas of clinical decision-making:

- Making a diagnosis
- Selecting an appropriate diagnostic test
- Selecting a treatment or appropriate intervention

You will be asked to consider a case description, followed by some further information. You will then be asked to judge how that new information affects the diagnosis, an investigation or treatment for that case.

Each question should be considered as a separate item. Several questions may be based on the same case but the questions are not related, only consider the information provided for that question.

The following example shows how you should approach SCT questions (Adapted from the SCT examples from the 2006 ViEW workshop, Genoa)



2. You are given a treatment or intervention to think about	3. Consider the new information provided	4. In light of the new information, decide whether the treatment is contraindicated or		
Suppose you are	And further clinical	Then this intervention becomes:		
considering the	examination reveals: there	Contraindicated		
following	are hooks on several	Less indicated		
intervention: analgesic	molars/cheek teeth	Neither more or less indicated		
treatment and referral		Indicated		
		Strongly indicated		

Appendix 12: Letter to students requesting their consent to participate in the SCT focus group discussions

Dear

Thank you very much for volunteering to participate in a focus group/interview which is part of a study aiming to investigate the educational impact of assessment on the students' experience at the SVMS. The focus for the discussion will be the script concordance test.

The focus groups/interviews are strictly confidential, will be used for educational research only and participant's names will not be revealed at any stage.

This study has been approved by the SVMS ethical review panel and I guarantee that good ethical conduct will be observed throughout as outlined in the 'Revised Ethical Guidelines for Educational Research (2011)' by the British Educational Research Association (BERA).

You have the right to withdraw at any time. If you have any questions please don't hesitate to contact me directly at <u>katy.cobb@nottingham.ac.uk</u> or on 0115 9516477.

I would be grateful if you would sign below to show that you have read these conditions and agree to participate in the study.

Please retain one signed copy for your files.

Yours sincerely,

Kate Cobb

I, project.	 agree	to	take	part	in	this	educational	research
Signature:	 							
Date:								

Appendix 13: Questions for the SCT focus group discussion

First impressions:

- 1. What are your initial thoughts on the SCT?
- 2. How did you feel about the content of the test?

Cognitive approach to SCT:

- 3. Do you think the SCT assesses anything different to the regular MCQs?
- 4. When answering SCT does it make you think any different from the regular MCQs?
 - a. Do you draw on different knowledge/experience to answer SCT compared to

regular MCQ questions?

Study techniques:

- 5. Did you complete this on your own or collaboratively? Why?
- 6. Did you use any resources? Why? Which?
- 7. Did you discuss the test afterwards
- 8. Did you read up on any topics afterwards
- 9. How would you prepare for a summative SCT
- 10. Would it alter the way you approach/think about CEMS or IMR?

Purpose:

- 11. Do you think it helps develop clinical reasoning skills?
- 12. How do you think it would be most helpful to your learning/development as a practitioner?
- 13. What were your thoughts about the feedback screen?

Appendix 14: Email requesting responses to the SCT survey

Many thanks for your participation so far in the SCT study. You should now be able to access the 3rd and final SCT paper by clicking on the link at the end of this email. The paper will be available to access until 10th June 2013.

Please remember that this is purely formative assessment and will have no impact on your final year exams or on your rotation assessments. Your score for each SCT assessment will remain confidential. There are 24 questions in this test, all questions related to a case are on the same screen. I have attached the SCT information and example question should you wish to remind yourself of the format.

When you have completed the test click 'finish' and this will take you to your feedback screen. For each question you will see the most popular answer in **bold**, comments from the panel on each selected option are provided as feedback in *red italics*. You will be given your score for each question, a half mark tells you that you have selected a correct answer but not the most popular answer from the panel. At the end of the screen your total score is provided.

As part of the study you are requested to provide feedback and share your opinions on the format. I understand that it is difficult for many of you to attend a focus group and so would ask that you complete the survey at the link below:

http://www.surveymonkey.com/s/TQ6SJN2

Please use the free text boxes for any additional comments you may have on the format, your opinions are very valuable to us and all responses will remain anonymous. The survey should take less than 10 minutes to complete and I would appreciate it if all participants could complete it, including people who have previously attended a focus group.

If you have any problems accessing the assessment from the following link please contact Kay Millward:

https://rogo/user_index.php?id=6777136299654112653

Many thanks,

Kate

Appendix 15: The SCT student questionnaire

Script Concordance Test Survey

1: The SCT format

Thank you for taking the time to complete this survey, your responses will be anonymised and treated confidentially. Please complete all 15 questions and use the free text boxes for any additional comments.

Your opinions are important and valuable to us.

1. Please select which of the following you have completed or participated in, tick all which apply to you:

\frown	
\bigcirc	SCT study papers



SCT study focus groups

Year 5 formative SCT

Please add any comments regarding participation in this study:

2. Please rate on a scale of 1 - 6 how easy the SCT format was to complete, where 1 is very simple to understand and 6 is confusing

Very easy to understand	Easy to understand	Somewhat easy to understand	Somewhat difficult to understand	Difficult to understand	Confusing
\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
3. How useful do you find the following sources of information when answering the SCT?

	Not at all useful	Of little use	Somewhat useful	Very useful
Lecture notes	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
Textbooks	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
Internet search	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
Clinical experience	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc

Please add any further comments on how you have approached the SCT questions and any resources you have used:

4. When answering exam questions, you may rely on facts that you have learnt, alternatively you may need to think and apply your knowledge to answer a question.

For each of the following formats indicate, on a scale of 1 - 6, which method you rely on, where 1 = pure factual recall and 6 = maximum use and application of knowledge, including interpretation of information and synthesizing new ideas.

	Only recall of information	Majority recall	More recall than use of knowledge	More use of knowledge than recall	Majority use of knowledge	Maximum use of knowledge
MCQs	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
Clinical reasoning cases (sat in 4 th vear)	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
DOPS	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
SCT	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc

Please add any other comments about how you answer the different formats:

▼

5. On a scale of $1 - 6$, where $1 =$ very unfair and $6 =$ a very fair test of you clinical ability, how would you rate the following exam formats?						
	Very unfair	Unfair	Somewhat unfair	Somewhat fair	Fair	Very fair
MCQs	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
Clinical reasoning cases (sat in 4 th year)	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
DOPS	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
SCT	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
Please use t	his space to ex	plain your ar	nswers:			
						Y
6. Will you p	orepare differe	ently for the	SCT paper con	npared to the N	ICQ in the fi	nals exam?
Please expla	in vour answe	r:				
						×



Please use this space to explain your answer:

9. To what extent do exam questions encourage you to read around a case or topic? For each of the following question types state the how often you read around the subject, on a scale of 1 - 6, where 1 = never and 6 = always read up on the case or topic in the question.

	Never	Occasionally	Sometimes	Often	Most of the time	Always read around the subject
MCQs	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
Clinical reasoning cases (sat in 4 th year)	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
DOPS	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
SCT	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc
Please use this	s space to e	explain your ans	swer:			

•

2: Clinical Reasoning

Clinical reasoning can be defined as the process by which practitioners make decisions around patient evaluation and management in a specific clinical context.

To what extent do you agree with the following statements about the SCT and clinical reasoning?

10. The SCT format helps me to DEVELOP my clinical reasoning skills

Strongly disagree	Disagree	Slightly disagree	Slightly agree	Agree	Strongly agree			
\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc			
11. The SCT fo	11. The SCT format is a good way to TEST my clinical reasoning skills							
Strongly disagree	Disagree	Slightly disagree	Slightly agree	Agree	Strongly agree			
\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc			
12. Thinking a agree with the	bout the feedba e following state	ack screen at the ement:	end of each SC	T paper, to wh	at extent do you			
The explanation reasoning skil	ons from the ve ls.	ts on the feedba	ck screen help t	to develop my	clinical			
Strongly disagree	Disagree	Slightly disagree	Slightly agree	Agree	Strongly agree			
\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc	\bigcirc			
Please add any	y additional com	nments about the	feedback recei	ived on the SCT	papers:			
					*			

Thank you for completing the SCT survey

Appendix 16: The transition to practice: employer

<u>survey</u>

Employer Survey

The transition from vet student to veterinary surgeon

Thankyou for taking the time to complete this questionnaire. The aim of the study is to identify factors which employers consider to be important in making the transition from vet student to veterinary surgeon and what attributes employers look for when recruiting new graduate vets.

1. Do you currently employ or have you in the past employed a new graduate veterinary surgeon? For the purposes of this survey, please consider anyone in their first year of practice as a new graduate veterinary surgeon.



Yes, currently employ a new graduate

Yes, have previously employed a new graduate

No, have never employed a new graduate

2. What factors do you consider to be important for new graduates to make a successful transition from student to practising veterinary surgeon?

3. Do you think that a UK veterinary degree is adequate preparation for a career in veterinary practice?

Yes

\bigcirc	No
Please explain y lacking from UK	your answer, in particular please identify any areas which you feel are C veterinary degree courses:
4. Does your p veterinary surg	ractice have a programme of support in place for new graduate geons?
\bigcirc	Yes
\bigcirc	No
Please give det	ails of any support structures provided:
Recruiting	a new graduate veterinary surgeon

5. Wł	hat do yo	ou look for when recruiting a new graduate veterinary surgeon?
	,	
		—
6. Ar	e any of	the following academic criteria important to you in recruiting a
new	graduate	e veterinary surgeon? Please tick all that are important to you:
	\bigcirc	Degree classification awarded
	\bigcirc	
	\bigcirc	Being within the top 10% of their year
	\sim	The university of which they studied
	\bigcirc	The university at which they studied
Pleas	se use thi	s space to explain your answer:
7. Wł	hich of th	ne following influence your decision to employ a new graduate
veter	rinary su	rgeon? Please tick all that are important to you:
	\bigcirc	The applicants CV
	\bigcirc	
	\bigcirc	The references provided
	\bigcirc	rite references provided
	\bigcirc	Previous clinical experience

\bigcirc	Hobbies and non-veterinary related work experience
Please us	se this space to explain your answer:
	v
8. Do you graduate	a assess any of the following attributes when interviewing a new veterinary surgeon? Please tick all that apply:
\bigcirc	Veterinary knowledge
\bigcirc	Clinical competence
\bigcirc	Interpersonal skills
Please us	se this space below to explain any assessments you use in your interviews:
Your p	ractice
9. What t	ype of practice do you work in? Tick all which apply:
\bigcirc	Small animal
\bigcirc	Equine
\bigcirc	Farm animal
\bigcirc	Exotics

\bigcirc	Mixed
If you work in I	mixed practice please state the % work with each species:
10. Which of t	the following best describes the caseload within your practice?
\bigcirc	First opinion only
\bigcirc	First opinion and referral cases
\bigcirc	Referral cases only
11. Do you or qualification?	any of the vets working at your practice hold a postgraduate
\bigcirc	Yes
\bigcirc	No
lf yes, please g	give details of the qualification(s)

Thank you for completing the employer survey

Appendix 17: Email to employers

Dear Employer,

As part of my PhD I am looking for employers of new graduates to complete a short questionnaire on the transition from vet student to clinical practice. Making the transition from student to practitioner can be a challenging time for many new graduates and at Nottingham we are currently looking at ways in which we can facilitate this transition. We have surveyed final year students and new graduates to gain a more in depth understanding of their perceptions of the requirements for practice. We are now looking for the opinions of employers of new graduates to understand in more detail what employers look for and to what extent this is aligned with students' perceptions.

We are looking for participants who currently employ or have previously employed a new graduate veterinary surgeon to complete a questionnaire, which can be completed online at the following link:

https://www.surveymonkey.com/s/96KRY6T

Alternatively, a hard copy is attached to this email which can be printed and returned to the following address:

Kate Cobb, School of Veterinary Medicine and Science The University of Nottingham, Sutton Bonington Campus, Loughborough Le12 5RD The questionnaire consists of 11 questions and should take no longer than 10 minutes to complete. All data collected will remain anonymous and used for educational research purposes. This study has been approved by the School of Veterinary Medicine and Science's ethics committee. Participation is entirely voluntary and by completing the survey you are consenting to take part.

Please don't hesitate to contact me by email or on 0115 9516477 should you require any further information on this study.